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Thursday, June 5, 2008

--- On commencing at 9:31 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


The Board is sitting today in connection with an application which was filed with the Board on October 22nd, 2007 by Horizon Utilities Corporation under section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act seeking approval of changes to the rates it charges for electricity distribution effective May 1st, 2008.


On March 25th, 2008, the School Energy Coalition filed a letter with the Board seeking a limited oral hearing with respect to three aspects of Horizon's application.  Those were the OM&A budget, the capital expenditures budget and the rate of interest on long-term debt.


This request was supported by the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition, the Consumers Council of Canada in submissions that those parties filed on April 2nd, 2008.


On April 16th, the Board issued an order establishing an oral hearing for today to deal with three specific areas:  OM&A, that is issues 3.1 to 3.7; capital expenditures, that is issues 4.1 to 4.6; and the cost of capital, issue 2.2.


The Board stated that all other issues will be addressed through written submissions.


At the same time and the same order, the Board ruled that Horizon's current scheduled rates and charges will be declared interim as of May 1st, 2008.  However the Board stated it would be premature to determine the question of whether Horizon can recover its entire 2008 Board-approved revenue requirements, including carrying costs, and that this matter would be determined when the Board make its final decision in this application.


May we have the appearances, please?

Appearances:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning, sir.  James Sidlofsky, counsel to Horizon Utilities.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I represent the School Energy Coalition.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for Consumers Council of Canada.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro.


MS. COCHRANE:  Ljuba Cochrane for Board counsel.


MR. KAISER:  I'm sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I wonder if I could raise a preliminary matter.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.

Preliminary matters:


MR. SHEPHERD:  I will be brief.  I understand that my friend has some opening submissions and examination-in-chief.  In light of the limited time we have today, I wonder if we could find out how long that's going to be and have some controls over it.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Sidlofsky.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, my opening comments should run about ten minutes, and I am expecting ten to 15 minutes for each of the panels in-chief.


Now, my friend, Mr. Shepherd, has mentioned to me that he plans -- he has a single cross-examination.  My plan for the panels had been to present them separately, even though the first two panels on operation and maintenance and capital expenditures are identical.


It had been our thought that for organizational purposes, it would make the most sense to have those panels presented separately.

Mr. Shepherd has one cross-examination that he would like to effectively take both panels through, one cross-examination that covers O&M and capital.


I am happy to do those brief examinations-in-chief one after the other, so that way this single panel can deal with all of those matters.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Let's proceed on that basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I'm sorry.  Can I express my concern here?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  My friend wants an hour out of a one-day hearing that we thought --


MR. KAISER:  I didn't hear an hour.  Did I miss something?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, sir, when you --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Fifteen minutes times three plus ten is what he said.


MR. KAISER:  Your opening remarks are what, ten minutes?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Ten minutes.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  And then you're going to put your witnesses through a direct?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Briefly, for 10 to 15 per panel.  I don't think that is unreasonable.


MR. KAISER:  I don't think that is unreasonable, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, Mr. Chairman, he --


MR. KAISER:  He is entitled to put in some direct examination, surely.  You're not quarrelling about his ten-minute opening?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am quarrelling about both, Mr. Chairman.  This is the party that said, We don't need an oral hearing; everything is already on the record.  And he wants to take an hour of the time that we had for cross-examination that we won't get back.


MR. KAISER:  Well, he is entitled to put in his direct case.  He is talking about 15 minutes, as I understand it, per panel.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's right, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Well, let's proceed.  We will see how we make out.  Keep it as brief as you can.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I will, sir, and I will cut down --


MR. KAISER:  I take it you are agreed that -- you want to cross-examine them all at the same time, I take it?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just the first two panels, Mr. Chairman.  The third panel is different witnesses.


MR. KAISER:  So you will combine the direct with respect to panels 1 and 2?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I will, and we can deal with those as a group in cross-examination.


MR. KAISER:  There might be some economies there.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's right.  One other procedural matter just before I start.  The Board's deadline for reply submissions at this point is Monday, July 7th.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Our client has expressed a bit of concern with the timing of that, simply because of the July 1st holiday the week before.

What we are proposing --


MR. KAISER:  How much time do you want?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We're proposing -- I mean, part of this will depend on the volume of submissions that we get in, so we may have to come back to you on that.  But at this point, we're simply proposing Wednesday, the 9th.


MR. KAISER:  Two days?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Two days.


MR. KAISER:  That's fine.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Let's proceed.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, sir.  Just a few opening comments.

Opening Statement by Mr. Sidlofsky:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Horizon Utilities filed its application for 2008 distribution rates with the Board on October 22nd, 2007.  1,500 pages of comprehensive detailed and thorough prefiled evidence were filed in January of this year, with another 1,500 pages of responses to Board Staff, Consumers Council, Energy Probe, Schools and VECC interrogatories.


Although the Board had determined that this application would be dealt with by way of a written hearing, the Board scheduled a settlement conference which lasted three days, but which, despite the best efforts the parties, did not result in settlement.

In its most recent procedural order, the Board allowed the intervenors a one-day oral hearing in which to cross-examine Horizon representatives.


Procedural Order No. 4 included the Board-approved issues list, and that list identifies the areas to which the oral hearing will be limited, operations and maintenance, capital expenditures, budget and cost of capital.


To assist the Board and the parties, Horizon is presenting three witness panels today, one for each of these areas, and, as we have now determined, we'll be combining those first two panels on O&M and capital.


The third panel is a subset of the larger group to deal with the debt rate issue.


The identities of the panel members have been provided to the Board and intervenors.  Although the membership of the parties -- of the panels are identical, Horizon would like to keep these issues separate to ensure that the hearing can remain as organized as possible.  So we will at least be keeping the debt rate issue separate today.


These witnesses have all been directly involved in the preparation of the application, and, for all but two, this hearing is their first introduction to the Board's process from the perspective of the members of the witness panel.


In this application, Horizon seeks approval of distribution rates that will enable it to recover a base revenue requirement of $94,859,978 for the 2008 rate year.






This is based on a service revenue requirement of $101,580,859, less revenue offsets of $6,524,481, and low voltage charges of 196,399.


Throughout its application, Horizon has been mindful of minimizing the impact of its proposed 2008 rate adjustments on customer bills consistent with the Board's focus on total bill impacts.

To put the Horizon application into that context, the application as filed contemplates total bill impact for the average 1,000 kilowatt-hour residential customer of a 0.6 percent decrease.


The general service under 50 kilowatt class average total bill increase will be 2.48 percent.  The general service over 50 kilowatt class average total bill increase will be 2.41 percent, and the large user class average total bill increase will be 2.85 percent.


This application incorporates both cost savings from the 2005 merger of Hamilton Hydro and St. Catharines Hydro, and even anticipated future cost savings from Horizon's enterprise resource planning solution being implemented this year.


I should note that these bill impacts are based on a deemed return of equity 8.86 percent based on the Board's December 2006 report on cost of capital and 2nd generation incentive regulation.

That report advised that the ROE would be updated and the Board did so earlier this year so that the Board-approved deemed return on equity for 2008 rebasing applications is now 8.57 percent.

This adjustment will have the effect of decreasing residential bills a bit further, and reducing the already minimal increases for the general service and large user classes.  Changes in the federal corporate tax rate will have a similar effect.

Because this oral hearing is limited in both time and scope, Horizon's witness panels will not be taking the Board through its entire application.  It can be said, though, that Horizon's objectives in this application are four-fold.


To continue to maintain and enhance the reliability of its system through selected new capital projects and the continuation of ongoing long-term capital projects, the application contains a significant amount of information about those plans.

On the operations and maintenance side, Horizon is committed to maintaining and improving upon its already high level of reliability and customer satisfaction.  In order to do so, Horizon requires the funds it has proposed in order to hire and train new staff, largely in order to address looming shortages in skilled labour that will be faced by all distributors, due to an aging work force, and also to improve public safety and system reliability through a shift in its current vegetation management program.

Third, to improve its aging internal systems and processes, and improve its efficiency and reduce its costs by implementing the enterprise resource solution.  And in an innovative approach, Horizon is proposing in this application to pass $2 million in anticipated cost savings from the ERP solution on to its customers now in its 2008 rates, rather than having those savings captured only a number of years from now at Horizon's next rebasing.  Horizon is taking this step notwithstanding that these savings have not yet been realized.  This project and Horizon's proposals for the recovery of its costs in the distribution of its benefits are well documented in the application, and further in the interrogatory responses.

Finally, to ensure that adequate funds are available to enable Horizon to continue its work on implementing the provincial government's objectives with respect to smart meters.

Horizon has been able to meet these objectives with minimal impacts on customer bills, and in the case of residential customers, with bill decreases.

As a final comment, as I mentioned moments ago and as we have written on a number of occasions, Horizon filed this application in October of last year for rates effective May 1st.  It's now June and the Board's timeline suggests that Horizon's new rate order may not be in place until August.  However, Horizon's costs are in place now, and Horizon is capable of and intends to undertake this year all of the 2008 projects shown in the application.

Accordingly, Horizon requests and will be reiterating this request in its submissions that the Board take a similar approach to the implementation of Horizon's rate order as that taken with Toronto Hydro.  Specifically, in that decision the Board found that as the applicant's current rates were declared interim as of May 1st, 2008, given the date of this decision, there will be a difference between the revenue collected under the existing rates and the revenue that would have been collected if the new rates were implemented May 1st.

Depending on the date of implementation of the new rates, the new rates shall be set so as to recover the annualized revenue requirement over the remaining period of the 2008 rate year.  For example, if the applicant will be able to implement the new rates on June 1st, the new rates shall reflect the fact that there will be only 11 months to April 30th, 2009.

Horizon appreciates that for the 2009 rate year, adjustments will have to be made to adjust those rates so that the revenue requirement will then be recovered over 12 months.

With those remarks, I call Horizon's, actually first and second panels.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Perhaps the witnesses could be sworn.

MR. KAISER:  We'll have the witnesses sworn, first.
HORIZON UTILITIES CORPORATION - PANELS 1 AND 2

Paul Brown, sworn


Kathy Lerette, sworn


Sarah Hughes, sworn


Cameron McKenzie, sworn


John Basilio, sworn

Examination-in-chief by Mr. Sidlofsky:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Chair, the panel members' CVs can be found at Exhibit A, tab 1, schedule 19, appendix A to the application.  I will just take the members through a very brief introduction.

Mr. Basilio, that's B-A-S-I-L-I-O for the reporter, is that right?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, you're the senior vice president and chief financial officer for Horizon Utilities?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Chartered accountant?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You are responsible, I understand, for the implementation of Horizon Utilities' enterprise resource planning solution and overall executive responsibility for the rate application; is that accurate?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. McKenzie, capital M-c-K-E-N-Z-I-E.

MR. McKENZIE:  Correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Director of regulatory services for Horizon?

MR. McKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Certified general accountant designation?

MR. McKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I understand you were responsible for the preparation and filing of the rate application.

MR. McKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Brown, B-R-O-W-N, director of network planning and operating for Horizon Utilities?

MR. BROWN:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I understand that before that, you were the director of engineering for Hamilton Hydro.

MR. BROWN:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You're a professional engineer licensed since 1990?

MR. BROWN:  I am.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You are responsible for planning of capital projects across the Horizon service area.

MR. BROWN:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Ms. Lerette, L-E-R-E-T-T-E, director of design and construction for Horizon Utilities?

MS. LERETTE:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And before that, I understand you were director of construction and maintenance services for Hamilton Hydro.

MS. LERETTE:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You are a member of the Ontario Association of Certified Engineering Technicians and Technologists?

MS. LERETTE:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I understand you are responsible for project design and operations and maintenance activities across the Horizon service area.

MS. LERETTE:  Yes, I am.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Last but not least, Ms. Hughes, H-U-G-H-E-S, corporate controller, Horizon Utilities?

MS. HUGHES:  Correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You are also a chartered accountant by designation?

MS. HUGHES:  Correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You are responsible, I understand, for the preparation of the 2008 budgets.

MS. HUGHES:  Correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Was this evidence -- was Horizon's evidence prepared by you or under your supervision?

MR. McKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Perhaps you could answer for the panel, Mr. McKenzie?

MR. McKENZIE:  Yes, it was.

SPEAKER 2:  Do you adopt it, does the panel adopt it as its own evidence in this proceeding?

MR. McKENZIE:  Yes, we do.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Do you adopt Horizon's responses to Board Staff and intervenor interrogatories in this proceeding as your evidence?

MR. McKENZIE:  The responses were prepared by Horizon Utilities staff.  We adopt the responses as our own, but wish to be clear that not all the responses reflect Horizon Utilities' request as filed in this application.

Nor do they support the evidence to this application.

For example, certain interrogatories requested Horizon staff to perform calculations based on arbitrary reductions in different areas of the application.

We have performed the calculations and responded to the interrogatories as we are required to do, but we do not agree that those arbitrary reductions are appropriate, or that they should be adopted by the Board.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And Mr. McKenzie, do you have any corrections to the evidence?

MR. McKENZIE:  Yes, we do.

There are adjustments to the application will be required for the OEB rate-of-return and short-term interest rates that were issued in February, as well as the changes to the tax rates that were released since the filing of this application.

In addition, there is a correction to the loss factor calculation, which reduces the total loss factor from the filed percent of 1.0451, to 1.0421.

As well, we are prepared to recalculate the retail transmission service rates, as provided in the OEB staff IR 47, part 2, in light of the change to the transmitters -- transmission rates which became effective November 1st of 2007.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Do you anticipate making those changes in your draft rate order?

MR. McKENZIE:  Yes.  We acknowledge that these changes will be required, and we will incorporate them into our draft rate order as per OEB direction.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, that, sir, concludes the introductions and I won't be repeating those for the subset of debt rate -- the subset panel for debt rate.

As I said, I will take the panel through the examinations-in-chief for both operations and maintenance and capital expenditures.


So, panel, if I could ask you a few questions about a couple of aspects of your application, first as it relates to operating costs.  One of the items I am going to touch on is the enterprise resource plan solution.  Mr. Chair, you will be hearing that referred to as the ERP a fair bit today.


That project encompasses both capital and O&M expenditures, I understand.


Mr. Basilio, Horizon spent a fair bit of time in the application discussing the enterprise resource planning solution both in the context of rate base and in the context of distribution costs.  Could you comment on that?


MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.  It's a major project for Horizon and represents significant capital and operating investments.  It's one of the main reasons for the variance between the 2008 and previous years' capital and operating budgets.  It is one of the few Horizon projects that meet the variance threshold in the Board's filing requirements.


The ERP solution essentially replaces a patchwork of systems developed internally over a 25-year period that are at the end of their useful and productive lives.  The ERP solution will mitigate business risk related to information integrity and improved business decision-making efficiency and effectiveness through the adoption and implementation of contemporary business practices in the areas of asset management, work order management, finance, human resources management and supply chain management.  These things are not possible with the present architecture.

Horizon's justification for the project and the description of the process it followed in selecting the IFS solution and integration are set out in Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1 of the application from page 27 to 35 and appendices A through E to that schedule.

O&M-related aspects of the ERP solution are discussed at Exhibit D, tab 2, schedule 1, from pages 18 to 22 in appendix A to that schedule.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Your approach to the ERP project might be considered unusual, in that you are incorporating bridge year O&M costs and reducing the revenue requirement based on cost savings that won't be realized until after the test year, until after 2008.

Could you comment on that, please?


MR. BASILIO:  Well, this is a very significant expenditure for Horizon, and ultimately for its customers.  If we took the typical approach to this project or if the Board, in its decision, requires Horizon to change its approach to ERP to the more typical approach, we would simply incorporate the capital into rate base, use test year -- 2008 test year O&M costs and not apply any future cost savings to those costs in determining our revenue requirement for 2008.


As we realize cost savings over time, our customers would only benefit from those savings at the time they are realized in the next rebasing, and only to the extent such are actually realized.


More importantly, if we took the traditional approach, including removing 2007 O&M costs, this project would add approximately $700,000 to Horizon's revenue requirement over five years or until its next rebasing.


We believe that in determining just and reasonable rates, this project warrants a different approach.  We believe that cost savings will be available to Horizon over time as a result of this project, and Horizon is prepared to pass those savings on to its customers now, even though there is some risk that not all of the estimated savings will materialize.


To do that, Horizon has incorporated all of the estimated cost savings into its calculation and reduced the revenue requirement for ERP accordingly.


By reducing the 2008 revenue requirement, Horizon is able to recover its costs of the ERP solution without over-recovering from its customers during the coming IRM period.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Now, Ms. Hughes, if I could turn to you, could you please provide an overview of the materials that Horizon has filed with respect to OM&A expenditures?


MS. HUGHES:  Exhibit D of Horizon's prefiled evidence, and specifically Exhibit D, tab 1, schedule 1, table 1, contains an overview of its operating costs and a summary of those costs for the 2006 Board approved, 2006 actual, 2007 bridge and 2008 test years.


Exhibit D, tab 2, schedule 2 is Horizon's OM&A cost table, which sets out the variances on a US of A account-by-account basis.


Horizon acknowledges that the OM&A expenditures have increased in the 2007 bridge year over 2006 actuals by approximately $7.5 million, and in 2008 test year over 2007 bridge year by approximately $4.8 million, for a total of 12.3 million 2008 test year over 2006 actual.


Horizon would like to provide the following summary of the significant components of the $12.3 million increase between 2006 actuals and the 2008 test year:  Increase in operation expenses, $1 million; increase in maintenance expenses, $1.7 million; increase in general and administrative expenses of $6.4 million; increased amortization expense of $4 million, offset by a decrease of 0.8 million in community relations and other expenses.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Excuse me, that was 0.8 million; is that right?


MS. HUGHES:  0.8 million, correct.  With respect to operation and maintenance expenditures, the total increase of the two of the $ 2.7 million is driven by the following factors:   Increased staffing to respond proactively to the impending shortage of professional electrical engineers; the hiring of skilled trades and apprenticeship programs; and Horizon's aging work force.

Horizon has hired 12 new employees in this area, including seven line maintainers, two operators and three engineers in training.


It takes approximately seven to ten years for these new employees to become fully qualified for their positions, and it is important that they be able to train alongside experienced employees.


As we noted in Exhibit D, tab 2, schedule 7, page 1, almost 17 percent of Horizon's employees are eligible for retirement in the next five years, and another 16 percent will be eligible within ten.


It is important to note that we be proactive and bring in replacement staff now so that they will be fully qualified to take over for the departing employees.


The hiring of skilled trades is a common industry issue.  The new hires would have been required regardless of whether there was a merger between Hamilton and St. Catharines Hydro in 2005.  The total additional compensation with respect to these new positions is approximately $700,000.


Increased maintenance expenditures related to tree-trimming, which Ms. Lerette will speak to in further detail, overall increases related to inflation, including wages and benefits and material costs, using an inflation factor of 3 percent over a two-year period, results in an incremental $700,000 in costs in this area.


With respect to general and administrative expenses, the following cost drivers are contributing to the increase of $6.4 million:  Increases in salaries and benefit expenses of $2 million related to new hires, five new hires; the filling of vacant positions that existed in 2006 and increases in salaries associated with merit increases, as well as increased benefit costs; ERP-related expenditures of $1.3 million, including change management initiatives, training and communication costs.


2006 general administrative expenditures were also $700,000 lower due to one-time adjustments related to OMERS and employee benefits, general inflationary increases in various third party expenditures of approximately $400,000, increased regulatory costs of $300,000 due to the OEB assessment and costs, increased training and development expenditures of $400,000 related to our leadership development program and apprenticeship programs, increased information technology expenditures of $300,000 related to the operating and maintenance of our IT infrastructure, as well as training for our employees, and various other expenditures, including consulting, board of director expenses and shared services expenditures.


Additional variance analysis and cost driver information was also provided as part of the IR responses, in particular, OEB Staff IR 23E, as well as explanations for variances that fall well below the Board's variance analysis thresholds, as requested in VECC IR 25, and Schools IR 13B and D to G.

With respect to salaries and benefits, Horizon's compensation structure and policies are discussed at Exhibit D, tab 2, schedule 7 of the application, and in further detail in response to OEB Staff IR 23B and IRs 32 to 37.


Copies of the 2005 and 2006 compensation analysis prepared by the Hay Group have been filed as appendix A to that schedule.  As you will see, in most cases Horizon's salaries are below those of the industrial sector, the broader public sector or the utility sector.  This is in spite of Horizon's position as one of Ontario's largest electricity utilities.


With respect to incentive pay, Horizon's incentive pay policies were also filed in response to Schools IR 13L.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Now, Ms. Lerette, Ms. Hughes had mentioned that you would be speaking to tree-trimming.  Could you provide the Board with an overview of the material that Horizon has filed in respect of its tree-trimming program?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes.  As previously noted by Ms. Hughes, much of the maintenance expenditure variance is due to an increase in the frequency of tree-trimming.  We are moving to a three-year trim cycle for the entire city of Hamilton service area.

St. Catharines is now in the second year of a three-year trim cycle.  This change is discussed in Exhibit D, tab 2, schedule 3, at pages 2 to 4, and we have included tree-trimming plans and maps at appendix A and B to that schedule.

So I won't go into detail here, but if I could summarize, historically in Hamilton, tree-trimming has been done on a three-year cycle in the suburbs.  In the old city of Hamilton, the cycles have been extended to beyond seven years due to a manpower issue with the city of Hamilton, who was previously performing this work on our behalf.

The Hamilton service area is largely older residential or rural with overhead lines and transformers and mature trees that grow into and over our lines.

Leaving vegetation for longer periods creates public safety risks, including fallen hydro wires, injuries to children climbing trees, and fire hazards.  It also affects reliability with downed wires during rain, wind, snow or ice storms, so it's crucial that we get this program back on track.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And finally, Mr. Basilio, do you have any comments on the fact that Horizon won't have a rate order in place for May 1st?

MR. BASILIO:  My comment relates to the application as a whole, so I won't repeat it in the next panel.

The late timing of the order is regrettable, given when we started this process and given the completeness of the application, but the most important concern is that Horizon intends to carry out all of its 2008 capital and operating projects scheduled this year, and as set out in the application.

This work is commenced already and is largely underway on this basis, so we can't go back and we're not just starting when we get our rate order.  We have the labour capacity to carry out this work, even if the 2008 rate order is delayed.

Our application justifies the planned work as being required to ensure the reliability and safety of our distribution system, and high quality of service to our customers.

We therefore ask that the Board treat Horizon Utilities in the same manner as it has treated Toronto Hydro with respect to this matter, and direct Horizon in its decision to prepare a rate order that recovers the annualized revenue requirement over the remaining period of the 2008 rate year.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  If I could just turn to you, Mr. Brown, if I could move over to capital expenditures, I will ask you to provide the Board with a brief overview of the material Horizon has filed in respect of its projected capital spending.

MR. BROWN:  With respect to the distribution system plant capital, I would refer you to Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, page 3, table 1, titled "distribution plant capital, 2006 to 2008, total by type."

The spending in each category will vary from year to year, depending on system and customer needs.  The overall total plant capital is consistent in each year.

Furthermore, as noted by Schools in their IR 9d, and confirmed in Horizon's response, that when smart meters and the ERP are excluded from the capital budget, spending has been relatively constant from 2006 through to 2008, at $29.7 million, $30.2 million, and $28.7 million respectively.

Exhibit B of Horizon's prefiled evidence contains a detailed overview of Horizon's 2008 capital projects and its methodology for determining the required projects for 2008.  At pages 4 to 8 of Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, Horizon has described its various capital project pools.  These include seven distribution plant capital project pools: customer demand, or projects undertaken to meet the customer connection requirements of the distribution system code; renewal, or projects that deal with the replacement of assets at the end of their useful life; security, or projects that address areas of the system where equipment failure may cause large outages which cannot be restored by switching to alternative supplies; capacity, or projects that are arising out of load growth from new customer connections, and increased demand of existing customers over time leading to the need for upgrading of feeders or transformers or voltage conversion; reliability, or projects that are required to improve Horizon's system performance measured by the reliability indices, SAIDI, CAIDI, SAIFI; regulatory requirements, or projects that respond to OEB, IESO, or Ministry of Energy directions; and finally, substations.  These are projects required to maintain or improve reliability to large numbers of customers and to maintain security and safety at substations.

With respect to Horizon's prudent management of capital assets, I would refer you to Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix A, that contains Horizon's distribution system capital and maintenance programs document.

That document sets out the processes Horizon uses to determine the investments essential to maintain system reliability and safety.

The projects and programs are determined with careful consideration being given to the age and condition of the assets.  The document deals with three major elements of capital projects: capital investment planning, asset maintenance planning and transformer asset renewal planning.

Appendix B set out the 2008 budget plans for Horizon's departments.

The application also deals with six pools of general plant capital projects: facilities, or projects relating to the maintenance of Horizon's buildings and other facilities; enterprise resource plan solutions -- this has been discussed in the context of distribution expenses; other replacement and upgraded computer hardware and software; transportation and related equipment -- Horizon is completing the acquisition and modification of seven new vehicles this year; communications equipment purchases; and tools and equipment replacement.

The Board's filing requirements state that projects meeting a materiality threshold of one percent of Horizon Utilities' total net fixed assets require justification.

The variance threshold is $2.7 million.  And we have provided those justifications, but there are very few of those projects.  So to assist the Board, the application identifies all projects over $100,000 in value and provides reasons for those projects.

Project descriptions and justifications can be found at Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, to the Horizon application.

As a point of clarification, our application contains references to multi-year projects.  In planning for such projects, Horizon divides a multi-year project into distinct phases, which are then budgeted for and constructed in a specific year.

Only those costs that are planned in respect of the 2008 phase are included in the 2008 application.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, panel.

Mr. Chair, the panel is now available for cross-examination on the first two areas.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I think Mr. Warren is going to do his cross first.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

Mr. Warren.
Cross-examination by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  It's not going to light up, sir.

My name is Robert Warren.  I appear for the Consumers Council of Canada.  I have a limited number of questions in two discrete areas, both related to OM&A expenses.  But before I get to that, I would like to ask just a couple of general overview questions arising from Mr. Sidlofsky's examination-in-chief.

As I understand it, panel, this is an application for approval of your rates for 2008, but it's also to be a base year for an IRM period; is that correct?  Am I understanding that correctly?

MR. McKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Could you turn up for me, panel, an attachment to one of the interrogatories which my client asked.  It's my client's question number 7, and it is attachment A-2.

Mr. Chairman, I apologize, this does not appear to have an exhibit number, so it is a little difficult for me to identify it for the record.  But it is described as "2008 budget and three-year plan", that's the document I am looking for.  It's a PowerPoint presentation, panel.

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  My question relates, panel, to the fourth page in after the title page, "Corporate Results".  The next page in is "Profitability Return Trend".  Can you turn that up for me, please?


MR. BASILIO:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Now, I see that under the heading "Return on Equity", that you are forecasting -- you're estimating on the second to last line regulated return, and then on the final line for each of 2008, 2009, 2010, your forecast is that you will be over-earning.  Am I reading the document correctly?


MR. BASILIO:  What you are looking at is a combined Horizon Utilities Corporation financial plan, which includes both regulated LDC profitibility and unregulated cash flows related to water billing business and MSP business.


So that's the context of this.  This is not strictly the regulated LDC.  This is a combined picture for the board of directors.


MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that, Mr. Basilio, but that begs the question of why if is you would then compare your actual return on the last line to a return which is for the regulated operations only.


MR. BASILIO:  Well, the reason for that is the benchmark return for shareholders has always been based on a benchmark relative to what it can earn in regulated operations.


So the hurdle rate for incremental investments -- you know, subject to considering risk and other usual considerations and business plans, but the hurdle rate from a shareholder perspective is, if we're going to invest a dollar in an unregulated activity, then it should be achieving a rate of return that is above the regulated rate of return.


MR. WARREN:  Finally, just on this, in this one narrow area, panel, is there anywhere in the evidence either a document or information which is similar to this, which forecasts the estimated regulated return on equity with what you are going to get from the regulated business?


MR. BASILIO:  This is what we offered.  I'm just wondering.  There were appendices.  If you could just give me a second here?


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Basilio, if it would be easier for you to do this at the morning break, we can do it then, rather than take up time now.


MR. BASILIO:  I can do that, sure.


MR. WARREN:  Thanks.  Can I then turn to the first of the two areas I want to deal with in the category of OM&A?  In this context, panel, if you could turn up a response to a Board Staff interrogatory.  It is response number 23.  It's a long response, and the only identification I can help you with is I am looking at data on executive, CEO, CFO, VP, directors, at pages -- sorry, page 55 of 157 and following, if that helps you.  Board Staff Interrogatory No. 23, page 55 of 157 and following.

Do you have it, panel?


MR. McKENZIE:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  I will just wait for the Panel members to turn it up.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. WARREN:  Panel, beginning at page 56, in the middle of the page you were talking about, in March 2005, a merger of St. Catharines Hydro Utilities and Hamilton Hydro Inc., the merger that created the entity known as Horizon Utilities Corporation; is that correct?


MR. McKENZIE:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Then on the next paragraph, you indicate,
"The merger realized more than...",

I am quoting:

"... $5 million annualized cost savings that resulted in a decrease in customer rates on average 2.3 percent in 2006 and a 8.25 percent decrease in Horizon Utilities' controllable costs per customer."

Have I read that correctly?


MR. McKENZIE:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Now, as I understand it, Horizon is in the process of merging with Guelph Hydro; is that correct?


MR. McKENZIE:  Yes.


MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Could you just provide me with a very short synopsis of where you are on -- in the process of that merger?


MR. BASILIO:  So we're reviewing business plans and engaging a holding company and municipalities in the resolution of a business case, as well as a legal framework for the transaction.


At this point, we have received the approval of all three holding company shareholders.  The municipalities at this point, in conjunction with the utility and the holding company's shareholders, are reviewing business cases and legal agreements.


There is a process unfolding, a public process, over the next two to three weeks where we will be engaging the public at large to communicate the transaction and receive their feedback.


Then we anticipate council approvals for the transaction at the end of July.  Well, we are hopeful we will receive council approvals, but that will be the time frame.


Thereafter, and at that point, we would file -- we would prepare and file an ads application, and I understand that the Board has up to 90 days, I believe, to approve that application, subject to intervention, I suppose.


Thereafter, once we have all approvals, we would merge.  If I was predicting, you know, what day the transaction might close, I would suggest that if we're -- you know, October 1st might be aggressive.  It seems like a long time, but given the political process, October 1st, perhaps.


But given that an amalgamation results in another year end, we may wait -- subject to other concerns, of course, we may wait until December 31st to actually trigger the transaction.


MR. WARREN:  Now, the assumption, Mr. Basilio, that the merger goes through, are there forecast savings arising from the merger that would be analogous to what are described on page 56 of 157 in the interrogatory response, and, if so, in what amounts and in what categories?


MR. BASILIO:  Can I just take a moment here?


 [Witness panel confers]

MR. BASILIO:  That information is confidential at this point.  Our shareholders have not received and had time to comment on it.  Obviously, they have lots of -- we would anticipate savings, obviously.  There has to be an economic reason to justify the transaction, along with other -- but at this point, what I would offer is that that is confidential information at this point and I would be reluctant to share it in advance of having a proper stakeholdering and approval of the business case.


We do not have a transaction yet at this point.  We have a draft document that is still under development.


MR. WARREN:  Fair enough, Mr. Basilio.  But can the Board -- without trenching on confidential information, can this panel, as it sits here, anticipate that the entity Horizon Utilities Corporation will be realizing savings over the course of the next, let's say, five years, the period of a five-year IRM period?


MR. BASILIO:  Again, it should -- we should anticipate savings.  I think the Board has provided for the treatment of those savings in its report on rate-making considerations related to consolidation.


So, you know, those savings will be dealt with, I'm sure, in that context.  But the simple answer is, yes, we would anticipate savings.  That would be a key driver of approving the transaction.


MR. WARREN:  I take it from your answer that you take the position that there is a regulatory mechanism in place whereby ratepayers will be assured of getting their fair proportion of those savings; is that fair?


MR. BASILIO:  Yes.  I believe there is a regulatory mechanism for that, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Now, looking at page 55 of -- 56, I'm sorry, I can't read -- 56 of 157, dealing with the narrower OM&A issue, I see here that there is a VP business development, a newly created position.  I am reading from the evidence:

"... on the executive management team designed to enhance the strategic capacity and corporate development expertise for the team and provide a specific focus on business development issues, and then the position will be focussed on actively seeking out merger opportunities."


MS. COCHRANE:  Excuse me, Mr. Warren, we can't hear on this side of the room.  If you could speak up, please?


MR. BASILIO:  I am having some difficulties, as well.


MR. WARREN:  That's a deliberate tactic on my part.  If you don't hear me, then I can elicit the answer I want.  Just say yes.  I apologize to everybody.

I am looking at page 56 of 157 under the heading "VP Business Development", and it is a new position in the executive management team focussed, as I read this, on seeking out merger opportunities; is that correct?


MR. BASILIO:  That is correct.


MR. WARREN:  And then I see on the next page, page 57 of 157, that we have, in addition to that, a director business strategies, whose function will be to focus on the development, to enhance the strategic capacity and corporate development expertise.  A key function of this role will be to develop comprehensive plans for business opportunities through successful execution of mergers.

Those are both new positions, I take it?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  And I take it, panel, that one of the purposes of mergers is to ensure -- is to achieve value, in part, for your shareholder?  Is that fair?

MR. BASILIO:  In one part, the other part obviously being to achieve value for customers.

MR. WARREN:  Fair answer, Mr. Basilio.  But is it the case that you are proposing that the entire salary of the VP of business development and director of business strategies be paid for in rates?

MR. BASILIO:  Absolutely, and let me elaborate on that and clarify the nature of these positions somewhat.  They are new positions.

This department -– well, firstly, it is our view, and this is why we press so strongly on this strategy, that consolidations will deliver value to customers, and any business that's trying to achieve shareholder value starts with the customer.

So merging will elicit savings.  I think there are a lot of savings to be had in the province.

These positions are focussed on developing relationships, analyzing the landscape, and reviewing potential opportunities and determining whether such will or will not yield value for Horizon customers, and that's essentially -- and developing relationships to the extent that, you know, we find relationships where it makes some sense to pursue them further, these positions essentially try and bring those relationships to a point where the parties are going to start talking seriously about a transaction, to the point in time where I would say we potentially have a transaction.

From that point, they move off.

I would describe -- if we look in, you know, the report of the Board on ratemaking associated with distributor consolidation, it provides that the LDC shareholders should be responsible for transaction costs for a period of time, and they will be allowed to earn a shareholder return for a period of time to recover those transaction costs, and, you know, to compensate shareholders for taking the risk, whether or not savings might be achieved.

These positions are research and development of those opportunities.  They bring mergers to the point of a transaction.  At that point, they're handed off to a team, largely the senior executive team in the organization, not unlike a merger transaction in any sector, where a handful of senior execs, CFOs and whatnot will work on the transaction, where then we will start to incur what I would say are real transaction costs, engaging consultants, lawyers, you know, and to facilitate stakeholdering and whatnot.

So these positions are research and development.  This isn't done like our operations group investing in an asset management strategy, or our customer service group investing in a customer service strategy, on the prospect that we will develop processes and real tactical plans that will yield benefits for customers and ultimately will be shared with customers.

So what I would say is these are not transaction costs in the context of ratemaking associated with distributor consolidation in that report.  And they should be borne by customers.

If we take these costs out of the LDC, that will be a real obstacle, I think, for consolidation, because this is work that has to be done.  It's a relatively undeveloped merger landscape for LDCs, and work needs to be done to determine what are appropriate merger partners, which ones will yield value.  At that point, I would say shareholders should be responsible for the costs from there.

That's the basis on which, of course, we filed this application with respect to costs and savings related to our St. Catharines Hydro Inc merger.

MR. WARREN:  That's a long answer to a question I didn't really ask, Mr. Basilio.  So let me ask you the question again, and it is this:  Given that there will be benefits accruing to the shareholder from the mergers, I take it your position is that no portion of the salaries of these two folks could be paid by the shareholder?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.  Because I don't believe -- they're not transaction costs.  We don't have -- we don't have a merger here.

MR. WARREN:  Now, Mr. Basilio, in answering my question a few moments ago about Guelph, you showed a detailed knowledge of -- what I took to be a detailed knowledge of the Guelph transaction.  May I assume, Mr. Basilio, that some portion of your time over the last year has been spent on the Guelph transaction?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. McKenzie, may I assume the same for you?

MR. McKENZIE:  Mine has not at this point in time.

MR. WARREN:  And Ms. Hughes, may I assume that some portion of your time has been spent in analyzing the data for the Guelph transaction?

MS. HUGHES:  A limited amount of time on some due diligence work, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, Mr. Basilio, just using you as the proxy for everybody else on the team, could you tell me how much, if any, of your salary is being allocated to the Guelph transaction?  Any of it?

MR. BASILIO:  No.  Neither my salary or any internal time of staff are being allocated to the transaction and being pulled out of, I assume here, the logical extension of that is and have been pulled out of 2008 rate base.

I mean I think I should go on to explain the rationale for that.

Again, I am not a discrete position in the organization.  Whether or not a merger happens, a CFO is required, a controller is required, a CEO is required.  There are really a handful of people that work on these transactions, that actually bring them to fruition, and they're not discrete bodies.

The other thing I can tell you is that these transactions don't happen in the course of a nine-to-five work day.  These are nights, weekends, staff working tirelessly.  So the bottom line is, irrespective of the merger transaction, these costs are incurred by the LDC to support the LDC.

MR. WARREN:  Who is the CEO of Horizon?  I apologize, I should know this, but I don't.

MR. BASILIO:  Max Cananzi.

MR. WARREN:  I presume some of his time has been spent on the Guelph transaction?

MR. BASILIO:  Of course.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, I have your position on the record, Mr. Basilio, that you don't think any of the time spent on the Guelph transaction should be allocated to the shareholder.  But I wonder if I could ask this question.

Knowing that you and I disagree on that position or are likely to, can you provide us, sir, with an estimate of the time and quantify that time spent by at least the senior executive team of Horizon on the Guelph transaction?  Is that doable, sir?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, it's very difficult to do.  You know if -- you know, when you're trying to find the baseline to compare that to, let's start with a baseline of 6 zero to 70 hours a week of work.

So, you know, if you're trying to take a percentage of that time as it relates to a single transaction in fits and spurts, it could be very difficult to do.  Not an insignificant amount of time.  But you know, again, not 50 percent of our time.  Maybe, you know, it could be somewhere between 10 and 20, I suppose.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.

MR. BASILIO:  Something like that.

MR. WARREN:  Sir, could I then turn to the second
area --

MR. BASILIO:  Oh, I apologize.  There are three of us, really, working on that transaction.

Again, we're still in -- this is development mode.  There are three of us that form a management steering committee.  That's the chief executive officer, myself and the vice president of corporate services, and really at this point, those are the only three executives involved in the transaction.

MR. WARREN:  I have to assume, Mr. Basilio, that those three members of that team are supported by, in a pyramidal structure, they're supported by people who would provide you with data from time to time.

MR. BASILIO:  Of course, yes.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren, before you move to a new topic, would you have legal costs that you are incurring now with respect to this transaction, bills from BLG and others?

MR. BASILIO:  Significant bills from BLG, and those costs, those costs are what I would view as transaction costs.  Those things, consulting costs and the like, really the development of the transaction, incremental costs that wouldn't otherwise be there in the LDC.

Those costs are parked, and do not form part of the rate base that we filed for recovery on.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that question, sir.  I will leave my business card with them with a discount rate on it, so they can do a comparison.

Panel, could I turn briefly to one other discrete area? And that is regulatory costs.  In this context, could you turn up for me an exhibit that you referred to in your examination-in-chief.  It is Exhibit D2, schedule 2, page 1 of 2.  This is the detailed breakout of your OM&A costs.


Do you have that, panel?


MR. McKENZIE:  Yes, I do.


MR. WARREN:  Now, this is, I suppose, the printing equivalent of my speaking too softly.  I am having a hard time reading this, so I may get this wrong, but looking at page 2 of 2, I see regulatory expenses.  And in 2006, Board approved was - and I am rounding and I apologize for that - approximately 1.2 million; correct?


MR. McKENZIE:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And the actual spending on regulatory costs was about $750,000; correct?


MR. McKENZIE:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And the difference, I take it, between the two -- what was the difference, the reason for the difference?


MR. McKENZIE:  The estimate for the Board-approved was based on a simple summation of Hamilton Hydro's costs, plus St. Catharines' costs at the time of filing.  We filed a harmonized rate application at that time.


MR. WARREN:  And that figure of 1.2, I take it, was baked into rates and recovered from ratepayers?


MR. McKENZIE:  Yes, it was in our distribution rate application.


MR. WARREN:  The difference of, roughly speaking, $450,000, that was a benefit to the shareholder; correct?


MR. McKENZIE:  That would have been in relation to costs, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Now, we go to the -- now, I would like to understand what the components of the regulatory expenses are.  First of all, are those entirely internal costs?


MR. McKENZIE:  No.  Those are costs that pertain to OEB assessment and assessment of costs for various OEB proceedings that take place.


MR. WARREN:  Are there internal costs, as well?


MR. McKENZIE:  No.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And the external costs, for example, lawyers and consultants, does that include that?


MR. McKENZIE:  No, no, it does not.


MR. WARREN:  All right.  So those are only OEB-assessed costs in various categories.


Now, the total -- I take it we can agree that in terms of regulatory costs, there would be two other categories that would be required.  One would be your internal regulatory costs, and the second would be external costs for Mr. Sidlofsky's Cadillac services that you have referred to, and external consultants; is that fair?


MR. McKENZIE:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Now, where in the OM&A budget would I find the amounts for those other two categories?  First of all, internal regulatory costs, where would I find those?


MR. McKENZIE:  Internal regulatory costs are included in the management salaries and general admin salaries.


MR. WARREN:  Do you, for accounting purposes or for your own internal purposes, break out what the internal regulatory costs are?


MR. McKENZIE:  We do it by department budget, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Is that somewhere in the evidence that I could identify what the regulatory component of your internal costs are?


MR. McKENZIE:  Yes.  I refer you to Exhibit B, where we filed our department budget plans.  I have to apologize.  This section did not get numbered.


So it's in Exhibit B, the schedule 1, and it's right after the section -- right after the distribution system capital maintenance program, there is a page in there referred to as "Regulatory Services 2008 Budget".


MR. WARREN:  And the amount of that is what?


MR. McKENZIE:  It's not broken out -- it's not in total.  This is simply referring to the regulatory cost from the board and the legal costs.  I don't budget for salaries.  They're treated separately, included in the two -- the management and the administration expenses, regular salaries.


MR. WARREN:  Let me approach it this way, Mr. McKenzie.  If I were to ask you -- tell me if you can provide this data.  If I could ask you for each of 2006, 2007, 2008, in the category "regulatory expenses", can you provide me with a breakdown in each of those years for your internal costs, first, the OEB assessment costs and the external costs?  Is that possible?


MR. McKENZIE:  Yes, it is possible.


MR. WARREN:  And I would like those, if it is doable, to forecast -- do you do forecast and actual in both -- in all three categories?


MR. McKENZIE:  The budgets set out there are forecast.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Sorry, I just want to make it clear.  For our purposes, that will be budget and actual for each of those three years in each of the three categories?


MR. McKENZIE:  Yes.  We have it broken down by department.


MR. WARREN:  May I get an undertaking for that?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Can we have a number for that?


MS. COCHRANE:  That will be undertaking number 1.


MR. KAISER:  Would you describe it again for the record, Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  I have asked for an undertaking for the panel to provide me with, for each of 2006, 2007, 2008, the forecast and actual - I appreciate there won't be any actual for 2008; there will just be forecast - regulatory expenses in each of three categories:  Internal costs, OEB assessment costs, and external costs, lawyers and consultants.


MS. COCHRANE:  Actually, Mr. Chair that will be undertaking J1.1.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE 2006, 2007, 2008 FORECAST AND ACTUAL REGULATORY EXPENSES FOR INTERNAL COSTS, OEB ASSESSMENT COSTS, AND EXTERNAL COSTS, LAWYERS AND CONSULTANTS.


MR. WARREN:  Panel, staying with Exhibit D, tab 2, schedule 2, I was referring you to the category of regulatory expenses, and five lines above that there is outside services engaged.  What's included in the category of outside services engaged?


MR. McKENZIE:  That would be professional fees, consulting, legal and audit.


MR. WARREN:  Any of -- the external legal, any of that in the regulatory component, or is that for other services?


MR. McKENZIE:  That would be in other services.


MR. WARREN:  Thank you.  My final question to you, panel, is, again, looking at this as a base for your IRM period, may I assume - correct me if I'm wrong - that your forecast of legal expenses -- sorry, your forecast of regulatory expenses, I apologize, for 2008 would reflect the fact that you are engaged in this happy process today, this hearing process; right?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. McKENZIE:  Are you referring to outside services employed or the regulatory?


MR. WARREN:  The regulatory, I'm sorry.  You have a forecast for regulatory, and I assume it's higher for 2008 because this is an application year?


MR. McKENZIE:  No.


MR. WARREN:  It's not?


MR. McKENZIE:  No.  Any legal costs would be reflected in outside services employed.  So the regulatory is strictly, as I referred to, OEB assessments, any increases in assessments, and any of the proceedings that we go into.


MR. WARREN:  Sorry.  Then I asked the question imprecisely.


What I am looking for are not just the narrow category of regulatory expenses that you have got here.  I am talking about the overall costs which we include in regulatory, which is internal, external and OEB assessment.


My suggestion to you, for your response, is that it is higher for 2008 because of -- this is the year in which you are applying for approval of rates.  Is that not a reasonable assumption on my part?


MR. McKENZIE:  Yes, that would be reasonable.


MR. WARREN:  All right.  My question then is:  Why, given that you may not have those regulatory expenses during IRM period, the Board should approve a higher figure for 2008, since it will be part of the base going forward?


Do you understand my question?


MR. McKENZIE:  Yes, I do.


MR. WARREN:  My question is:  Why?


MR. McKENZIE:  From the regulatory perspective, I don't anticipate that regulatory costs will necessarily go down in that account, because we will continue to participate in future Board proceedings from our side.


MR. WARREN:  Is that --


MR. McKENZIE:  Sorry.  This budget breakdown may provide that better detail of information.


MR. WARREN:  Is it fair for me, finally, sir, to assume, though, that your regulatory expenses -- let me preface it by saying one of the purposes of IRM is to reduce regulatory burden.  You understand that?


MR. McKENZIE:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Is it not reasonable to assume that given that objective, that the regulatory burden is likely to be less, whether it is substantially less or not, over the next three years?

For example, sir, you are not likely over the next three or five years to have to prepare and file 1,500 pages of prefiled evidence and 1,500 pages of answers to interrogatories.  Reasonable?

MR. McKENZIE:  Reasonable.  Not through a IRM; that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  I'm sorry I took longer than I thought.

Sorry, you wanted to add something, Mr. Basilio?

MR. BASILIO:  Absolutely.  We're focussing somewhat narrowly on individual line items, but in delivering regulatory affairs support to Horizon, while we'll see aspects of delivering that move up and down, depending on activity in those areas, what I can tell you is -- and despite, you know, some efficacy in the ratemaking process from IRM, there are other aspects of delivering a regulatory affairs function that continue to increase.

There are a lot of proceedings and studies underway, and those appear to be increasing rather than decreasing.  We have had, well, a variety of studies that are going on and continue to go and where we need support for those things.

I can tell you that in my view, my staff are stretched.  We will have pressures in the next three years, if this pace continues, to add staff in the regulatory department.  While I would agree with you that we don't anticipate filing another 1,500 pages of information to support a rate application -- I hope we don't -- in 2009 and 2010, I don't know necessarily that that's going to reduce the overall burden and cost of delivering a regulatory affairs process in Horizon.  And in fact, if I look at the trend, that is increasing.

So, you know, I would agree with you on the narrow point, but overall, regulatory costs are going up.  The burden is increasing for the utilities.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

Mr. Shepherd.
Cross-examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Good morning, panel.  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I am counsel for the School Energy Coalition.  I think I met all of you.

For each one of you, could I just ask you each to clarify who is your actual employer?  Is it the regulated entity or is it the holding company?

MR. BASILIO:  For me, for all of us, it is the regulated entity, Horizon Utilities Corporation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And what work do you do for the holding company?  What work do each of you do for the holding company?  Obviously, Mr. Basilio, you do some work for the holding company; that's known.

MR. BASILIO:  Right.  My work is limited in scope for the holding company.  It's to support providing financial statements, assisting with risk management, sort of assisting with the governance of Hamilton Utilities Corporation, which in and of itself is quite limited an activity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What's your position at HUC?

MR. BASILIO:  My position in HUC is the same as that in Horizon.  I hold the office of chief financial officer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So for example, when HUC deals with the city on financial matters, that is you?

MR. BASILIO:  Not necessarily, and more and more decreasingly.  That would be directly with the chair of the board, and we have an interim president and chief executive officer that deals more directly with the city, particularly on business matters.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is the CEO of HUC?

MR. BASILIO:  Of Hamilton Utilities Corporation, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Who is that?

MR. BASILIO:  That is a fellow named John Hunter.  He was hired in 2007, fall of 2007 under contract.  He's responsible for all of the -– well, he is the chief executive officer and he is under contract directly to Hamilton Utilities Corporation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the utility doesn't cover any of his cost?

MR. BASILIO:  The LDC?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. BASILIO:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that has reduced the burden on you, presumably, to do holding company stuff?

MR. BASILIO:  Thankfully, yes, greatly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what about the other people on this panel?  You obviously have some things you have to do to help, to assist the holding company.

MR. BASILIO:  If I may, on behalf of the group, Sarah Hughes is the controller for Hamilton Utilities Corporation, holds that office.  You know, one of the reasons for having to hold office, as you know, is to execute forms, deal with bank transactions and those sorts of things.  So it's not an active officer role, really, as we would say for Horizon, for Horizon Utilities Corporation.  She holds that office.

Kathy and Paul, Ms. Lerette and Mr. Brown, have, I would say virtually no dealings with those businesses.  I think Paul, from time to time, you may have been asked a question about Hamilton Community Energy; that might be the extent of it.

MR. BROWN:  Yes.

MR. BASILIO:  Cameron McKenzie, our director of regulatory affairs, from time to time and in a fairly limited fashion may assist with a filing, or something of that nature for Hamilton Community Energy, which is a three and a half megawatt co-generation facility in Hamilton, and there are minor licenses and filings that need to be dealt with related to that.  But for the most part, it is a very, very small role.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Some other executives of the LDC also have roles in, and employees indeed have roles or assistance they have to give to the holding companies.  The holding company doesn't have its own infrastructure, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Marjorie Richards, the vice president of corporate services, acts as corporate secretary.  So with board meetings and whatnot, assists with those processes, again, for board meetings, a year, minutes.

As far as employees, that is right.  The services are contracted under affiliate arrangements.  We have affiliate contracts.  We have, you know, pricing in accordance with the Affiliate Relationship Code.  So those things are dealt with in that manner.  But in terms of activity, it's minor.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So for example, when you do work for the holding company, you personally, you keep some time record and you charge the utility for it -- the parent company for it.

MR. BASILIO:  We are currently allocating on a basis of estimated time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what percentage of your time is allocated to the parent company?

MR. BASILIO:  Sorry.  My time is allocated based on assets, which again is very -- in fact, it is probably generous in allocating costs to those businesses, given their minor activities.

MS. HUGHES:  And the finance team would be based on an estimated time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So assets is separate assets of the holding company, as compared to --

MR. BASILIO:  Separate assets of the holding company which are largely cash assets, and of Hamilton Hydro Services Inc., the extent of which is the co-gen, and again, some cash, and a small portfolio of water rental heaters, a couple of million dollars.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're talking about maybe two or 3 percent of your salary is allocated to the holding company?

MR. BASILIO:  It's probably more than that.  The total assets of Hamilton -- do you have --

MS. HUGHES:  I do.

MR. BASILIO:  Excuse me for a minute.  Do you have the specific -- What percentage of time?

MS. HUGHES:  Your corporate management team is a percentage of assets.  That is the percentage that is going to the other companies.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BASILIO:  Approximately three and a half percent of my time --

MS. HUGHES:  Correct.

MR. BASILIO:  -- goes to Hamilton Utilities Corporation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That would be the same for Mr. Cananzi and the rest of the executive team?

MR. BASILIO:  No.  Max, Mr. Cananzi, none of his time would be allocated to Hamilton Utilities Corporation.  He is not an officer of that corporation, nor does he have any responsibility, whatsoever, with respect to that corporation.  Nor do the other officers of Horizon, other than Marjorie, myself, and Sarah Hughes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could turn to attachment A-1 of your answer to Consumers Coalition Interrogatory No. 7.  This doesn't have an exhibit number.  None of the IR responses, I think, have exhibit numbers.  But in my binder, it is the first tab after the IRs itself, A-1, attachment A-1 to the IRs.

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have that?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, Mr. Warren referred you to the PowerPoint presentation that you made to your Board on December 13th.  This is the actual plan itself.

MR. BASILIO:  Correct, for Horizon Utilities on a combined basis, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is a three-year financial plan for the LDC.

MR. BASILIO:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it was approved by your board of directors after a presentation on December 13th?

MR. BASILIO:  That is correct.  It has since been revised for some items since that date, but this is the plan that was approved on December 13th.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When was it revised?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, the plan -- there hasn't been – sorry, the plan itself has not been -- I misspoke myself.

There is not a revised plan.  We revised our forecast in the normal course.  Sorry.  The plan itself has not been revised.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The forecast was revised when?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, we do a forecast on a quarterly basis for 2008.  You know, things tend not to trend exactly as you plan them out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So can you tell me when the last forecast was?

MR. BASILIO:  Last forecast would have been, well, financial statements, March 31st, we would have provided forecast results, first quarter forecast results as of March 31st.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You would have done that in April --


MR. BASILIO:  April, correct, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I wonder if you could undertake to file that?


MS. COCHRANE:  That will be undertaking J1.2.


MR. BASILIO:  They're unaudited, of course.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO PROVIDE FIRST QUARTER 2008 FORECASTS

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, this presentation in December, some of you were present for that presentation?


MR. BASILIO:  No.  It would have just been myself at the board meeting.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just yourself?


MR. BASILIO:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Not Mr. Cananzi?


MR. BASILIO:  Oh, nobody else on this panel.  Max Cananzi, of course; Marjorie Richards, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And I assume that you had a significant role in the preparation of this plan?


MR. BASILIO:  I won't take all of the credit.  Sarah had a big -- of course I am very much involved as the CFO, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And -- but I guess, you know, sort of the bottom-line responsibility for this is yours; right?


MR. BASILIO:  Absolutely.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is your document?


MR. BASILIO:  Right.  It is the CEO's document.  Obviously, I am responsible to him for that, but I think the substance of what you're saying, Jay -- or, Mr. Shepherd, is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you have -- on page 1 of this document, you have a report of the actuals for 2005, 2006, forecast for 2007, because you weren't finished yet?


MR. BASILIO:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Budget for 2008 and forecast for '9 and 2010; right?


MR. BASILIO:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The 2007 weren't actuals.  Were they ten and two or eleven and one?


MR. BASILIO:  Sorry, could you repeat that?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The 2007 were still forecasts, because it was December?


MR. BASILIO:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Were they ten and two or eleven and one?


MR. BASILIO:  I am not tracking.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, were they ten actual and two forecast, or were they eleven actual and one forecast?  It was December.  That's why I am asking.


MR. BASILIO:  Oh, well, this would have been based on a third quarter forecast, September 30th.  So it would have been nine and three.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do you know whether the actuals ended up -- the final actuals for the year ended up being significantly different?


MR. BASILIO:  Marginally lower.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Marginally lower profit or marginally lower cost?


MR. BASILIO:  Profit.


MR. SHEPHERD:  As a result of the revenue line?


MR. BASILIO:  Well, as a result of -- you mean compared to -- what would be the basis of comparison would be the forecast, I suppose?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, the nine and three.


MR. BASILIO:  Well, again, very modest difference.  I think net income was 14.7, something like that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So not material?


MR. BASILIO:  No.  It was very close.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, you put the 2005 to 2007 numbers in here, it says here, because you had an initial business plan and these three are intended to, in a sense, report against that business plan; right?


MR. BASILIO:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that initial business plan, is that in this proceeding?  Is that filed somewhere?


MR. BASILIO:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's similar to this; right?


MR. BASILIO:  It would report the same numbers, of course, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But the actual plan is not filed in this proceeding?


MR. BASILIO:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have any reason why you couldn't file it if I asked you to?


MR. BASILIO:  What would be the purpose or relevance of requesting it?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what I want to see is how your actuals track to your planning.  You have your plan here for 2008 to 2010, and if your actuals track to planning substantially better than your original forecast, your original business plan, then that tells us what your 2008 to 2010 is likely to be like.


MR. BASILIO:  I don't agree -- I do not agree with that statement.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a standard due diligence technique, Mr. Basilio.  You use it in M&A.


MR. BASILIO:  You have the results faithfully here, the results of that business plan.  I don't see the relevance of providing a thicker document that, in sum total, is going to report the exact same results.  So I would be reluctant to provide that and have, you know, again -- you know, and, respectfully, I don't agree with the assertion that history is necessarily a predictor of the future.


We filed 1,500 pages of evidence.  We filed an additional 500 pages or so of responses to interrogatories.  There has been a fair bit of due diligence done and that will be continued to be done on 2008.


Giving you that document is simply going to -- I think it is going to precipitate, you know, additional process that, frankly, isn't -- from my perspective and with all due respect, isn't really warranted at this point.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I am asking for an interrogatory and I guess --


MR. KAISER:  The purpose of the information, as I understand it, Mr. Shepherd, is you want to determine how closely the 2005 and 2006 actuals compare with the forecasted figures.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And 2007, yes.


MR. KAISER:  The previous business plan.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Management teams typically have a pattern of whether they forecast higher or lower.


MR. KAISER:  We understand the argument.  Mr. Sidlofsky, it may or may not have relevance, but do you think you could produce it so we can move on?  I presume the document is readily available.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, subject to our concerns about the relevance, I think the document can be produced.


MR. KAISER:  You can always argue the relevance.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And we likely will, but I think the document can be produced.


MR. BASILIO:  A 200-page...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, Mr. Basilio, these --


MS. COCHRANE:  Just a moment.  We haven't made that an undertaking.  J1.3.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. BASILIO:  Can I just clarify this is the initial business plan you are requesting?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The one you referred to here, IBP you called it.


MR. BASILIO:  The initial business plan document.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


Now, the ROE figures on this page, these are not regulated -- calculated on a regulate basis; right?  These are actual return achieved or expected to achieve based on actual equity; right?


MR. BASILIO:  Actual ending equity, excluding contributed surplus from the merger.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so your actual equity in every year is significantly higher than the Board approved; right?  The actual equity in every year is 50, 52, 53, like that; right?


MR. BASILIO:  It's higher.  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, in fact, Exhibit 4.2 to this document, which you find several pages along, Exhibit 4.2 says "balance sheet".


MR. BASILIO:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  With all the supporting schedules.  And it has percent funded debt and capital structure.  So if we just deduct that from 100 percent, we will get your actual equity each year; right?


MR. BASILIO:  Well, that is the equity -- right.  That's correct.  It's higher, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then these ROE figures are actually understated relative to a regulated return, because a regulated return is on a smaller number; right?


MR. BASILIO:  Well, it is, other than you would have to adjust your P&L for carrying charges on the debt, and
so --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. BASILIO:  -- would have to go through and -- that's an exercise that -- I can't do that math in my mind, but it would be higher.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course.  The point is it would be higher.  The other thing you have to adjust for is these figures include a small amount of revenue and costs associated with your unregulated businesses within the LDC; right?


MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But that's not material?


MR. BASILIO:  Not material -- not material in terms of assets, but -- not material -- not insignificant in terms of income, not from my perspective, anyway.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well --


MR. BASILIO:  I think about $800,000 of income, I believe, came from unregulated activities in -- I am just looking back here to Exhibit -- if we look at Exhibit 2 of that document, we were forecasting unregulated billing and energy services income of about $830,000.


It isn't material.  Probably not.  It is not insignificant, though.  It certainly has an impact on ROE, when you consider there aren't many assets associated with those businesses.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Those businesses include the co-gen?


MR. BASILIO:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is just --


MR. BASILIO:  Water billing, meter services and -- not water heater rentals.  Water heater rentals forward from 2008 in the unregulated affiliate of Horizon.  This is a consolidated picture for Horizon Utilities.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is a consolidated figure for the LDC; right?


MR. BASILIO:  No.  Exhibit 4 is a consolidated picture for Horizon Utilities, which is -- really, it is the Horizon holdings group.  There is a parent company, Horizon Holdings Inc.  The LDC is Horizon Utilities Corporation, and there is an unregulated affiliate wholly owned by Horizon Holdings Inc.  That is Horizon Energy Solutions Inc.


So this is a consolidated picture for those three, but principally, for the most part, the assets, liabilities and whatnot relate to the LDC.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So help me understand this.  The Utility is Horizon Utilities Corporation?

MR. BASILIO:  From sort of a financial -- it's Horizon Holdings Inc. on a consolidated basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not what this says.  This is the three-year plan for Horizon Utilities Corporation.  That's what it says.  First line.

MR. BASILIO:  I guess I just can't recall whether it clarifies that point within the document, off the top of my head.

If I could just --

MR. SHEPHERD:  I will take you to page 2.  This may help.  Third paragraph, says, I quote:
"Substantially all of the profitability and investment of Horizon is attributable to its local electricity distribution operations, which are regulated by the Ontario Energy Board."

MR. BASILIO:  Well, that's correct.  Substantially all.  That's right.  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It doesn't include your co-gen, it doesn't include any of the other holding company things.

MR. BASILIO:  Sorry.  It doesn't include the co-gen.  The co-gen isn't an asset attributable to the Horizon group.

The co-gen is attributable to Hamilon Utilities Corporation and its investments outside of Horizon.  But
it --

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is just the regulated company, plus the billing services?

MR. BASILIO:  Plus the billing services, plus a meter services provider business, plus a small portfolio of water heater rentals -- $700,000 or thereabouts -- and a very modest rental of sentinel lights and street lights.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, this plan doesn't include any of the benefits associated with future OM&A activity, right, including Guelph?

MR. BASILIO:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you expect there will be some, but this is a sort of a business-as-usual plan, right?

MR. BASILIO:  This is a business case that has been prepared mindful of the Guelph merger, but without any anticipated benefits from that merger.

This is Horizon as it is today, status quo, if we continued without a merger.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Mr. Chairman, it is five after eleven.  Do you want to take a break now?

MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Would this be a convenient time?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  20 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 11:04 a.m.
 
--- Upon resuming at 11:28 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


Mr. Shepherd.

Procedural matters:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, if I could just interrupt Mr. Shepherd, I apologize for this, but I have two items that have come up during the break, if I could just raise them with you.


First of all, undertaking J1.3 was for a -- was to provide a copy of the initial business plan referred to in the 2008 budget and the three-year financial plan.


Horizon is prepared to provide copies of that document to the intervenors, subject to the confidential filing guidelines of the Board.  That document contains information that not only was relevant to the -- to the St. Catharines-Hamilton Hydro merger, but also is relevant to future merger discussions, be it with Guelph or other potential partners in consolidation.


So Horizon has no difficulty with providing it to intervenors that have executed the Board's form of confidentiality undertaking, but it does contain sensitive commercial information that shouldn't be disclosed publicly.


MR. KAISER:  Was the 2008 one that we have in the evidence filed in confidence?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, that brings me to my next --


MR. KAISER:  I know it says "strictly private and confidential", but I don't see any confidential filing here.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I am advised, sir, that it was incorrectly provided on the public record.  I had a chance to speak briefly about this with Mr. Basilio at the break, and I understand that it should not have been produced.


Horizon had no difficulty producing the document.  It should not have been produced publicly.  It should have been subject to confidentiality requirements.  So I am in your hands at this point --


MR. KAISER:  Well, the horse is out of the barn with respect to this one, but what, in this one, would be confidential?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  In the one that you do have, sir?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, the one we have before us.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Future revenue projections.  As I said, it is not that Horizon isn't trying to take that off the record completely.  But those -- the forecast revenues, expenses, they would be of concern for potential consolidation partners in the future.


It is commercially sensitive information for the utility.  I believe it may be possible to redact some of that material, but it would be the forward-looking forecasts, I believe, in both the plan and the presentation.


MR. KAISER:  Is it your position that all forecasts of regulated income is confidential?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I think Mr. Basilio might have a comment on that, but it comes in the context of consolidation and merger activity, and Horizon is concerned that that information not be made a matter of public record.


MR. KAISER:  Can you tell me how it adversely affects you in your merger activity if somebody knows your forecasted revenue?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  If Mr. Basilio would like to speak to that?


MR. BASILIO:  Well, generally speaking, both with respect to mergers and whatnot, it is future-oriented financial information.  The release of such would generally be controlled.  This is information that is used by, you know, not just prospective merger partners, but it is used by lending institutions.  We do issue -- we do have third-party credit.  You know, we do have credit facilities to consider, and those sort of things.


So this is information that generally is sensitive.  It does get out, but it is about management being able to control its release to ensure that it's delivered and received in the appropriate context.  So that's our concern.

As Jamie said, we're in your hands at this point, but certainly if we could turn back time, we would have requested, at the time it was submitted, that it be submitted under the confidentiality provisions.


With respect to the merger business case and the initial business plan referred to in the document, that's quite a lengthy document.  It's a blueprint on how to do mergers.  While LDCs don't compete directly, certainly they're competing in the merger landscape and we just don't want to hand over sort of, you know, the keys to a model that we have worked hard on, that we have spent a lot of money on, and have that available publicly.


So those are the principal reasons why we would like that information to be treated under, you know, the confidentiality rules, I suppose, for providing evidence in this proceeding.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, with respect to the earlier business plan, we accept the view of the company that if it puts a map of their M&A strategy, that that's something you don't want out everywhere, particularly over the next few years, and we have no problem with that being confidential.


I think that the one that is currently filed, there's two problems with that.  Number one is I don't see anything in there that would give anybody any competitive advantage whatsoever.  Number two, as you correctly point out, the horse has left that barn, and the confidentiality undertaking that we all signed specifically says once it's public, it is not confidential anymore.


So those are our submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren, anything on this?


MR. WARREN:  No.


MR. KAISER:  Well, since Mr. Shepherd -- I am not sure I would agree with Mr. Shepherd, but since he's agreeing to accept the first document in confidence, we will -- or the undertaking in confidence, I should say, J1.3, we will deal with that on this basis.


This one, Mr. Sidlofsky, is on the public record.  There is nothing we can do about it now.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, sir.  Should we mark that one with an X, then?  I think that is the Board's practice.


MR. KAISER:  X it is.

UNDERTAKING NO. X1.3:  TO PROVIDE INITIAL BUSINESS PLAN.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, there was one other item.  We had -- Horizon had advised that they would check at the morning break for Mr. Warren on whether anywhere in the application material there was a forecast of the regulated return for 2009 and 2010.


Horizon can provide that.  They don't have it available right now, but they will -- they're prepared to give an undertaking to provide that.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Did we give that a number?  I don't think so.


MR. WARREN:  No.


MR. KAISER:  Can we give that a number, please?


MS. COCHRANE:  That will be Exhibit J1.4 -- sorry, undertaking J1.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO PROVIDE FORECAST OF REGULATED RETURN FOR 2009 AND 2010


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, just before Mr. Shepherd resumes, on the reasonable confidence that Mr. Shepherd will hoover up every possible question that I would have asked, I wonder if I might be excused, sir, rather than spending the day waiting here?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, Mr. Warren.


MR. WARREN:  Thank you.

Cross-examination by Mr. Shepherd (continued):


MR. SHEPHERD:  So we were looking at this business plan, Mr. Basilio, and witnesses.


On page 2 of that business plan, there is a chart that talks about the increase in your revenue requirement, $8.8 million, and it has your smart meters and your ERP.  I understand what those are.


But then you have this $4.1 million that says, "capital and other strategic investments, inflation since 2004" -- I don't understand that -- "and less prior merger benefits".


 I guess my first question is:  Is this -- you are reporting to your board and you're saying, We're asking for another $8.8 million in revenue requirement.  That's compared to 2007?


MS. COCHRANE:  Excuse me, Mr. Shepherd, we're having a hard time hearing back here.  If you could get closer to your mike?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I moved mikes so I wouldn't have my fan near it.  Now my mouth isn't near it.


MR. BASILIO:  I had a difficult time hearing, as well, but I think I got enough to capture the substance of the question.


This is really showing the increase -- trying to justify the increase in revenue requirement that we are asking for in this application.


The last rebasing exercise that took place was in our 2006 rate application, which was based on 2004 costs and rate base at the time.  So it is trying to bring the Board forward at a high level on the justification for asking for an additional $8.8 million of revenue requirement.


So with respect to the first line, you know, we have had increases in costs that are provided for in our application, the interrogatories, and, of course, we are prepared to speak to individual items.  So there are those items since 2004.

There's inflation since 2004, some of which has been accommodated in IRM, but, frankly, not very much, and, as well, prior merger benefits, being netted against that number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You're not actually having a problem making your regulated return, are you?  In those years that you didn't get any rate increases and the Board was so terrible to you, you actually aren't doing too bad, right?

MR. BASILIO:  The returns are as reported, with a great deal of effort, though.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not saying you're not working hard to do it.  Of course --

MR. BASILIO:  You said easily.  Not easily.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, sorry.  I didn't mean to imply you weren't working hard.

The $8.8 million is an increase from 2007, right?  Am I right that that's, if I look at page 5 of School's interrogatories, you have a chart and you have at the top a deficiency of $8.764 million, that's that 8.8 million, right?

MR. McKENZIE:  Sorry?  Could you repeat the question, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Take a look at Page 5 of School's interrogatories.

MR. McKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You see, this is a chart of your revenue deficiency determination, it has all of your calculations for each year.


MR. McKENZIE:  Right, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Under 2008, you have $8.764 million, that's that same 8.8 million; correct?

MR. McKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that is a 9.4 percent rate increase, on average?

MR. BASILIO:  You've got 10.16, but, yes, I mean take your word.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, then you say on page 3 of this report to your board, that the cost per customer is only increasing 5.3 percent.  I don't understand how those two track.

MR. BASILIO:  I am just looking back -- there is an exhibit, I think, that provides -- or an appendix --

Do we have the financial, that last document we were referring to?  Yes.  Let me just see if it is in here.

Cost per customer information, so the 8.8 million, of course, is revenue requirement.  And the computation of revenue requirement, as you know, has two principal components -- one relates to OM&A costs, the other one relates to rate base -- which are essentially investments in the distribution system.

So while growth in revenue requirement will strongly correlate to growth in OM&A, that's one component.  The other very significant component, of course, is rate base, and investments over time, you know, that lead to increases in rate base.  Of course we do have some very significant investments that contribute to that, such as smart meters and ERP, which are really the principal increases in our capital program.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're saying this increase of 5.3 percent is only OM&A.

MR. BASILIO:  I thought we had a cost per customer.  Okay.  Can you provide me with the reference for your 5.4 percent?

MR. SHEPHERD:  5.3 percent, page 3 of your report to the -- your business plan, the second paragraph.
"Average cost per customer is anticipated to increase by approximately 5.3 percent in 2008."

MR. BASILIO:  Page 3 of the business plan.  Oh.

MS. HUGHES:  Exhibit 3 has it.

MR. BASILIO:  Thank you.  Right.

5.3 percent, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's OM&A, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Per customer?

MR. BASILIO:  Per customer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I just heard you say, I think, that - I will come back to it.

MR. BASILIO:  Over 2007, of course.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, over 2007.

MR. BASILIO:  Which --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, go ahead.

MR. BASILIO:  Well, which doesn't correlate to the analysis that we're making on page 2.

Again, cost per customer, our present revenue requirement is based on 2004 rate base, subject to one adjustment for IRM of one percent.  Is that correct?

MS. HUGHES:  On rates.

MR. McKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. BASILIO:  On rates?  So if we were trying to correlate the growth in cost per customer to the growth that we're asking for in revenue requirement, we really need to look over a four-year period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I'm still looking at page 3 here, and it says your increase in 2008 costs principally reflects SMIP, which I guess is smart meters.

MR. BASILIO:  Smart Meter investment plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fusion, which is your ERP?

MR. BASILIO:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Business development, that is your new OM&A people --

MR. BASILIO:  Those positions that were queried earlier, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And your tree-trimming change?

MR. BASILIO:  Correct.  Principally.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And also you say this 4.1 million dollars in increase, back at page 2 --

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- it says: "Capital and other strategic investments."  What's that "strategic investment" refer to?

MR. BASILIO:  Those would be investments in asset management.  I will invite -- let me just pause for a minute.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BASILIO:  Some of those strategic investments would be -- we usually think about investments in terms of capital, but we, as we heard earlier, I believe, in the evidence-in-chief, we have added human resources to deal with retirements, to get ahead of the skilled trades issue, and to support our customers.  That's one of those investments.

We are investing in asset management processes.  There's some various other -- and capital growth over a four-year period, the impact of capital growth.

I mean, again, we haven't rebased rate base since 2004, so we have four years of additions to capex which includes renewal, new connections, you know, things of that nature.  So that --

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm having a hard time keeping track here.  You are switching back and forth between four years' increases and a one-year increase --

MR. BASILIO:  I'm not switching back at all.  I'm not switching back at all.  I'm saying that your contexts don't align.

The $8.8 million, that revenue sufficiency relates to a gap in investments over a four-year period.  We were rebased last, based on 2004 balance sheet and income statement.

So this 8.8 reflects revenue sufficiency to make up growth in our capital, and growth in our OM&A, over that period of time.

The 5.3 percent relates to growth, relates to year-over-year cost per customer change.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So Mr. Basilio, your first statement there that the 8.8 percent is over four years, that is just not correct.  Because this says it is a one-year increase, isn't it?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, it's a one-year -- the $8.8 million, I think -- let me just, can I read the sentence for a minute?
"2008 EDR application provides for an additional $8.8 million of revenue requirement to compensate rising and now Horizon costs and investments along with the regulated return on investment."


The context -- computing this, this is a gap between 2004 and 2008.  I mean, that is the nature of the calculation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that's not correct, and so I am going to take --


MR. BASILIO:  It is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to take you to page 5 of the School Energy Coalition interrogatories.  You have a column that says "2008 test at existing rates", and then you have another column that adds $8.8 million to get what you are asking for.  It is an $8.8 million increase over one year; correct?


MR. BASILIO:  It's $8.8 million in addition to what we're charging our customers in 2007, correct, but I think the context is misleading.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, I understand.


Your 2007 cost per customer is $173.52; is that right?


MR. BASILIO:  You're referring to?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it is actually on -- in your schedule 3 of this document.


MR. BASILIO:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exhibit 3, rather, this document.


MR. BASILIO:  That's our -- that was our forecast cost per customer, correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You came in pretty close to that?


MR. BASILIO:  Pretty close.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there a material difference?


MR. BASILIO:  I don't have the number.  I am trying to think what the...  I don't think -- not materially different, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I looked at your incentive compensation plan.  Now, that is - I'm looking at too many places at once - attachment A to School's IR -- to School's IRs.  You have your incentive plan for 2007 and 2008, and you have attached to that the 2007 corporate metrics, and then the 2008 corporate metrics.


Do you see that?


MR. BASILIO:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And a big chunk of your management incentives is related to what's called controllable costs per customer, this number we're just talking about, which ended up being $173.52; right?


MR. BASILIO:  Well, that's a 2007 number, correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  And, in fact, your threshold - that is, if you got -- it was actually 173.52.  In order to get a bonus on that basis, you had to get down to 168.04; right?  That's what this says.


MR. BASILIO:  Well, this document says these are 2008 metrics, of course.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, 2007.  I am reading the page that says 2007 corporate metrics.


MR. BASILIO:  Sorry, do I have -- where is 2007?


MS. HUGHES:  It's -- the first piece is 2007.  Page 4.


MR. BASILIO:  Oh, 2007.  Yes.  Yes, continue.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So in order to get a bonus on that component of the incentive plan, you had to get down below 168.04; right?


MR. BASILIO:  168.04?  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so nobody got a bonus on the basis of controllable costs per customer in 2007?


MR. BASILIO:  These are applied to items that had been approved in 2007, at the time, and excluded smart meters.


So the target -- and this base here is a forecast for 2007.  We would have set a target for the year that was based on the base controllable cost per customer in 2007.  That's how 2007 was done.


ERP was not an approved project at the time that these metrics, lower ERP costs -- ERP was not an approved project at the time that these metrics were conceived.  These metrics would have been conceived in December of 2006, or thereabouts.  We would have still been in the procurement process for ERP.


Smart meters, we isolated it.  It was something we had to do.  We were very much focussed on costs we could control.  There was still some procurement going on.  So those things were isolated.


So the target was set with respect -- in 2007 with respect to, at the time, what the budget would have been for the base controllable costs per customer less an incentive, a management incentive.


So what we -- basically what we're saying to management is, Look, here is your budget for the year.  We want you to do better.  We're in an IRM environment.  We're going to be challenged.  Let's find ways to do things smarter and faster.


And so the target would have been the budget, less an incentive.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you actually achieved was 173.52, but I take it that for the purposes of incentive payments, you pretended you actually achieved 162.16, which is the number on Exhibit 3 without ERP and smart meters, and you got your full bonus?


MR. BASILIO:  I think I just explained quite plainly how the bonus targets were set.  They weren't set in that manner.  Management was measured against what it could control, which is the way to incent management.  You want people to -- you want to set targets that are aggressive, you know, that -- you want to reward for what people can control.


So we set them, again -- I mean, I'm probably just adding here to the record for things I have already said.  We set it based on what was known at the time, what was in our control, the base controllable costs per customer.  Smart meters were not approved as a business case until May of 2007.  We did not have a budget for those; smart meters still somewhat of an unknown in terms of costs; still some procurement going on.

So management was focussed on -- management is focussed on all of these things, of course, and I can tell you, as the executive sponsor of the ERP project, that my delivery of that project, you know, in accordance with the plan, will be measured.  So that will be a component of future compensation.


It wasn't for the purposes of 2007.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not for the purpose of 2008, either; right?


MR. BASILIO:  For the purposes of 2008, it is.  So if you are referring to the next page, what I can tell you is the threshold -- this was not fully complete at the time -- now, we would have filed -- is this evidence or is this a response to an interrogatory?


MS. HUGHES:  This is a response to an interrogatory.


MR. BASILIO:  Right.  This is not correct.  The target is set at 181.77.  It is set at the budget.  That's our basis for setting performance.


We set aggressive budgets and we tell people, Hit your budget and you will earn your target incentive.

Recognizing that things happen in the year that are out of our control, we set a threshold, which is the point after which no bonus for that particular item.


To the extent that employees do better than target, there's some discretion to pay in excess to the maximum of their percentage based on, you know, relative level in the organization.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that was a lot.  Two questions.  First, so this 2008 corporate metrics is wrong?  The correct number --


MR. BASILIO:  It has been revised, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It was revised when?


MR. BASILIO:  I can't recall exactly.  I believe it would have been in advance of the year end board meeting, which was February 28th.  So sometime in there, it would have been approved through our board of directors process.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So now the new target is 181.77, and what's the threshold?


MR. BASILIO:  The threshold, I believe it's either four or five dollars off that mark.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It was five dollars before.


MR. BASILIO:  It's five dollars, then.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you haven't filed that in evidence subsequently?


MR. BASILIO:  I'm happy to provide it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You've told us.  It's okay.


The second question is -- my original question, I set you off by using a volatile term.  My fault.


What I meant to say was that you end up measuring incentives against original budget, which was -- sorry, you measure the component that is apples to apples to the original budget, so you delivered on 162.16, and your target was 163, something or other.


So you got your full bonus?


MR. BASILIO:  Well, the budget wasn't 162.16, of course.  That's a forecast, 2007.  That would have been a September 30th 2007 forecast.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's what you delivered, though; right?  That's your result, 162.16?


MR. BASILIO:  No.  At the time this report was prepared - this would have been approved in December of 2007 -- we didn't have actual audited results at this time.  So this would be still a September 30th forecast number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, but you just told us there is no material difference between this and the actual --

MR. BASILIO:  Sure.  Sorry, I didn't draw the --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So has your cost per customer gone down from the old Hamilton and St. Catharines days?  You had all of these merger benefits.  I assume you drove cost per customer down?

MR. BASILIO:  At this point in time, controllable costs per customer would be rising relative to what the combined controllable costs would have been for Hamilton and St. Catharines.  The reason for that is four years of inflation, requirement for some new investments as they're outlined in here, offset those benefits, and also new energy policy requirements such as smart meters, really a false economy with respect to our ERP and IT architecture contributing significant costs.

So overall, no, costs are rising.

However, we would be asking for an additional, between St. Catharines and ourselves in the absence of the merger, we would be here today in the unfortunate circumstance of asking for an additional $5.4 million of revenue sufficiency, plus inflation on those costs over time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have the costs per customer numbers from 2002, 2003 and 2004?  Are they reasonably readily available?  I assume you can get them directly out of your 2005 -- or 2006 EDR application, right?

MR. BASILIO:  We would have them.  Mary would have them.  They would be on public record.  I believe the Energy Board put out a study as well of those costs over a three-year period, so they're available in a variety of places.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have any objection to filing those three years calculated on the same basis as this, so we can compare?

MR. BASILIO:  We are our filings?

MR. McKENZIE:  We have the filings.  We also have the information filed with the Board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think 2002 through 2005 will give us a timeline.

MR. BASILIO:  2002 through 2005, it might be difficult to get that information for St. Catharines for that period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have the 2006 EDR application, which has all of that stuff, right?

MR. BASILIO:  It would have had that?

MR. McKENZIE:  It will have the costs, yes

MR. BASILIO:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  J1.5.

MS. COCHRANE:  That's right.  Mr. Chairman.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5: To provide costs per customer for 2002, 2003 and 2004.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you talked with Mr. Warren for a few minutes about the people you have working on the Guelph deal.

I am not going to hoe that field again, but I do want to ask just a couple of questions to follow up, if I can find them.

You have been working on the Guelph deal since early last year?

MR. BASILIO:  Sometimes it feels like forever, but it has been -- I am just trying to think when we would have started our discussions.  It would have been March or I April, I believe, of 2007.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the team is three management people, are spending material amounts of time on it, you, Mr. Cananzi and Ms. Richards?  Is that right?

MR. BASILIO:  We're spending time on the transaction, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Plus a number of support staff that assist from time to time, as you say.

MR. BASILIO:  Assist with analysis and whatnot, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Things like due diligence and stuff like that now.

MR. BASILIO:  A lot of the due diligence is really being performed by consultants and legal.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have said that -- all of that, of course, all of those costs are being charged to the ratepayers that are included in your budget here, your test year budget, right?  The 2008 ones.

MR. BASILIO:  Any cost that is related -- any third-party incremental cost, since we signed the MOU, we believe we have a transaction.  That's where I would say, you know, for the purposes of my view on what transaction costs are, is you have a live deal.

So forward from the date of the live deal, which would have been when we signed the memorandum of understanding, and a little bit before with respect to third party costs, no third party legal, accounting, we have had Kinectrics do a condition of assets assessment, those sort of costs are not in this rate base.

What is in this rate base are the continuing costs of management that are required to support the LDC, that are required to do such irrespective of a merger transaction, that aren't discrete, and that, frankly, are working beyond the bounds of what I think is reasonable to support this transaction, along with other projects going on.

So I think that deserves some context.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. BASILIO:  Basically sunk costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.  The costs you spend next week, which is in your budget, on negotiating with Guelph is not sunk yet, and it doesn't need to be a ratepayer cost unless this Board allocates it to the ratepayer.  Right?

MR. BASILIO:  It's the Board's decision, of course.  I don't dispute that.  My comment on sunk costs is really that irrespective of the merger transaction, Horizon will have a chief financial officer.  Whether or not that is me, who knows, but it will have an officer.  That officer will likely have the same level of compensation, and one way or another it will be a cost to Horizon Utilities Corporation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your basic argument is there is no incremental cost to doing this except to third parties.

MR. BASILIO:  Exactly.  And I think that is the traditional approach to transaction costs, and again, we're trying to act within -- you know, it is important to get this -- we're acting, in our view, within the spirit and context of the decision, the report of the Board on distributor consolidations, ratemaking associated with distributor consolidation.

What is required to support the LDC is in rate base.  What is reasonably -- this Guelph merger could fail.  It could fail tomorrow, and be gone.

We're all still required, to support the LDC.

You know, I think a traditional view of transactions costs is, you know, they're additional costs to support a transaction, incremental costs, costs that would not otherwise be incurred in the absence of such a transaction.

MR. KAISER:  If it fails, what are you going to do with the expense?

MR. BASILIO:  If it fails, the expenses, again, those expenses that we have capitalized, which are legal, consulting, basically, you know, costs not otherwise incurred to support the utility, are for the account of the shareholder.  The shareholder takes a hit.  We will not be asking for them in a future rate application.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You mentioned the Kinectrics study.  It's an asset condition study, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have capitalized that.  Have you capitalized it or have you treated it as for account of the shareholder, which?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, I mean it's cash.  Cash is cash.  But for accounting purposes, the appropriate accounting for transactions that have a more likely than not success of occurring, those costs are capitalized until such time as the transaction occurs, the way the accounting rules work, and some of these things are silly conventions practically.  Some are capitalized as a component of goodwill.  Others find their ways into expense.

But either way, cash costs impact shareholders. At the end of the day, you can only pay dividends with cash.  Whether they're on the balance sheet or in the income statement, it is cash not available for a shareholder.

MR. SHEPHERD:  As long as you don't ask for it from the ratepayers?

MR. BASILIO:  Which we would not do, and which, according to the Board's own policy on this, I don't believe we can ask for it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the reason you are charging the Kinectrics money to the shareholder is because they're a third party.

If I understand you correctly, if the same activities were done by internal staff, then the ratepayers would pay for it, right?

MR. BASILIO:  No, I don't think that is -- I don't think that's necessarily correct.

You know, we do our own -- in the normal course, we'll assess the condition of our assets.  But in the course of a transaction, the requirement for Kinectrics is good due diligence, and good due diligence requires an objective view for the parties.

So, one, we would never do this internally for the transaction.  But you know, two, if we did, it would be sort of a, I don't know.  Again, they're not resources that are -- I think the answer is no, it is not -- I don't think it is a good analogy, you know, when we're talking about in the context of due diligence.

Naturally our engineering group is doing routine condition of assets assessments to serve as a basis for proper capital planning.  The reason for Kinectrics performing its due diligence is in a completely different context.  So --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is?


MR. BASILIO:  Which is to provide both parties with objective evidence as to the condition of their assets, so that they can make an objective assessment of whether or not what Horizon or Guelph, respectively, are purporting are their condition of assets is, in fact, the case.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Mr. Basilio, I have done a lot of M&A work, and I understand that you have to do a lot of due diligence.  Some of it is done by third parties.  Some of it is done internally.  True, right, your due diligence?


MR. BASILIO:  Well, of course some of it is done internally, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If it is done by a third party, the shareholder pays it.  If it is done by an internal person, the ratepayers pay it.  That is your rule; right?


MR. BASILIO:  Well, again, Jay, I think my -- or Mr. -- I think my point here is that staff's involvement with M&A, staff are required to support the LDC.  Their costs are required irrespective of the merger transaction.  So it is a differentiation in the nature of costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, Mr. Basilio, it was a very straightforward question.  I really just want a nice clear answer.  You have a rule about what you allocate to the shareholder and what you allocate to the ratepayer.


That doesn't consider the nature of the work.  It only considers who does it.  Is that right or wrong?


MR. BASILIO:  I don't think that is correct.  I think the nature of what we would classify as a transaction cost is as follows:  Incremental costs that would not otherwise be borne to support the utility that relate to the transaction.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And there are no costs of internal staff that, in your view, are incremental?


MR. BASILIO:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.


You told Mr. Warren that you have forecast savings in the business case, right, with the Guelph deal?


MR. BASILIO:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you say that document is confidential?


MR. BASILIO:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you also said --


MR. BASILIO:  It is not an entirely developed document, I guess is the other point.  This isn't a final document.  This is a document that goes through various iterations, and it is now at a very important iteration, with the last level of stakeholders involved in the document, and those are the municipalities that represent the prospective shareholders of the new Horizon.  


So it is a developmental piece of work at this point in time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood, except the other thing you said is, in the next few weeks, you're going to be going out to the public and having a public consultation process.  Presumably, you are going to tell them about the benefits of this, aren't you?


MR. BASILIO:  Yes, we are, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're not going to tell them numbers?


MR. BASILIO:  No, I don't believe we are.  But I am not involved in the -- I don't believe we are telling them the dollar numbers, but I am not sure, I guess, is the bottom line.  I haven't -- I am not sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're going to go out to the public and say, This is going to be great for you, but we're not going to tell you how great?


MR. BASILIO:  We want the business plans to be finalized and approved with our shareholders.  It is typical process for us.


I can't answer the first question, because my chief executive officer and my -- you know, our vice president of corporate services are the ones working on the communication, which is the extent of a few large - what do you call them?


MS. HUGHES:  Storyboards.


MR. BASILIO:  -- storyboards that will all speak to...


But as to the specifics, we wouldn't want to get into a lot of detail, one.  We would want to extol the benefits at a high level at this point.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are going to be asked questions?


MR. BASILIO:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are not going to answer them?


MR. BASILIO:  I think we will answer the questions as is appropriate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


This particular business case you have said is confidential, and I understand that.  And I accept it is in fact confidential, and I am going to ask you to undertake to file it, in any case, on a confidential basis.


MR. KAISER:  What's the relevance of this, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it shows the benefits that are going to accrue from the Guelph transaction, which is, you know, sort of pretty well along and none of which are included in any of the numbers in the application.


My friend's position, I think, is -- or Mr. Basilio's position, which I assume is Mr. Sidlofsky's position, is that the company is entitled to keep them.  The shareholder is entitled to keep them.  


I think that is true -- after your cost of service year, that's true.  But if you do a deal in your cost of service year, I don't think that is true at all.


MR. KAISER:  How does it impact on this case?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because there will be benefits that will be accrued to the benefit of either the ratepayers or the shareholder, and there are significant costs, as Mr. Warren pointed out, that the company is asking the ratepayers to pay.


MR. KAISER:  So you're saying that if you can establish that the benefits exceed the costs, it might impact the rates we would approve effective May 1st, 2008? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I think I am saying two things.  First of all, there may be benefits in the initial year.  I suspect there probably will be.


But even if there are not, there will still be -- there is still the overall impact of the costs that they're incurring internally that the ratepayers are paying, and it's a legitimate argument for us to say, Look it, you are going to get these benefits, shareholder, which we know how much they are.  So at the very least, you should eat this portion of the ratepayers' costs this year, because you're going to get more benefits yourself.  


But we can't do that unless we know what the benefits are.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Sidlofsky.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, this isn't Horizon's 2011, '12 or '13 rate application when the intervenors are certainly entitled to look at the benefits that have come out of any merger that takes place with Guelph.  This is their 2008 application.


I can understand Mr. Warren's concern, and I can understand my friend Mr. Shepherd's concern, about whether there are costs that are being incurred by Horizon this year, in working toward the merger, that they will suggest should be borne by the shareholder and not the ratepayer.  


But that is not the same as looking at potential benefits of a proposed merger.  That will likely only be realized over the period of time that the Board recognizes utilities will be permitted to retain those benefits until their next rebasing.  That's not relevant for this period.


I can understand the concern, and I think Mr. Basilio has addressed the concern, about whether there are costs that are being incurred now by the utility that should be borne by the shareholder, rather than the ratepayer.


We have heard Mr. Shepherd on that with -- you know, in a number of questions here, but that is not -- that's not the same issue as looking at benefits of a merger that is yet to take place, that is still in the negotiation stage and will, in all likelihood, not be realized until the IRM period, and perhaps the extended IRM period, given the Board's report on rate-making implications of consolidations.


MR. KAISER:  With respect to the costs, my understanding is that your witnesses have said that any of the incremental costs, your legal fees or Kinetrics, or whoever, are not currently being charged to the ratepayer.  They're being held in some account somewhere.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  I secondly understand that if the deal is unsuccessful, the shareholder is going to eat all of those costs.  If the deal is successful, if the Guelph transaction closes, at what point do those costs come to the ratepayer and through what process, or do they?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  The transaction costs, my understanding, under the Board's MAADs process, is that the transaction costs would be recoverable.


MR. KAISER:  So is it your position we would have an opportunity to look at those costs at that point and they're not going to find their way into rates until then?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, I don't think this is the time that anyone would be looking at the question of whether those costs were being recovered.


They're certainly not being claimed in the 2008 application.


MR. KAISER:  I understand that.  I understand they're not being claimed.  We have heard from the company witness that they're over here.  They're not in this application.


If the deal is unsuccessful, they're never going to come to the ratepayer.  They're going to go to the shareholder.


MR. BASILIO:  That's right.


MR. KAISER:  If it is successful, they are going to come to the ratepayer at some point; yes or no?  


MS. CHAPLIN:  I didn't understand that to be Mr. Basilio's evidence, actually.


MR. BASILIO:  No.  Those costs will never come to the ratepayer, ever.


What the ratepayer will get at the next rebasing - and I will just make reference to the Board's paper on rate-making - the shareholder bears those costs.  The benefits, all the savings, will go to the benefits of customers a maximum of five years later, subject to some provisions about interim mergers, but basically in accordance with that paper.


Those costs will never find their way to the ratepayer.


MR. KAISER:  I just wanted to be clear, because I thought I heard you say, Mr. Sidlofsky, that you were going to claim the transaction costs as part of the MAADs application.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  No.  Sorry, sir, if I wasn't clear.  I thought what I had said was under the MAADs process, those costs would not be recoverable.


MR. KAISER:  Would not be.  Oh, I'm sorry.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Would not be recoverable.


MR. KAISER:  I misunderstood.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, can I make a suggestion for a simpler way of dealing with this?  I realize that the business case has caused a problem.  

Can I ask two simple questions?  Does the business case have any benefits in 2008 from the Guelph transaction?

MR. BASILIO:  No net benefits.  The costs of implementing this transaction will exceed any benefits realized in the first year, probably 18 months.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Second question is, is it correct to say that the total benefits over the next five years, the period when the shareholder would get the benefits, are some multiple, five or ten times all of the internal costs that you are incurring this year, fully allocated internal costs associate the with M and A activity?  Is that fair?

I understand you disagree with whether they should be connected.  But if you figured out that number, let's say it is a million dollars or a million-and-a-half dollars, whatever, the benefits will be some multiple of that?  Is that true?

MR. BASILIO:  The benefits will be some multiple, five to ten times aggressive.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You hope.  But you don't know.

MR. BASILIO:  Well, I would, you know, I would hope, but it is aggressive.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't need the business case then, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MS. GIRVAN:  Mr. Chair, could I just ask a clarification question?

MR. KAISER:  Yes, certainly.

MS. GIRVAN:  Mr. Basilio, I think that you said that all of the benefits will flow to the ratepayers at rebasing.  It's just the annual benefits.  It's not the benefits -- I would like to clarify that.

MR. BASILIO:  Of course.  That's correct.  Basically, the annualized savings will get through to customers in perpetuity, forward from the rebasing.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  Because the way that you answered the question implied that all of the benefits would somehow be captured in an account and returned to ratepayers on rebasing, so I just wanted to clarify that.  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, what happened with the St. Catharines merger was that you had all of these benefits over several years, and now you have come in with your first rebasing application and asked for a whopping great rate increase.  So it doesn't sound to me like you're giving any benefits back to the ratepayers.  How does that work?

MR. BASILIO:  I would be requesting an additional $5.4 million of revenue sufficiency in the absence of that transaction.

I think at both a high level and very detailed level, I think we have justified what's happened over the last four years and how those things have exceeded, you know, the savings from the merger.

I think reality is that mergers mitigate future rate increases.  That's the reality.  We would love to give our customers rate decreases year-over-year, but there is a very material mitigation.  We're asking for 8.8 million.  We would be, between St. Catharines and Hamilton Hydro Inc., we would be asking, you know -- and with hat in hand for, you know, $14 million or thereabouts, in the absence of that transaction.  There are very clear benefits for customers from mergers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

I want to ask you to look at page 9 of your business plan, back to the business plan.  I haven't forgotten about it.

This is a summary of your operating expenses from regulated operations now.  Yes?

MR. BASILIO:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It was presented to your board after the current application was filed, so this should be correct, right?  

MR. BASILIO:  Well, correct insofar as it is the budget, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  As an aside, now, this business plan references a previous submission to your board on the rate application.  Right?  You gave them a report.  You gave them a PowerPoint presentation, backup materials, at an earlier stage, October, I guess, right?

MR. BASILIO:  I can't recall the specific materials.  Certainly they would have received a report.

Did we file anything?

MR. SHEPHERD:  On page 2, it says:
"The board has already received from management a presentation, materials and the report related to the 2008 ER application."

MR. BASILIO:  Correct, correct then, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is not filed yet?

MR. BASILIO:  It wasn't filed.  There was no request for it on interrogatory.  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there anything confidential in it that we couldn't see?  It relates to your application, right?

MR. BASILIO:  I don't know.  I mean my general inclination is, no, there wouldn't be anything confidential in it, but I don't have it in front of me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I wonder if I could ask for you to undertake to provide that package, please.

MR. BASILIO:  Subject to letting us have a look to see if there is anything that we would view as commercial, and coming back and suggesting we provide that in confidence.  

MR. KAISER:  That is J1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.6:  To provide the previous submission to the board related to the 2008 ER application.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I looked at these changes to the regulated operating expenses and then I looked -- maybe you could take a look at page 33 of your responses to the interrogatories for Schools.

Page 33 and 34 is a detailed breakout of your OM&A actual, forecast and budget for historical bridge and test, plus percentage changes, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have agreed these numbers are accurate?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I looked at what you told your board.  You told your board your regulatory costs are going up by a half million dollars.  But you are telling this Board that they're going up -- it looks to me, and maybe I just misunderstood this -- by $290,000, about half of that.

Is there some reason why these numbers would be different?  I am just using that as an example.

MS. HUGHES:  I am just thinking about that one in specific.  But I can tell you, generally speaking, when we present -- when we prepared this budget to the board, we were trying to highlight sort of major material differences.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just stop you.  To the board of directors or these --

MS. HUGHES:  To the board of directors, to our board of directors.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. HUGHES:  We have tried to hit on the sort of significant highlights.

There won't always be a one-for-one matching of how we filed the OEB regulatory trial balance with how internally we report some of our departmental expenses.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this might be just an example of what Mr. McKenzie was talking about earlier, that in the departmental budget, there is some other stuff that isn't OEB charges.  It is external counsel and things like that?

MS. HUGHES:  Right, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, I got that.

Now you also have in your report to your board of directors, a $1.1 million increase in tree-trimming, but that's not disaggregated anywhere in this budget here, the OM&A budget, right?  I wouldn't find that $1.1 million increase on one line?  It is in a bunch of places?

MS. HUGHES:  You will, actually.  You will find it in, I believe it is the right-of-ways line item.  Under maintenance, if you look at the right-of-ways, you will actually see that one.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That 900,000 is the 1.1 million, so it is 900,000 there, plus something else?

MS. HUGHES:  Right.  I believe storm damage costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?

MS. HUGHES:  It has storm damage and other costs in there as well, I think.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

So the big things here are, you have a $1.2 million number for salaries and benefits that you reported to your board of directors.  And I looked at your OM&A budget and that doesn't look like anything in there.

So I wonder if you could just help me a little bit with that.

If I just look at G and A, for example, administrative and general, and you have in there four lines, as I can see it, that are:  Salaries and benefits; executive salaries and expenses; management salaries and expenses; gen admin salaries and expenses; and employee pensions and benefits.  Those four lines constitute your G and A remuneration cost, right?

MS. HUGHES:  If I could make a point of clarification, it is not just remuneration in those three categories.

So salaries and benefits represents one component of those costs, but not total costs of compensation.  That is not just compensation.

It would include -- if I could refer to a response that we made to the OEB to interrogatory number 23, if you go to page 54 and 55 of 157, we actually have broken out the cost drivers in those three accounts.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. HUGHES:  So some of these other costs, when we report to the board of directors, wouldn't necessarily be the salaries and benefits explanations.  We may put them on different lines.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But it is true, isn't it, that the component that is not salaries and benefits is not actually material in this total, is it?


MS. HUGHES:  Well, the total between these three accounts, I believe, increased by $4.4 million, if you go from 2006 to 2008.  And I believe that $2 million represents the increase in total compensation.  And I know that it now compares to the 1.2.


So there is a difference between how we have reported salaries and benefits to our board of directors versus -- we did file a confidential document with the OEB, confidential responses to OEB Staff, areas of concern, where we, in fact, on page 3 of 32 provided all --


MR. McKENZIE:  You can't refer to that.


MS. HUGHES:  Oh, I can't refer to that?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Chair, I am just going to interrupt Ms. Hughes there, because this goes into material that was prepared in the context of the ADR.


I think what Ms. Hughes is trying to do is provide some of the information that was provided in that material, without getting into the document that isn't before the Board but was simply prepared for the settlement -- for the purposes of the settlement conference.  


I think that is appropriate, that she provide that information, but the point here, I think, is for Ms. Hughes to be able to answer Mr. Shepherd's question, not to disclose material that was prepared solely for the settlement conference.


MS. HUGHES:  My apologies.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if it is possible to just put on the record, if I can find it, that set of numbers without referring to where they were before.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I think that is what Ms. Hughes is going to try to do.


MS. HUGHES:  Yes.  That's what I'm suggesting.


So in that document we do, in fact, show the salaries and benefits portion of the increase in those four line items for OEB category purposes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Ms. Hughes, perhaps it would help the Board, because the Panel doesn't have a copy of that material, if you could take Mr. Shepherd and the Panel through; simply provide that information to the Panel now.


MS. HUGHES:  How do I do that?  Take copies?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Can you read the information?


MS. HUGHES:  Yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, sir.


MS. HUGHES:  Okay.  In terms of the executive salaries and benefits, we're showing a total increase between 2006  -- sorry, 2007 and 2008 of just over $200,000 in executive compensation.


In account 5610, which is the management, we're showing approximately a $600,000 increase between 2007 and 2008.


In the general and administrative area, we're showing an increase between 2007 and 2008 of approximately $243,000.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MS. HUGHES:  Which is almost $1 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am going to have to do, I guess, is -- why don't we -- I don't want to spend a lot of time on the record going through these numbers and getting everything right and -- why don't we talk at the lunch break and see if we can put together something that puts it all in one place?


MR. KAISER:  All right.  It might be easier.  Let's take the lunch break now and see if you can work it out and file something that is mutually acceptable.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, sir.


MR. KAISER:  One hour.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:32 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 1:34 p.m. 


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


Mr. Shepherd.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  One preliminary matter I wanted to raise.  I spoke during the break with Mr. Sidlofsky, and I believe we have arranged for what this undertaking will be with respect to the compensation material, so I wonder if we could give that an undertaking number.


MR. KAISER:  J1.7.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I would describe it as a breakdown of G and A compensation into its components for 2006, 2007 and 2008.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.7: To provide a breakdown of G and A compensation into its components for 2006, 2007 and 2008


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I just lost my cross.


So we were talking about these G and A cost increases, and without going into -- we were looking at pages 33 and 34, 34, specifically, of your responses to School's interrogatory.


I take it it is correct that if you take those four lines, executive salaries, management salaries, gen admin salaries and employee pensions and benefits, which generally speaking are personnel costs.  Some of them are not remuneration but they're all personnel costs, right?


If you take those and add them up, you find that there's an increase of 56 percent over two years, from 2006 to 2008.  Is that about right?


MS. HUGHES:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It goes up $2.3 million from 2006 to 2007, and another $2.3 million from 2007 to 2008.  Is that right?


MS. HUGHES:  Those three categories, I believe it is 4.4 from 2006 to 2008.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I include pensions.


MS. HUGHES:  You included pensions, okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I take it that at some point, you have reported that to your board, that that's -- because that is a big increase, and it is one that boards  typically are interested in.  G and A increases are typically an important thing for them to look at, right?


So at some point you reported that to them and they have approved it, yes?


MR. BASILIO:  Yes.  They have approved the 2008 budget, yes, with awareness of significant trends year-over-year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  They didn't have this breakdown that you have given to the Board?


MR. BASILIO:  No.  They wouldn't have this breakdown.  The document, I mean boards receive in the normal course a lot of reporting on financial results and whatnot over the course of the year.  But the materials that they would have received and approved are those filed in the interrogatory, I believe.  It was the 2008 business plan, as well as the presentation.  Those are the materials the board would have received and approved.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It is true, isn't it, that nowhere in that business plan is there any reference, direct or indirect, to a big increase two years in a row in G and A personnel costs, is there?


MR. BASILIO:  The significant variances they would have seen would have been in the categories that are reported.  So there is a category, distribution utilization expenses, billing and customer care expenses, and general and administrative expenses, depreciation, those sorts of things.  They would have seen significant variances in those items, along with appropriate explanations, including some of the underlying issues.


I mean, we have reported in narratives to this and prior plans on challenges with, you know, labour, getting staff, you know, needs for -- to fill vacancies and to deal with some of the demographic issues in our skilled trades and engineers, those sort of things.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess the simple answer to my question is in terms of those big increases in G and A personnel costs, that was never reported to your board in a way that they would see $2.3 million this year, $2.3 million next year, was it?

MR. BASILIO:  I don't know.  I don't think the answer is "no" to that question, necessarily.


The board is certainly aware of changes in payroll.  Whether it is, you know, whether it's distilled in this format or not, I think the answer is probably "no".  But certainly they're very aware of the payroll complement.  Our board has a commit typical of most boards, an HR, human resources and governance committee that is far more -- sleeves are further up in terms of employment issues, those sort of things.  The board is certainly aware of staffing costs and issues in the organization.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, is it fair to say that this increase over two years, this 56 percent increase over two years -- you can correct us on the record if that is not correct -- that a big chunk of that, or some significant chunk of that is the result of your M&A strategy.  Is that right?


MS. HUGHES:  Yes.  In terms of the, certainly in the comp, compensation perspective, it would be the director of business strategies that we identified, as well as the VP of business.


MR. BASILIO:  Which is about, rounding all in, probably half a million dollars, thereabouts.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and that assumes that there is no incremental costs associated with anybody else, right?


That your salary doesn't include anything for your M&A activity.  It's only for your operational role, for example, right?


MR. BASILIO:  Well, yes, I mean my salary is based on -- I mean I have responsibilities to help support M&A transactions, of course, but I mean I think, you know, as I said earlier, you know whether or not M&A is going on, my costs are required to support the LDC.  So I am not sure if that answers the question, but the costs are what they are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess what I am trying to get at is St. Catharines and Hamilton, prior to the merger, didn't have a M&A strategy, those three.  They didn't need all of those people to do M&A work.


And their G and A personnel costs were significantly lower than yours are today.  And so I am looking for the high-level reason why you need so much more G and A today than you did then, to run essentially the same utility.


MR. BASILIO:  With respect to the first question, what I thought I heard you ask is whether St. Catharines G and A was lower than Hamilton Hydro Inc.'s.  Is that --


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  If you add St. Catharines and Hamilton together, they were a lot lower than you are asking for this Board today.


MR. BASILIO:  They were higher initially than what was achieved.  If we look at the trend from -- if you were to look at a trend from 2004 to 2008, you would have seen a dip in controllable costs per customer following the St. Catharines transaction, and thereafter rising for a number of reasons, many of which are elucidated in the rate application in response to interrogatories, but including new costs such as smart meters and costs related to supporting that.


And one of the things that we didn't have, and would have been a good thing to have, the St. Catharines transaction, there weren't very many transactions prior to that other than the Hydro One transactions.


I think what that, you know, what that spoke to is if the sector is going to get serious about consolidation, which I think there is general consensus that that will be in the best long-term interests of customers, that we're going to have to get serious about investigating those transactions in order to expedite that process.  It is just a good thing to do for customers as quickly as we can, and so it is a rather modest investment, I think, as compared to other R&D type activities that utilities undertake with respect to developing processes and whatnot to support the utility, to investigate those transactions, to determine, you know, where is the value in merger partners.



So with respect to those costs, I don't think they're terribly significant.  They're certainly not contributing to, you know, much of the overall increase that we're asking for.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not actually talking about the half million dollars that you are spending on an M&A department.  That's a discrete issue.


I am talking about 2004 when St. Catharines and Hamilton, for these lines, had an $11.4 million cost.  You're asking for 12.8, and you have already said to the Board, By the way, there were merger savings, so we would be asking for another 5 million if it weren't for the merger savings.  


That sounds like a lot more money to do the same thing, because you're not a bigger utility by much, are you, when you combined them?


MR. BASILIO:  I don't know if you can help.


MS. HUGHES:  I guess there are incremental new hires not just related to M&A activities.  Certainly, a -- you know, five in the management area, being a project manager lead, a commodity manager supports our strategic objectives with respect to spending controls, you know, the customer service, certainly the call centre, the growth in customer calls.  


So there is incremental hires as part of the M&A activity.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Were none of those functions done before?


MS. HUGHES:  Well, I mean, certainly I would say -- well, you know, the corporation has grown, in terms of -- if you take the project management lead, for example, you know, that's a position that is trying to manage -- help us manage our resource planning in terms of the number of other projects that the corporation has within the organization, not just M&A, but you're talking about, you know, a mass rollout of smart meters and, you know, ERP implementation and various other projects going on in the organization that support it strategically.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't do resource planning in 2004?


MR. BASILIO:  Resource planning?


MR. SHEPHERD:  You just talked about something to do with resource planning; right?  Project planning, sorry, project planning.  You didn't do project planning in 2004?


MR. BASILIO:  Not well, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MR. BASILIO:  But I think it is wrong to assert that payroll has gone up 50 percent.


MS. HUGHES:  That's right.


MR. BASILIO:  This is the question that you seem to be asking, Jay, is:  Why has payroll gone up 50 percent?  That is not the case.


MS. HUGHES:  No, it is not.


MR. BASILIO:  That is not even close to the case.


MS. HUGHES:  That's right.


MR. BASILIO:  I think we need to give some context to that.


MS. HUGHES:  And that's why of the $4.4 million year over year, I can tell you that 1.8 million plus $200,000 in the OMERS is the compensation piece, the salaries and the benefits.


If I go through to the general admin category, there are half a million dollars of ERP OM&A-related expenditures, as well, in terms of we have had to backfill resources with respect to implementing our ERP project.


So, you know, we are -- we do have costs in there that are driving some of those, as well.


We also have in the management category -- the 2006 expenditures are, in fact, $700,000 lower than they should be.  We had a one-time adjustment related to the OMERS differential between -- when OMERS had a contribution holiday.  So there are other things driving those three categories, which we did try to, in fact, highlight in the IR response to the Board, which was 23, page 54 and 55.  We did try to isolate those drivers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just ask you about that 700,000, because I am looking at employee pensions and benefits and I don't see any $700,000 there.


MS. HUGHES:  Sorry.  No.  The $700,000 relate to -- if you go back to 2006, if we started at the base of 2006, because what you're -- we're driving for is, How did it increase so much from 2006 to 2008?


So within the category -- so just so you understand, within the category 5610, not on the pension line, but actually in 5610, there was a one-time adjustment to miscellaneous expenses there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, what is 5610?


MS. HUGHES:  Account 5610, which is the management compensation line.  So that OMERS adjustment that I referred to is actually occurring in the line item with respect to management salaries, 5610.  That's where the one-time adjustment was put.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So where you go from $2.7 million to $4.3 million, it has actually gone from 3.4 to 4.3, really?


MS. HUGHES:  Right.  And we have provided various drivers to support the changes in those two categories -- in those three categories.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I just want to ask you one further question about this, page 33 of these IR responses.


You see a line here that says "customer premise labour".  That goes up by a substantial amount, 30 -- 23 percent, right, or I guess 45 percent over two years.


But all of the other operational labour lines go down.  Why is that?


MS. LERETTE:  This is a reallocation.  We have people that come in and cover in what we call our trouble department that work primarily in customer-related issues.  And when linemen come in to cover these guys, their wages are directly allocated to the customer premise line.  So they have come out of all of the other lines, but they're funneled into the customer premise line when they're working in the trouble department.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.


So same people just doing something different, so allocated differently?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes.  Coming out of all of the other lines and just being funnelled into that one line.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But it means that all of these other labour lines -- the work you're doing in all of these other areas is going down, because they're busy on customer stuff; right?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Who is doing that work, things like overhead distribution and underground distribution, all of that stuff?  Who is doing that?


MS. LERETTE:  Well, the same group of linemen are doing it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  They're just not doing as much?


MS. LERETTE:  Not doing as much, or they're working on the off hours in the trouble department, because it is a 24-7 operation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  You expect your total personnel costs for operations to drop by about 5.4 percent in the test year, isn't that right, total personnel cost in operations?


MR. BASILIO:  What are you referring to, specifically?


MR. McKENZIE:  Do you have a reference?


MR. SHEPHERD:  We just calculated it.  I'm asking whether that is right or not.  You can undertake, if you want.  Is it correct that in the test year, you're expecting your personnel costs and operation, total personnel costs, to go down by 5.4 percent?  If you want to undertake, go ahead.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Shepherd, have you taken all of the lines that have labour marked against them and that's how you calculated it?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, yes.


MR. KAISER:  Why don't we do that by way of an undertaking?


MS. HUGHES:  If I could just -- a point of clarification, in terms of there are very specific categories in operations that highlight labour specific, but there are other areas in the maintenance category where the labour component is not broken out.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Except I wasn't asking about maintenance.  I was asking about operations.  You have a section, operations.


MS. HUGHES:  I think it is important to note, though, that the work sometimes does, in fact, fluctuate between operations and maintenance, based on the jobs and the specific type of work that needs to be done.  So there may be a shift between operations and maintenance.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why don't I ask you to calculate this, in light of what the Chairman said?


Why don't you calculate the proposed change from bridge year to test year in labour costs and operations and labour costs and maintenance, and then if it is a shift from one to the other, then we will see it?


MR. KAISER:  That will be J1.8.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.8:  TO CALCULATE THE PROPOSED CHANGE FROM BRIDGE YEAR TO TEST YEAR IN LABOUR COSTS AND OPERATIONS AND LABOUR COSTS AND MAINTENANCE.


MS. HUGHES:  There could be a shift in capital, too.


MR. McKENZIE:  I think we also have to remember, too, labour is capitalized, as well.  So...


MS. HUGHES:  Right.  Depending on the nature of the projects that are planned, some wages could in fact have shifted between operations and capital, as well.


So it is...


MR. KAISER:  Why don't you deal with that as part of the undertaking and explain any capitalization, if that is the case.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Here is my concern, and I don't know who this question is for, but -- do we have an undertaking number?


MR. KAISER:  J1.8.


MR. SHEPHERD:  J1.8.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just describe where I am going with this, because it is not a trick.  It is actually an issue of policy.


You understand that ratepayers generally prefer, if you spend your money on operations, because that increases their reliability; it is good for them.


They generally don't like it when you increase your costs on G&A, because often ratepayers perceive that they spent a lot more money and they don't get much for it.


You appear to have a pattern, at least in the last few years, of spending a lot more money on G&A and basically no more money or cutting your costs on operations.


I want you to just talk about, is that part of your strategy?  Is that accidental?  How is that happening?  Were you going to -- 


MS. LERETTE:  We are not decreasing the work in operations, by any means.  We use the same labour force right now to work in operations and on capital projects.  Depending on the time of the year and the demand for operations and maintenance-type work, the same people do both the same thing.

So we're not decreasing labour in this one area on purpose, per se.  It's the nature of the work that is required at the time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we'll see that in your breakdown, Presumably?

MS. LERETTE:  Yes.  I think you have to look at operations, maintenance and capital as a whole because it is the same labour force working on both things.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is fair to say, isn't it, that your personnel costs associated with operations and maintenance and capital haven't increased by 56 percent over the last two years.

MR. BASILIO:  I think that is correct, yes.

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you talked about your aging work force, and one of the things that I understood you to say is that 17 percent of your employees are eligible for retirement in the next five years, right?  And that's a concern to you?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes.

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I did the math and it looks to me like if 17 percent are eligible in five years, that means that on average, they stick around for 32.5 years, which sounds like a full career.  Which means, to me -- and maybe I have the math wrong -- but it means to me that it doesn't look like you have a swell of people retiring.  It means it's just normal course.  You should have 17 percent retiring every five years or so.  Isn't that right?

You're the math guy, Mr. Basilio.  Isn't that correct?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, I am not going to answer that question without -- I mean I think that is best -– Sarah, you have got the demographic data there.

MS. HUGHES:  Yes, I have got the demographic.  It varies by age, in terms of -- we provided as part of our evidence, in terms of the age, the average age and average lent of service by category.

MR. BASILIO:  Simple fact is these trades are in high demand and they're difficult to get, irrespective of how you get to the number.  A large portion of our skilled trades are retiring.  It's an issue we have to deal with.  It takes seven to 10 years to fully train one, high demand, and it is a pressure on the organization.  It's something we have had to spend some costs on over the last few years and it is still difficult.  It is difficult getting the people.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So aside from the math, here is the part of that I don't understand.

You're not spending any more money, in fact, in operations and maintenance and capital people, at all, except for inflation.  And yet that's where you say you have the problem, the skilled trades, where it takes you seven to 10 years to get a good person in place.

So if you're not spending the money there, that G&A money is not for electricians, is it?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, we are spending the money.  We have spent the money.  I think we demonstrated that in our application in several different spots.  We spent a lot of time in these 1,500 pages describing our employee needs and very specifically, by body, where they're showing up.

I don't have all of those things off the top of my head but I know we provided –-

MS. HUGHES:  Seven apprentices, two operators and three engineers in training, so we are –

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when we see your personnel costs in operation, maintenance and capital, we will see increases substantial enough to cover these costs, right?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes, we will

MS. LERETTE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.

Let me turn to a couple of capital questions for a second.  You have, on page 10 of your business plan, you have a summary of your capital budget.

And you have at page 26 of your responses to School's IRs, you have the capital plan you presented to the Board.

And the numbers are not the same.  Do you want to tell us why that is?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BASILIO:  So with respect to total distribution plant, that number matches 21.8 million. Other recurring --

These are on a different basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You told the Board that you want to spend $43.9 million in 2008, but you told your board that you want to spend $40.1 million.

MR. BASILIO:  The enterprise resource planning capital expenditure is the difference here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. BASILIO:  And the reason for that is, it is shown in, like in the 2007 category, it is shown -- you see the $3.8 million related to project fusion?  What we're recognizing there is we have had a cash outlay that relates to capital.

In fact, for capital -- for, in terms of when that comes into fixed assets is when the project is actually delivered, which will be in 2008.  So that is the difference.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're telling me that the capex chart on page 26 of the School's IRs is actually the things you're closing to rate base in 2008?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.  These are our budgeted capital additions for 2008.  43,943,000 would be additions to fixed assets.

It's just the project fusion was so significant that we wanted to recognize here, for management reporting purposes, the cash outlay that applies to 2007.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're telling me that the only spending, the only capital spending you did in 2007, it's closing in 2008 – because it's the only difference between these two charts -- is project fusion.

MR. BASILIO:  No, I mean obviously not.  However, you know, underlying this is a change in -- is what we would view as -- I mean there are a number of projects, obviously, that overlap fiscal years and some of that is, you know, you plan for things, you know, things shift in the course of a year, naturally.

But the, you know, what we are predicting is our WIP, our work in process on average isn't changing that significantly.

So, you know, projects that, you know, some projects in 2007 are closing in 2008.  Likely some that we're showing here in 2008, even though we hope to close them in 2008, some of those may close in 2009.

But on balance, this is what we expect our fixed assets to increase by in 2008.

MR. SHEPHERD:  These two charts are identical except for one thing, project fusion.

MR. BASILIO:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Correct me if I'm wrong, but when you came to this Board -- not your board of directors, but this Board -- instead of saying, giving them the capex budget that you gave to your own board, you made an adjustment, $3.8 million for project fusion.  That was the only difference, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, the business plan was requested as an interrogatory.  But we showed, within the application itself, what did we provide?  Within -- this information was in the application.

MR. McKENZIE:  If I could just ask for clarification, Mr. Shepherd, are you comparing the business plan, page 10, the total 41.1 million for 2007 to the 37.3?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. McKENZIE:  The 41.1 includes the 3.8 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.

MR. McKENZIE:  So if you take that out, it is 37.3 million in capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you had a set of numbers that were your internal numbers, these were the ones you gave your own board of directors, but when you came to this Board, you said:  Oh, no, no, we don't like those numbers, we want to change them.

MR. BASILIO:  Absolutely not.  Absolutely not.

MR. McKENZIE:  The 3.8 million was effectively work in progress for 2007, and it did not come in and does not come into capital till 2008.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, but your 2007 numbers in this chart on page 10 include lots of other work in process, but you didn't adjust for any of those.

MR. BASILIO:  But on average, the work in process balance is not changing very much, and therefore, what that means is, in total, it is likely that we will close $43.9 million of capital projects in 2008.

And this isn't about showing two different sets numbers.  We reported in accordance with the filing guidelines, the amount of capital we expect to go into fixed assets in 2008.

There are estimates in here.  We know that.  You plan projects in the year.  They don't all close on the dates you plan them.

By way of interrogatory, we were requested for our business plan, which presents a chart which, frankly, reconciles to all of these numbers.  The difference is in one case because of the significance of the project, a budgeting convention to make it plain to the Board that of $4.7 million that will be transferred to fixed assets in the year, in fact you made the cash outlay in 2007; all the rest is equal.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me turn to customer demand projects.  I am looking at page 26 of the IR response.  You've got customer demand projects going down substantially from 2006 to 2008.


But as I recall, the opex component of that is in customer premises labour, right, and that is going up?


MR. BROWN:  The customer demand piece in the filing is going down to $4.9 million in 2008.  Those are the capital components associated with connecting up new customers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. BROWN:  So none of these are opex costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Customer premises labour, which we just discussed a minute ago on the opex chart, is the opex component of the same thing; right?


MS. LERETTE:  Not necessarily.  It could be troubleshooting, responding to power outage calls that customers call in about.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Here is where I'm going with this.  Normally, you wouldn't see customer connection costs going up more on capital -- or the capital and opex component going in different directions.  So I am wondering whether you changed how you do your capitalization at any point over the last three years.


MS. HUGHES:  No.


MR. BROWN:  No.  The customer demand capital is only going down because we're forecasting fewer connections in 2008 than we were in 2007.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But then your customer premises labour is going up.  So, presumably, if that is not a change in capitalization, that must be because you're expecting more trouble.


MR. BROWN:  Well, that's...


MS. LERETTE:  No.  I think the big jump you see in customer premises on that line is really just the fact that we're allocating people's time to that line.


MS. HUGHES:  It would have been included in other maintenance categories, historically.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not the question I asked.  Sorry, I am asking a different question.


Your customer premises labour is your OM&A component of people going to customers' premises to do stuff; right?


MS. LERETTE:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Some of this is connections and some of it is other; right?


MR. BROWN:  It's maintenance.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your customer demand capital is your capital component of people going to customer premises and doing stuff; right?


MS. LERETTE:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the question is:  Why would one go up and the other one go down?


MS. LERETTE:  Well, the operating costs are not necessarily directly linked to the capital component.


If we have a slowdown in the new housing market, you're going to see a dip in capital, but that doesn't necessarily mean we're going to see a dip in the operating and maintenance component of customer premises, because that is more existing customers, the operating and maintenance costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me then ask just a couple of questions on this chart.


You see in the renewal capital and the security capital both of these are projected to stay basically constant from 2006.


When you talked to your board, you talked about them as being increases, but they actually went down in 2007 and come back up in 2008, roughly; right?


MR. BROWN:  Yes.  Security and capacity projects, they vary depending on what the system needs are.  So in some cases we would have to put in new feeders to deal with capacity issues, rather than do a reliability or a security project.  I don't know if I'm answering your question.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  What I am wondering is, you know, with all of the increases we see everywhere in your budget, here is an area, a key operational area, in which there is no increase over two years; flat.


I mean, is it because you're tighter managers or is there some exogenous factor that is causing that to happen?


MR. BROWN:  No.  I just think it is sort of a function of the system needs at the current time.  They haven't fluctuated from one year to another, at this point.  You know, Hamilton and St. Catharines are both old cities that are low growth areas, and we have seen system needs remain reasonably constant over the last three years.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  Now, of course one of the big capital things is this ERP project, which you called Project Fusion; right?


MR. BASILIO:  Yes.  Project Fusion, that's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And if I understand ERP correctly - and I've got this wrong before - it sort of integrates the various information and decision-making functions in a software suite that connects to your operating software, your GIS and your billing and all of that stuff, and allows you to get information and make intelligent decisions; isn't that right?


MR. BASILIO:  In a nutshell.  If I could just clarify, it is really a fusion of people, process and technology in support of, you know, key elements of our business, which  -- and the scope of which here is focussed on supply chain management, work order management, asset management, financial management and human resources management.  


There is some peripheral scope, but that is really the crux of what we're focussed on in this project.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How does this project relate to your M&A strategy?


MR. BASILIO:  It really doesn't, per se.  Obviously, we want a system that is going to facilitate integrations of other LDCs and accommodate, you know, some scale.  But, again, that scale is not really related to customer growth.  This isn't about the customer information system.


I think it is important, again, to emphasize that we're really in a false economy right now with our IT costs.  We have a 27-year-old legacy system internally developed, a very fragmented architecture.  It is sort of like every time you need something new, you have an AS/400 programmer trying to bolt it on.  It is high risk, in terms of making correct decisions of data integrity.  It is quite cumbersome.  Really, in terms of process, we need to come up a curve.


So that's really the crux of the investment.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess I didn't actually understand that that was all of it, and you have, in your evidence, the business case for the ERP.


MR. BASILIO:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is found at Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, appendix E.  And at page 12 of that document, you talk about, basically, how this feeds your strategy.


A big chunk of this is under a heading "infrastructure to support mergers and acquisitions".


So to say that there is no connection between them isn't actually accurate, is it?


MR. BASILIO:  I didn't say there was no connection.  I said that, you know, this is obviously something -- whether it is mergers and acquisitions or another endeavour, certainly, you know, ease of integration, scalability, are things that are desirable in a new system.


But the system is really sized for the utility and, in fact, you know, is sized for likely a utility that could be much larger or smaller.  It is really scale, cost -- you know, this system's ability to scale one way or another really doesn't have much bearing on its cost.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I am reading software supports multi-company.  Now, I know the ERP systems can be single company or multi-company, and multi-company is more expensive, isn't it?


MR. BASILIO:  Multi-company can be more expensive, but, frankly, most of the systems come with multi-company capability now.


I am trying to think of one that presented to us 
that --


MS. HUGHES:  That's right.  None.  They would all be multi-company, in terms of --


MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason for that is because your specifications said multi-company in the first place; right?


MR. BASILIO:  Sure they do.  We have to support other companies.  And to the extent those other companies benefit from this system, we will allocate some level of cost to it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't have any in here right now.  You don't have any allocation of ERP cost to anyone else right now? 


MR. BASILIO:  We have an allocation of IT costs to other companies right now.  We will have to look at that and update as appropriate, but -- for 2008, no, but there are management charges between Horizon and its affiliates for, you know, that support.  Again, it is not much in the way of support.  There is not much in the way of activity going on outside of Horizon.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When you say you allocate part of this to other entities, you don't, actually, not in the test year, anyway?


MR. BASILIO:  We allocate IT costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But not this, not ERP?


MR. BASILIO:  We allocate the costs of a system that is going away in September.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you have, in the same set of benefits, if you like, or goals, "incorporate acquired or merged entities quicker".  That sounds like something that is an M&A activity, yes?  The reason why you -- the benefit of this ERP is M&A, right?

MR. BASILIO:  No.  Well, obviously it is a benefit.  We have put requirements in for these sort of things, but the -- again, this is a no-choice investment for the organization.  It's a 27-year old system.  It is breaking down.  It is not serving the interests of customers.  Irrespective of mergers and acquisitions, this is the sort of system that Horizon requires to support its LDC business needs going forward.

Are there some peripheral benefits that are important strategically to Horizon here?  Yes.  Do they impact the costs significantly?  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The existing system is not actually one 27-year old system, is it?  It is actually a whole bunch of systems that are sort of taped together with sealing wax and staff, right?

MR. BASILIO:  For the scope of what we're trying to -- I mean part of our architecture, the customer information system, we used Daffron CIS.  It is outside of scope.  It's not 25 years old.

Financial and work order and asset management systems, the crux of these things are 25 to 27 years old.  I mean this was programmed before my time.  There may be other members of the panel here that were there at the time.  But no, for the most part, that is what it is.  That's the code is like 25 to 27 years old.  It's being recycled to try and accommodate, you know, changes and there have been a lot of changes in this sector.

I don't think anyone would deny that over the last seven years, and I can tell you it has been very cumbersome accommodating them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now we talked about where that $3.8 million of capital goes, 2007 and 2008.  You spent it in 2007, right?  The bulk of the cost?

MR. BASILIO:  A good portion of the cash outlay was in 2007.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Was any part of the project operational in 2007?

MR. BASILIO:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, a lot of this is software, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it qualifies for accelerated CCA?  

MR. BASILIO:  Yes, it does.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in your 2007 tax return, did you claim any of that CCA?

MR. BASILIO:  Could not, because it was not available for use, and therefore you can't add it to your UCC pool.  All of the capital additions will be included in the UCC pool for 2008.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.

MR. BASILIO:  Customers will get the benefits of those.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually, what you filed didn't calculate it that way, now, did it?  What you filed with the Board didn't include the accelerated CCA, did it?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, it absolutely -- it includes, again, if we filed and we mentioned this in our evidence-in-chief, if we filed on the basis of the traditional approach, with respect to the ERP project itself, the revenue requirement for ERP would have been higher than the basis on which we filed to recover ERP costs going forward.  We mentioned that it works out to be about $700,000 over the course of five years.  That's something that if we followed the traditional approach, customers would not have received.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We're going to come back to that.

Before we leave taxes, there is a little sidebar on taxes.  Did I understand you correctly that you're going to refile your evidence to correct your tax rates and your CCA rates?

MR. BASILIO:  Whatever the statutory rates, yes.  As a matter of fact, there is no choice there, I don't believe.  It is what the statutory and rates are, with respect to PILs, yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Excuse me, I think that what you indicated is you would update that as part of your draft rate order?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Was your question whether or not they were going to do something before that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It could be in the draft rate order.  What I am concerned with is that there is an automatic adjustment if you are on IRM, but there is no automatic adjustment if you are on cost of service.  You apply for something and you get what you get.

So if what you're doing here is undertaking to make adjustments to the announced tax rates -- not the enacted ones, the announced ones -- and the announced CCA rates, that's cool.  But I just want to make sure that that is on the record.  Is that what you're planning to do?

MR. BASILIO:  That's what we're planning to do, to adjust the revenue requirement to reflect the 2008 CCA and corporate and capital tax rates, yes.

MR. McKENZIE:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, in your financial plan here, Exhibit 6, which is the second-last page of that attachment, is entitled: "Impact of project fusion."
This is A-1, attachment A-1 to the three-year business plan.  This is Exhibit 6, the second-last page.

MR. BASILIO:  Got it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have that?

MR. BASILIO:  Just let me refer to it.  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, just help me understand a couple of things here.  This includes a line called "imputed annual revenue".  What's that?

MR. BASILIO:  That's just showing what, you know, the revenue that we would be required in that year to achieve the -- that's right, the return on -- the deemed return on equity for that year, based on the costs and investments in the year.

So it is sort of a gross-up.  It's a gross-up.

Basically if you start with – I think I have it here  -- the closing investment --

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're saying $1.7 million is the return on $3.8 million?  

MR. BASILIO:  For that year, that's right.  For that year.  This is just -- this is a schedule that's just supposed to show -- and we have refined it since then.  We filed evidence on what these years would actually look like.  This was, at the time, an estimate of how project fusion -- this was supposed to be:  Here's the revenue requirement in each of these years that we would need to fund project fusion.  Again, the approach we took was to average it over the life of the project, but we filed evidence that's more refined.  And we have filed now in -- whose IR is this?  Response to OEB Staff interrogatories question 24 (b), and it is attachment H.  Actually, we should refer to -- sorry, question 24 (f), attachment I, which was corrected for the new tax rates.

What that schedule purports to do is what was actually done on a more refined basis in this schedule.  So it shows the amounts that would be required for recovery.

Looking at this in individual years, if you assume that we rebased every single year and recovered enough revenue to fund the ERP projected savings, these are the amounts that we would require in our revenue requirement.  Obviously we're not doing that, but this was the basis for determining the average of 1.34 million that we're requesting in our rate application.

If we had done this the traditional way, I think we were asking for, well, let's say roughly one-and-a-half million if we had done it the traditional way.  That's what is giving rise to what we're saying is a $700,000 benefit we're willing to give customers today.  Within that schedule, you can see the impact on income taxes and whatnot, and how we have --

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to come back to that.  But I am just trying to understand what you reported to your board of directors, because this imputed annual revenue doesn't relate to any number I have seen in your application and it's not close to any number, and my concern is, this was filed after you filed your original prefiled evidence, which has a set of data like this, a detailed set of data.  And it's nothing like it.

MR. BASILIO:  I believe the costs are all the same here.  We have general and administrative -- all of the underlying expenses are exactly the same.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's my point.  And the imputed annual revenue line is nowhere to be found.  I am trying to figure out what that is.  It's not the benefits, right?

MR. BASILIO:  No.  This purports to be what the impact on net income -- the net income loss imputed annual is supposed to be -- I mean we're earning a return on this investment.

If you earned a return on this investment, again, different basis.  Let's assume we rebase every year as it relates to project fusion.  And we -- and this isn't as fine an analysis with respect to tax as well.  This is a book-based analysis, not a tax-based analysis.  Timing difference, the accelerated CCA and whatnot, that's the principal difference in 2008.  And why the revenue requirement, here, is so much lower is this uses a book basis of accounting for tax purposes, if that's where you're trying to get to.  That's why 2008 is so much different.  And our board is aware of that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not saying you misled your board.  I am just trying to reconcile this to this.


MR. BASILIO:  All of the costs are reconciled; do we agree on that? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  The top line does not.


MR. BASILIO:  The top line does not.  The reason for the top line, the analysis and the -- the analysis that responds to OEB Staff question 24(f), attachment I, is a far more refined analysis with respect to PILs.


This is a relatively simple analysis with respect to PILs.  It uses depreciation as the basis for a deduction for tax purposes.


This uses CCA.  We know the CCA is accelerated relative to depreciation for software.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So let's -- before I leave this Exhibit 6, I just have one other question, and that is, you have three impact lines.  You have a net income imputed, you have distribution revenue financial statements and you have net income financial statements.  Can you tell us what those are?


MR. BASILIO:  Right.  So the distribution revenue financial statements have been prepared on the basis of what we are filing here.


If you take the distribution revenue imputed annual line, the first line there, and if you were to extend that out to, I think it is 2012, so, you know, five full years, half a year at the beginning and end, and you average that, which is the approach we have taken, it comes to the 1.35 million, which is what we're asking for.


We are asking for -- or 1.34, but, you know, roughly 1.3 and change per year.  The reason 2008 is lower is because we were anticipating a rate order with an effective date of May 1st.  So, you know, we're only going to recover eight months of that 1.35 in 2008.  So that's why it is so different.  


The top line assumes a full annualized year, based on the investment in the year.


The distribution revenue financial statements is based on what we have requested, you know, subject to some refinement here, the basis on which we filed our application, which is to take, you know, what the revenue requirement would be on an annual basis, including the savings, which don't manifest themselves until 2009, and then, you know, kick in in 2009 and '10 and beyond, and pull -- you know, average it, pull it all forward into 2008.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This spreadsheet shows a substantial amount of OM&A associated with the project, but it's essentially capital project; right?


MR. BASILIO:  Well, there's a fair bit of OM&A in terms of licensing.  In 2007 and 2008, there is OM&A that relates to -- and I know Sarah will supplement for me, but essentially you've got certain costs related to the project.


It's an 8 million and change project overall, 4.8 -- 8.8.  4.7 million for accounting purposes we may capitalize.


The remainder, which is largely business transformation, process development, training, development of work -- work instructions, those sort of things, is --  4.1 is the difference.  Those things for accounting, for GAAP purposes, don't qualify as capital costs.  They're costs that are incurred -- they're reported currently for financial reporting purposes.


Those are the bulk of the costs in 2007 and 2008.  Forward from that, you're correct.  There are a lot of maintenance costs.  The maintenance costs are roughly --


MS. HUGHES:  They're 224 ongoing between 2010.


MR. BASILIO:  What is the total M&A -- total administrative costs?


MS. HUGHES:  OM&A of 4.1 over the length of the project, 2007 to -- hold on.  Yes.


MR. BASILIO:  There is not much OM&A.  These numbers in 2009 and 2010 reflect the fact that we anticipate OM&A savings from this project, and that's why, in fact, is negative in 2010, that the actual software licences and other expenses related to maintaining ERP are fully offset, and in fact more than offset, by the savings we anticipate in terms of, you know, process savings and some modest staffing savings from that project.


Again, what we're proposing is to take those savings and wrap them up into the 2008 rate application and give them to our customers now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay, that's interesting.  Your counsel said that, too, about $2 million, $2.2 million of savings, and you're going to give it to ratepayers this year.  That's not correct, is it?


MR. BASILIO:  It is not all this year.  What we're talking about is a lower revenue requirement than we would otherwise require under the typical approach.


They will get it on a more accelerated basis than they would have otherwise, having followed the traditional approach.


In fact, the shareholder is taking all of the risk in realizing on those costs.  Many of us are familiar with large implementations.  Many of them overrun.  Many of them don't achieve the savings they purport to in business cases.  


The shareholder is taking the risk and passing -- and passing those savings on to customers now.  We're writing a cheque now that we may or may not cash in on, but we feel good about it, and we think our customers should benefit from it now. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  We'll come back to that one, too, but I guess you know what the costs are, right, because you've done that?


MR. BASILIO:  No.  It is not done.  In fact, what I can tell you is we originally anticipated a go-live date of May 1st.  That was probably aggressive.  We deferred it to June 1st, and we're deferring it again to September 1st.


So there is a lot of cost pressure that isn't reflected in this rate application, and we're managing it, but, you know, as with any application, there are a lot of things that creep up over time.  There are many things in this that we're going to experience that, frankly, aren't in this application for 2008.  There is pressure on this project, but I think it is manageable.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you going to go over budget?


MR. BASILIO:  Modestly.  At this point, we're forecasting being modestly over budget.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Modestly, like not a material amount?


MR. BASILIO:  Like, let's say less than half a million dollars at this point.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do I understand you to say that you are capitalizing as much of this as you are allowed to capitalize?


MR. BASILIO:  We are capitalizing what is appropriate.  I mean --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have judgment in capitalization; right?


MR. BASILIO:  Yes.  Yes, we do, generally speaking.  Sarah, maybe you could speak specifically to what gets capitalized and what gets --


MS. HUGHES:  Absolutely.  There are some very specific guidelines that the CICA has out.  I would refer to EIC 86, which is accounting for costs of business process re-engineering projects.


So any costs related to sort of re-engineering and process re-engineering are specifically identify as OM&A costs.


There is also a FASBI reference.  So the guidelines specifically address those types of costs that are treated on account of OM&A as opposed to capital.  So that would be, as John mentioned earlier, certainly training, any business process redesign costs.  Any change management initiatives would be considered to be OM&A.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  If you buy software to do those things, then it is not OM&A?


MS. HUGHES:  Software would be capital.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  If you pay a consultant to build software, again, not OM&A.  It is capital; right?


MS. HUGHES:  Well, even from a perspective of consulting, there are -- you do have to look at what the consultant is engaged in doing.  So if the consultant is helping you redesign a business process, either outside or inside, that is still considered to be business process re-engineering.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  I wonder if you could turn to page 19 of your ERP business case.  Do you have that?


MR. BASILIO:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is the summary of the benefits that you expect to achieve from the ERP project; right?


MR. BASILIO:  Benefit drivers, sure.  These are some benefits.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have two components.  You have the cost savings, which is you expect to spend less on some things because of this system; right?


MR. BASILIO:  Yes, hard cost savings.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And, by the way, I didn't see in there the cost savings associated with not having the old stuff breaking all the time.  You had all of this old stuff that was doing these functions.  It's going to be gone; right?


So I didn't see where all of the money you're spending on that has been backed out of the budget.  Where is that?


MR. BASILIO:  That money is in the savings, the staff savings and other savings that we have projected.


It's in the savings.  I mean, when we look at this project --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's in these lines?

MR. BASILIO:  Sorry.  I am looking at page 19.  Am I looking at a different page 19?

MS. HUGHES:  No.  You can also -- page 21 also identifies the estimated cost savings versus the --

MR. BASILIO:  Are you referring to page 21, looking at the table --

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  I am looking at page 19.  Page 19 of the --

MS. HUGHES:  In the benefit driver section, John.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, appendix E, page 19, has a chart headed up: "ERP business case summary of benefits."

MR. BASILIO:  Okay, you're looking at a table?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. BASILIO:  Yes, okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 19 of 67.

MR. BASILIO:  Good.

MS. CHAPLIN:  For us, it is, I think, page 21 of 70.

MR. McKENZIE:  That was misnumbered in the original application when it was PDF'd, and we subsequently sent out as one of the IR responses a complete new document that numbered them correctly.

So each page, I believe it is after about 18, is out by two page numbers.  So the pages are all there, they were just numbered incorrectly.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry about that.  There was a clean version filed or a --

MS. CHAPLIN:  I don't think it really matters.  We're looking at the table.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It was attachment D to the Board IR response.  

MS. CHAPLIN:  Oh, okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  The only difference between the two documents is the numbering?

MR. McKENZIE:  The page number, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I can live with that difference.  So you have two components to this chart.

The top component is the cost savings, right?  And the bottom component is the dollar value of process improvement benefits.

So do I understand correctly that in the cost savings, you have things that you are spending now, for example, for supply chain management, that you don't have to spend any more because you now have a new system, right?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then in the bottom section, you're saying, for example, on supply chain management:  In year 2, we're going to do that better to the tune of $100,000 because we have this great new system.  Right?

MR. BASILIO:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. BASILIO:  Let me just clarify.  The estimated cost savings are things that would have otherwise been in our rate base.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In your OM&A?

MR. BASILIO:  Exactly.  These are future items that, you know, would not have been in this year's rate base.  These are costs now.  The top one are costs now, that we expect to take out going forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, year 1 is 2008, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, year 1 would have been the year following implementation.

So in fact, yes, I guess that is correct.  I mean practically speaking, year 1 is going to be September 1st, 2008 to October 31st, 2009.  In practical terms, that is what it will be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But in terms of your plan --

MR. BASILIO:  In terms of the plan, that's right.  So we're behind on our plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in 2008, you're saying that you were going to save a small amount of money in actual out of pocket costs, but a much bigger amount of money in terms of the actual functions being done better, so you will be -- have productivity savings, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Right.  Costs that we would have otherwise had to incur without the system, that we do not presently incur.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  When you - now, so this line 2.267, the cost savings, that's the number that you say you have bundled into this calculation, this six-year calculation, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Two million.  I think we were -- $2 million?

MR. McKENZIE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it wasn't the full amount of the cost savings, it is only part of it?

MR. BASILIO:  This is an estimate to begin with, so it's $2 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the process improvement benefits, you didn't bundle any of that in?

MR. BASILIO:  No, because they're not costs we incur today.  They're not costs -- these are costs that we would have had to incur, were it not for the ERP system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You have to help me understand that.

MR. BASILIO:  They're not – sorry, go ahead, Sarah.

MS. HUGHES:  We've defined them as, estimated process improvements being creating organizational capacity.  

So certainly creating the manual effort that's involved in many of the tasks and allowing our organization, people within our organization to do more value-added activities.

They represent avoided costs.  So there are different types.  Improvement in cycle times, we also tried to estimate what types of cycles would be improved by going to an ERP system.

So for an example, closing out a major capital project from a sort of a work management, financial management perspective, the number of people involved and the amount of time involved in doing that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you save money?  If you did the same project in 2009 versus 2007, it's going to cost you less in 2009, all other things being equal, because you have this project?

MS. HUGHES:  No.

MR. PASQUET:  No, this is opportunity costs.

MS. HUGHES:  That's right.

MR. BASILIO:  These are costs we would incur were it not for ERP.

Top line is costs we do incur, and will not have to incur going forward as a result of ERP.

We would have to add capacity to the organization, were it not for ERP.  The top line is capacity we can take out of the organization as a result of ERP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am having a hard time understanding that.  I'm sorry.

You're saying that this $2.3 million in estimated cost savings, this is money you're spending now that you're not going to spend in the future?

MR. BASILIO:  That's right.

MR. McKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. BASILIO:  You have to look at it on an annual basis, more or less.  It tops out at $600,000, I mean we will take $600,000.  By year 4, our cost structure today, we'll pull out $600,000 in that year as a result of ERP.  Pull it out, in that year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you would be spending $600,000 more in 2000 -– and whatever year that is, 2004.

MR. BASILIO:  That is presently in our cost structure today.

These costs here are not in our cost structure today.  Under the estimated process improvement benefits, those costs are not in our structure today.

MR. SHEPHERD:  See, that part I don't understand.  You do capital projects today, and they cost you a certain amount of money.  You're saying that they would cost you more in the future, but they won't cost you more, because of this system?

MR. BASILIO:  We're saying we're going to run into inefficiency with all of the things we have to do.  This is about inefficiency we're going to experience on top of what we have today if we don't move to ERP.  It's as Sarah said.  This is about creating capacity in the organization that does not exist today.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I understand that.  So if you have a person who is involved in manual processes that no longer has to do that anymore, so now they have an extra three hours a day, they have time to do something else.  That's capacity, right?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes.

MR. BASILIO:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what's the extra work they do?  Doesn't that mean you save somebody else's job, because it's not like you have that many more customers.

So what is that extra work they're going to do?  What they're going to do some of the job that somebody else is doing right now, right?

MR. BASILIO:  No, not necessarily.  Again, the organization is stretched in terms of resources.  It is very -- it's a very busy organization, with a variety of things going on in the LDC.

We are stretched to keep up.  One thing ERP will allow us to do is better resource planning to do things more smartly.  Some of that will allow us to take costs out of the structure.  In the absence of it, we would have to put additional costs into the structure.

The estimated cost savings are those costs we are saying to our customers:  We'll take that out of our structure today.  In the absence of ERP, those would not be coming out, rate base unchanged with respect to those things, and, in fact, because of the nature of our system, we would have to put in additional costs into our structure.

MR. KAISER:  What you're referring to is avoided costs.

MR. BASILIO:  Exactly.  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in addition to the increases you're already asking for, there would be more?

MR. BASILIO:  There would be more.  But there will not be more.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so one of the things that I don't understand here is, you've got -- you're spending $8.1 million for this project, and that's actually net.  8.1 million net of this 2.3 million of benefits, right?

MR. BASILIO:  No.  8.8 million --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  I guess what I am trying to understand here is, and I am looking at that thing you just referred us to, which is tab I of Board Staff interrogatories, the responses.

You say here is the total you're planning to charge the ratepayers, $8,020,000, right?

MR. BASILIO:  For a project that is costing $8.8 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But that $8-million figure includes $2 million of benefits, right?

MR. BASILIO:  That $8-million figure, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the real cost is 10,020,000.  That's -- you are actually asking the ratepayers to pay 10,020,000 for the last two million of benefits. 

MR. BASILIO:  Ratepayers are also paying income taxes, imputed interest and return on capital for the project.  So those are the costs of the project.  When you put the project into rate base, you're also charging interest, return on equity and taxes.


In fact, to reconcile that number, we have very detailed exhibits behind that that I think you will find check with the math here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We're going to go through them, indeed, but I am just asking -- I am trying to get the high-level number first.  You're going to ask the ratepayers to pay $10 million to get $2 million of benefits?


MR. BASILIO:  We're asking them to pay 8.8 -- well, we're asking them to pay $8 million that includes costs that don't relate to the -- I mean, I think it is important to highlight that.  The project cost is $8.8 million.  When you put that in rate base, there is a return on capital and interest component and a PILs components to it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  My question is actually a much simpler one than that, cost of project.  Whether it is 8.8, 10, it doesn't matter.  The ratepayers are going to have to pay a big chunk of money, and you're saying the total benefits, ratepayers, that you're going to get from this is $4.2 million.  Why would we like that?


MR. BASILIO:  That's only one driver of the project.


As I explained, there is a 27-year-old system.  It's outdated.  It's creating risk for the organization.  It is not going to take us forward.  It is broken.  It is like having a 27-year-old car.  No matter how you try and fix it, it's going to break down, and we simply can't have that in key business processes.


Our current costs are a false economy that have been enjoyed by ratepayers for a long time, and, you know, now we have to get back into sustainable mode.  This is about sustainability.  This is the cost of doing business.  It's a cost that our ratepayers haven't had to bear in prior applications.  It's the cost today of sustainable -- of the sustainable deployment of information technology in the organization in support of good business process.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the difference between the benefits and the costs, whatever it is, 4 million, 5 million, 6 million, whatever - net costs to the ratepayers after all of the benefits, including the stuff you would have asked for that you didn't ask for, the additional cost drivers - that's justified because the old system is breaking, basically.  It's not longer viable.  


So you have to replace it, anyway, and the fact is you will get some benefit from replacing it, and the rest of it is just a cost; right?


MR. BASILIO:  It's a cost of doing business.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You will be using this for unregulated operations, I think you said?


MR. BASILIO:  To the extent we use it for unregulated operations, we will allocate costs according to the terms, you know, that comply with the Affiliate Relationships Code.  We fully intend to comply with that.  We are required to comply with the code and we will comply with the code.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to ask you to turn to Exhibit D2, tab 1, appendix A.


Do you have that?


MR. BASILIO:  D2, tab...


MR. McKENZIE:  Mr. Shepherd, could you give that reference one more time?


MR. SHEPHERD:  D2, tab 1, appendix A.  Sorry, D2, tab 2 -- I missed something here.  D2, tab 2, schedule 1, appendix A.  No wonder you couldn't find it.


MR. BASILIO:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, this is the original case you filed to demonstrate to the Board that it was a good idea to spread this out equally; right?


You were actually originally missing for a 1.350 million per year over six years; right?


MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.  It is noteworthy that this schedule was updated to reflect the correct tax rates and whatnot in the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to come to that.  So in this one, in fact, you didn't use the CCA amounts.  You actually used depreciation instead of CCA; right?


MR. BASILIO:  Flip to 2008.  Let's have a look.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You used accounting depreciation instead of tax accelerated depreciation; right?


MR. BASILIO:  Just give us a second here.  Can I see the summary sheet again?  Let me see this sheet here.


So there's -- I think if we refer to -- Mr. Shepherd, if we could look at -- along with this, if we could look at attachment H, the OEB Staff question 24B?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me get to that in a minute.


MR. BASILIO:  The reason it is relevant here is because what's missing from these schedules is the detailed tax calculation that is underneath.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I will get to it.  All I want to do is ask:  From what you originally filed, you didn't include accelerated depreciation; is that correct?


MR. BASILIO:  Well, the answer is, yes, we did, but you have to go to the Staff's question 24B to see the calculations that then correspond to the revenue requirements that are reported in what was filed in the application.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying these PILs amounts are -- the grossed-up PILs amounts are correct using accelerated CCA?


MR. BASILIO:  This was what was filed again?


MR. McKENZIE:  This is what was filed.


MR. BASILIO:  So it's grossed-up PILs -- the grossed-up PILs, it refers to "O", "see below".  There is no "O" below.


So the answer is no.  In fact, there is a calculation missing on this page that is included, that if you refer to the OEB Staff question, you will see that accelerated -- the depreciation is added back, and accelerated CCA is taken off, to come to income for tax purposes which gives rise to a negative -- I mean, the grossed-up PILs is a negative number, which would tell you that in fact there is a tax recovery here.  There is not taxes payable.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's the tax yield on the software.


MR. BASILIO:  Right, right.  If depreciation equalled CCA, there would be no shield here.  So that is what is missing.  You know, again, our apologies within the filing, "O", "see below".  Obviously, there is no "O", so good Staff interrogatory, and we provided the remainder of that schedule, which does show the basis for computing the grossed-up PILs, which is, in fact, a tax shield for that year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you have in "H" -- and actually "I" is the -- I think you said that "I" is the more correct one, isn't it?


MR. BASILIO:  Well, in fact, did we say "I"?  That's right.  Attachment I is the more correct one, because it reflects the updated tax rates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then I am going to ask you to go to Schools interrogatories, attachment B, which has a similar set of charts.  The wonder of spreadsheets is that you can do them a hundred different ways. 


For 2008 there, you had a grossed-up PILs amount substantially higher.


MR. BASILIO:  In this question, of course, you had asked us to alter the long-term debt rate and some other rates and re-compute according to that, which we don't agree with, and I know we will get to that it later on in the day, but that is not what we're asking for on the basis of presentation.  It is something you had asked for.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Aside from those changes in the debt rate and the equity rate, this PILs calculation still uses the same accelerated CCA, right, same tax rate or same capital tax rate?


MR. BASILIO:  Let's have a look.  Are we looking at the same year here?


MR. McKENZIE:  2008.


MR. BASILIO:  This number here?


MR. McKENZIE:  That's the sunk costs for...

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BASILIO:  Again -- and the amortization is different here, of course -- but again, you know, respectfully, this is prepared on a basis we don't agree with.  So, you know, this is what we believe in.

I know you don't agree with it.  I know you are producing it in a different way.  This isn't a basis we agree with.  We can deal with this in argument, I suppose.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  I just want to make sure we understand what the differences are.  I agree this is something that comes up in argument.  But here is my concern.

Depending on how you do those calculations each year, you have either a higher cost to ratepayers using your proposed method, or a lower cost to ratepayers using your proposed method.

MR. BASILIO:  I think as well -- sorry, I just want to -- I would like to see the question here, because I think the other component here is you asked us to restate those numbers on the basis that we do not include any 2007 costs in the averaging, but we continue to give ratepayers the entire benefit of the savings.

So that's an assertion that we will just have a look at the question here to confirm, because I think it is important for the Board to understand that that is another difference that, of course, we don't agree with.

So the question -- oh, okay.  All right.  There are very large differences here.

You asked the question, so I will respond to it:

"Please recalculate all charts in this exhibit on the following basis: 10-year amortization of the capital asset."
In our view, the appropriate amortization basis and what is very typical in these projects are five years.  
"Debt cost of 5.5 percent."

We have requested 7 percent.
"And an equity cost of 8.39."

Of course, we filed on the basis of 8.86.  We know that we will adjust to 8.57.
"PILs calculated on the basis of announced tax rates."

Okay.  That's fine.

Yes.  So, the big difference here of course is the amortization, as well, that's giving rise to the lower amount.

So, you know, we don't agree with any of those things.  We have provided it, of course.  It's a lower cost.  We can amortize this over 20 years, it would be even lower, but frankly it doesn't match with what's typical for, you know, a sustainable approach to recognizing the costs of deploying IT architecture in support of good business practice, in support of delivering good service to our customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So here is my question about that.  And when I read this stuff I had a hard time understanding it.

On the one hand, you're saying this stuff is going to last at least six years, because you have a six-year business case.  But your depreciation is five years, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Over six years.  Spanning six years, half a year, year 1.  Half a year, year 6.  Five years in total. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  Actually, check the math.  It is six years.

MR. BASILIO:  And --

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the thing I don't understand is it is replacing 27-year old system.

MR. BASILIO:  Year 1 is an implementation year, so it is not actually a useful year.  That's why it's --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  But it's replacing a 27-year old system.  You're saying the 27-year old system, which limped along at the end, nonetheless the new system can only last five years.

MR. BASILIO:  Before a major upgrade.  Before a major upgrade, and that will be a significant cost as it is with any project of this nature.

I know that these cases have been -- there have been, I am sure there have been a number of these cases that everyone will have heard.  This is very typical.  I mean there is nothing new in here in terms of an implementation, when additional significant costs are going to be incurred.  That's really, then, about renewal.

Renewal costs in an ERP, ultimately you have an upgrade and it is significant.

MR. SHEPHERD:  One of the effects of the proposal you have made is that OM&A costs that you incurred in 2007 would be recoverable from ratepayers in 2008 and beyond.  Isn't that right?

MR. BASILIO:  That is correct, and that was done on the basis that we're prepared to give customers the benefits of this now.  Again, if we go to the traditional approach, it's going to cost customers more over the next three to five years, possibly five if we close a merger with Guelph.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, this would be an appropriate time for our break.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  20 minutes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, just as we break, could I get some sense from Mr. Shepherd as to how long he thinks he might be?

MR. SHEPHERD:  20 minutes.

MR. KAISER:  Okay.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 2:59 p.m.
 
--- Upon resuming at 3:16 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  For the interest of the Board and the parties, I hope to be no more than 20 minutes on this panel.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  My remaining questions have to do with your OM&A budget.


I would like to use as the starting point pages 33 and 34 of your Schools IR responses, because that is where I have all of my notes.


Do you have that?  Okay.  So let's start with the operations section, that component of your OM&A.


You are forecasting or you are asking for the test year for about $8 million in that category; right?


We went to the St. Catharines and Hamilton numbers for 2004, which are found at pages 37 and 38, and we found that in that category, in 2004, you spent $6.3 million.


Now, I take it that it is fair to say that you haven't had substantial customer growth in St. Catharines and Hamilton between 2004 and 2008.  It averages less than half of one percent a year; right?


MR. McKENZIE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But that's a 6 percent per year budget increase.


Then it occurred to us that this is where you get a big chunk of your merger savings, isn't it?


MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know what -- that $6.3 million number for 2004, do you know what we would adjust it to if we put in the merger savings?  Do you know how much of the merger savings go in there?


MR. BASILIO:  Not off the top of my head, but overall the savings out of OM&A were -- the OM&A-related savings were 3.9 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can you give us just an estimate of how much would be in there?  Your breakdown in CCC number 2 is not broken down by function.  It is broken down by type of expense, like salary, et cetera; right?


But I assume you have a breakdown by department, as well, when you do your internal budgeting.  You must have that.


MR. BASILIO:  It would have been more so in billing and customer care, and general and administrative expense.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yes?  Okay.


MR. BASILIO:  More so of the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I am going to ask you -- when I am finished with this discussion, I am going to ask you to undertake to provide us with the adjustments you made to 2004 to make them -- to reflect the merger savings.  So we can look at the difference for the two years -- from 2004 to 2008, okay?


MR. KAISER:  Let's give that a number now, Mr. Shepherd.  Maybe you can describe it.  J1.9 is what?


MR. SHEPHERD:  So what I am asking you to do is to allocate the $3.9 million in merger savings between the operations, maintenance, et cetera, various categories of OM&A.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.9:  TO ALLOCATE THE $3.9 MILLION IN MERGER SAVINGS BETWEEN THE CATEGORIES OF OM&A.


MR. BASILIO:  Sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You can do that?  Thanks.


So in operations, you appear to have an increase -- now, tree-trimming isn't in here; right?  Tree-trimming is in maintenance, right, because that's a big number?  But there are some ERP numbers in operations; is that right?


MR. BASILIO:  ERP is in G&A.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's in G&A?


MR. BASILIO:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


I thought you said earlier about $600,000 was in G&A?


MS. HUGHES:  There's actually -- so there is $1.3 million in OM&A related to ERP in 2008.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MS. HUGHES:  I am trying to think about the breakdown, to see where that is.  I believe it is in G&A.  Yes, I believe the $1.3 million of ERP expenditures are within G&A.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So help me out with this.  This thing you filed in response to Board Staff, attachment I, says your incremental operating expense for -- oh, I see, that's 2007.  2008 is 1,295,000.  Okay, never mind.


MS. HUGHES:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I guess help me out.  Is it correct that that means, from 2004 to 2008, your operating expenses have gone up, on a compound annual basis, by more than 

6 percent; right?


MR. BASILIO:  Can I just be clear on the context of the question here?  You're looking at -- you're starting with combined -- St. Catharines Hydro, Hamilton Hydro combined OM&A.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. BASILIO:  And then you are taking us through -- you know, you're asking for a lot.  Combined OM&A that we're asking for in 2008 is this much more.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. BASILIO:  Justify the difference?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.


MS. HUGHES:  Okay.  I was focussed on operations versus maintenance, but it is in total.


MR. BASILIO:  I think we can do this at a high level.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am actually asking about operations.  I am going to get to maintenance in a second.


MS. HUGHES:  Well, operations, if I go back to when we talked about the labour force, we do have two new operators, as well.  So there are new positions that will also drive increase in operations expenses, specifically operations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We looked at the labour component of operations and it didn't look like that was going up by much.


MS. HUGHES:  Well, operations is going up a million dollars between 2006 and 2008.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Hmm-hmm.


MS. HUGHES:  And part of that is being driven by new hires.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MS. HUGHES:  And inflation, as well as in the miscellaneous distribution expenses, we also have low voltage charges, I believe, for the Hydro One, is in the miscellaneous expenditures.


MR. McKENZIE:  No.  


MS. HUGHES:  Isn't it here?


MR. McKENZIE:  No.


MS. HUGHES:  Oh, sorry.  It is all miscellaneous.  My apologies, then.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Essentially, the problem is you have to replace an aging work force, and that is what is costing you extra money, and inflation?


MS. HUGHES:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Maintenance, on the other hand, despite the jump in tree-trimming, you actually have gone from 6.5 million in St. Catharines and Hamilton, in 2004, to only 7 million.  So, in fact, if you adjust for the fact that tree-trimming is a change in operations, your operating standards, you are actually reducing your maintenance costs.


Why is that?  I'm not complaining, unless it means you're not maintaining.


[Witness panel confers]

MS. LERETTE:  I know -- a brief history from St. Catharines prior to the merger.  I know their outside labour force worked a lot on O&M and very little on their capital projects.


Now we have made the shift to them working actually probably half and half on capital and maintenance.  I think that can account for some of the difference.  They used to contract out all of their capital work.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But it still would have been under maintenance, wouldn't it?  You're saying the same people are now doing some of the capital work that otherwise was contracted out?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  They're just working harder?


MS. LERETTE:  Working differently than they used to.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In billing and collections, now you've gone from $7 million to $7.8 million over that period of time, 2004 to 2008.


It looks like the biggest driver of that is bad debt.


MS. HUGHES:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is your bad debt going up?


MS. HUGHES:  So when we look at the bad debt, one of the things in terms of -- recognizing that in 2007 we actually received some credits with respect to previously written-off bad debt expenditures of approximately $200,000.  I believe they were OPC credits.

So in fact, that year is low.

When we were looking at our 2008 budget for purposes of the rate filing, we did look at an average of our bad debt experience, over, I believe, a three- to five-year period.

One of the things with our -- with where we are, we have some large commercial customers in our area.  Difficult to know the types of losses that we would experience there, but historically we have had a few rather large commercial losses.

So we did sort of factor that in, in terms of our bad debt expense.  I would like to highlight, in terms of our gross billings, we do have exposure in terms of our gross billings, with respect to bad debts.  And that percentage of bad debt expense as a percentage of our gross billings remains constant.  I believe it is about 0.2 percent of gross billings, in terms of how we forecasted our bad debt expenditures.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your percentage of your gross billings is the same because the commodity cost has gone up?  Or because your volumes have increased?  Because the number's gone up, so if it is the same percentage, it means your base has gone up.

MS. HUGHES:  Well, I guess what we have looked at is a bad debt expenditure that would be relatively consistent based on our gross billings.  That's how we historically have measured our bad debt expenditures.

So in terms of the gross billings -- fluctuates, doesn't it?

MR. McKENZIE:  Our gross billings for 2008 are estimated at 520 million and our write-off average is 0.2 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your gross billings were that much lower last year?

MS. HUGHES:  That's why I tried to highlight last year's were particularly low by 200,000 as a result of one-time credit recoveries.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Or the year before?  I look back to 2002 and I can't find a year that is at a million fifty except for one, and that one you recovered a big chunk of it the next year.

MS. HUGHES:  That was a large one – sorry, do you 
have --

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think your average from 2002 is well below a million and fifty.  That is why I am asking.

MS. HUGHES:  But that is 2002.  I don't have the gross billings numbers with me here, in terms of providing that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, fair enough.  Then you have reduced your spending on community relations substantially, but it is actually higher than the two merged organizations did earlier, right?

They spent about 300,000 in 2004 and you are up to 750, right?

A big chunk of this is your activities in the conservation area?

MR. BASILIO:  No.

MS. HUGHES:  No.  I think the community relations, certainly we've -- community relations would also tie in with the rollout of smart meters, a great deal of material involved in educating our customers on smart meters, as well as sort of time of use rates and what that is going to mean to the customer in the future.

So that is certainly why you can see that we are spending more money on community relations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, one of the things I found interesting is in the community relations budget in 2006, and in 2007, for that matter, you have some big chunks of money for energy conservation.  That is third tranche money, right?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes.

MR. McKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Although it was in your budget, it wasn't in rates separately.  It was, in fact, funded by an ROE tranche.  You were paying it out of ROE, right?

MR. McKENZIE:  Out of the third tranche.

MS. HUGHES:  Yes.

MR. McKENZIE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  So in terms of comparing 2008 budget to seven or six, it would be fair to back-out those third tranche monies which weren't really ratepayer costs, right?

MS. HUGHES:  Right.

MR. BASILIO:  I don't think we have included any of that, though, in terms of the activities that comprise that budget.  I don't think there is any -- there shouldn't be.

MS. HUGHES:  There is not currently for 2008.

MR. BASILIO:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No but for 2006 and 2007 --

MS. HUGHES:  Correct.  There would have been for 2006 and 2007, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your actual budget, your OM&A budget you recover from ratepayers in 2006, for example, was not $34.4 million, it was about $1.6 million less than that, right?

MR. BASILIO:  That we're recovering from ratepayers outside of the third -– well, I mean we're recovering the third tranche from ratepayers as well.  But was it -- I mean it wasn't was in 2004 rate base, so that's right, we wouldn't have been recovering it from --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then, of course, the last one is G&A.  You said a big chunk of the $3.9 million savings would be in that -- would be in G&A, right?  The $3.9 million in savings.

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When we see a big increase of that from $11.4 million to $18.5 million over four years, that is actually understated because you had savings too.  So it is higher than that, right, that increase?  In G&A, apples to apples?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes.  I would say yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

We talked already about that in the context of salaries and expenses and stuff like that.

One of the things that you have a big additional chunk of money, $1.2 million, is outside services employed.  Some component of that is regulatory?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes.

MR. McKENZIE:  Some would be regulatory, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And do you know what the rest of it would be?

MS. HUGHES:  ERP costs --

MR. SHEPHERD:  ERP, okay.

MS. HUGHES:  -- 2008, 1.3 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, all right.  Okay.  So you have 1.3 million in 2008, 1.3 million of ERP, then a million of other stuff, including regulatory?

MS. HUGHES:  Right, yes.

MR. McKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then your miscellaneous general expenses go up by 126 percent.  What is in there?

MS. HUGHES:  Actually, that was the low-voltage Hydro One charges that I referred to earlier.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That additional 400,000 is all low-voltage?

MR. McKENZIE:  196,000 of it is the low-voltage charges, which were pulled out subsequently during our rate calculations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The other couple of hundred thousand in there?

MS. HUGHES:  Sorry, let me --

Sorry.  I just have to look at where that is.  

Sorry.  One second.  No, I don't have that answer off the top of my head.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine.  I just have one final question, and this sort of relates back to our M&A discussion.

I am looking at page 39 of your responses to School's interrogatories, and you have one thing here.  It's a small number, but I am actually asking more about the principle than the number itself, $150,000, and it says:

"Increase in cost due to the renumbering of switches in St. Catharines to conform to Horizon Utilities' corporate numbering scheme."

Now, when you do a merger, you have lots of stuff like that, right?  Where things just don't match up, and you have to, operationally, you have to make them match up.

I take it that all of those costs, matching up the two entities, are treated as normal operating expenses.  None of them are treated as related to the M&A activity.  They're all treated as related to operations, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in the normal course when you do a merger, you don't have a cost of service right after, or shortly after.  And so you're basically eating those additional costs anyway, right?

MR. PASQUET:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have to find them in the budget somewhere.

But you do have some that slop over into a cost-of-service year, and then you ask the ratepayers to pay those costs which are directly caused by the merger, right?

MR. BASILIO:  With respect to those costs, I think it is fair to say they were caused by the merger.

MS. HUGHES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Those are all of my questions, Mr. Chair.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I prepared an exhibit.  It just collects all of the page references that I am going -- or that I may be referring to.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  We appreciate that.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  While it is being passed out, I will say it is all from the record, from the IRs.  There is nothing new in it, and I will also say I don't promise to refer to everything in the exhibit.  It is just there.  Some of it is there just in case I have to.

MS. COCHRANE:  That will be Exhibit K1.1, Mr. Chair. 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  BRIEF OF CROSS-EXAMINATION DOCUMENTS PREPARED BY MR. BUONAGURO.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you. 
Cross-examination by Mr. Buonaguro: 


MR. BUONAGURO:  I would like to start with some questions about your work replacement program, which I think may bring in some members of the panel who haven't had a lot to talk about.  The first page of the Exhibit K1.1 is from Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, page 9.  It talks about the wood pole replacement program, and it talks about how Horizon's plan is to test and rate 20 percent of wood poles that are older than 25 years on a yearly basis.  Do you see that?


MR. BROWN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Then over the page in K1.1, at page 2 of the book, this is from Interrogatory Response No. 9 from Board Staff.


It talks about -- on page 17 of that, which is page 3 of the book, it talks about the 2006 wood pole replacement program, and, in particular, it says two things.  


One, it says that you spent $1,458,473 on the wood pole replacement program, and it also says that the 2006 expenditure was not sufficient to replace all of the poles identified for replacement in 2006.  This resulted in the replacement of these poles being deferred to 2007.


Now, what I would like to ask you about, first of all, can you tell me how many poles were actually replaced in 2006?


MR. BROWN:  I don't have that number right in front of me, no.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you able to tell me how many poles were deferred to 2007?


MR. BROWN:  The replacement of poles in 2007, I believe we were on track for the 340 poles that we were planning on doing.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So you are going to do the 334 that are planned.


My question is:  How many of the 334 are deferrals from 2006?


MR. BROWN:  I would have to get that information back at the office.  I don't have those numbers with me right now.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can I get that undertaking?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  J1.10.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.10:  to PROVIDE HOW MANY OF 334 WOOD POLE REPLACEMENTS ARE DEFERRALS FROM 2006.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Could you -- do you have an explanation for why the work couldn't be done in 2006 that caused the deferral to 2007?


MR. BROWN:  Well, as with all things, sometimes the best laid plans are impacted by other constraints, and I believe in 2006 we had other priorities in terms of some capacity and renewal projects and other asset categories.


So what we did is we replaced those ones that were most critical at the time, and then we deferred some of those, because there were other system needs during that given budget year.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So general work management reasons?


MR. BROWN:  You have some -- you know, for example, sometimes customer demand projects are more demanding of your time in the short term.  Sometimes there are storms that come through where we have assets that need to be replaced under emergency conditions.  


Those are the kinds of impacts that impact some of the actual pole replacement quantities you're able to deliver in a given year.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, moving to the year 2007, this is actually on the same page, page 17 of response to Board Staff interrogatories.  The 2007 bridge year budget is 2,092,000.  Do you see that?


MR. BROWN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I think you just talked about the plan for that year is 334 poles?


MR. BROWN:  For 2008 was 340 poles.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry?


MR. BROWN:  I'm sorry, I misunderstood your question.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I thought that earlier, when I asked you how many had been deferred to 2007, you first told me that 334 poles was what you were supposed to do in 2007.


MR. BROWN:  Sorry, I misunderstood your question.  That was for 2008.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  Are you able to tell me what the target was for 2007 that represents the $2,092,000?


MR. BROWN:  That is the 340.  The quantity of 340 --


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.


MR. BROWN:  -- represents the 2.1 million.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me how many of those poles were identified as part of the 2007 inspection program?


MR. BROWN:  None.  Like, the 2007 testing that Horizon performed yielded a quantity of required replacements in 2008 of 340.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  Can you tell me how many -- so you're saying that the testing tells you what you're going to do next year?


MR. BROWN:  Other than emergency ones that are immediate requirements, yes.  We test in the year prior to the replacement activity taking place, except for those emergency poles that must be looked at immediately.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So how many, then -- I guess for 2007, a portion of that was identified in 2006?


MR. BROWN:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me how many were identified in 2006 to be replaced in 2007?


MR. BROWN:  I think the easiest thing for me to do is to put a table together of the quantities tested, recommended for replacement and actually replaced in a given budget year.  Is that a fair undertaking to --


MR. BUONAGURO:  That would be a good shortcut.


MR. KAISER:  Are you just looking for the cost per pole at the end of the day?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think that will fall out of it, yes.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  You want to add that as a column, the cost per pole in the particular year?


MR. BROWN:  Well, the difficulty in that is that some poles, small poles, for example, are very cost-effective to replace, and those that are 55 and 60 feet tall are very expensive to replace.


So I guess it is -- you can take the average, if you like.  If it is meaningful for you, we can certainly provide that for you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think we can figure out the average, then, from the table ourselves, but if I could get the undertaking to do the breakdown, that would be great.


MR. KAISER:  J1.11.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.11:  TO PROVIDE TABLE OF QUANTITY OF POLLS TESTED, RECOMMENDED FOR REPLACEMENT AND ACTUALLY REPLACED IN A GIVEN BUDGET YEAR, AND BUDGETED AMOUNT.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in the first page of the OEB -- in response to A of interrogatory 9 from Board Staff, it talks about part of what you do in a particular year is also poles identified for immediate replacement.  Will that be included in that table?


MR. BROWN:  Absolutely.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.


You mentioned the 340 for 2007 -- 340 replacements for 2007.  Was that completed?


MR. BROWN:  For 2008, there was 340 poles that were planned for replacement.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So how many were planned for 2007 again?


MR. BROWN:  Again, what I will do is I will include that in the --


MR. BUONAGURO:  I thought you had told me that before, and then couldn't break it out.


MR. BROWN:  I think we are on track, in terms -- I think we virtually actually achieved all 340, but I have to confirm that with the undertaking, if you wouldn't mind.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So I can't remember if this was part of the undertaking, but just make sure that you include the budgeted amount or the planned amount for 2006, 2007.


MR. BROWN:  Absolutely.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


I would like to ask you about your connections budget.  If you look at page 5 of the package that I distributed to you, K1.1, this is in response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 6.  I am looking, in particular, at part C.


This gives a breakdown of the number of new connections that relate to the budgets that are in the table, above on the table.  Do you see that?


MR. BROWN:  Yes, I do.


MR. BUONAGURO:  In this table, at part C of the response, you are breaking out for 2008 -- you are connecting 20 subdivisions and 1,400 new residential services; do you see that?


MR. BROWN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, for the new subdivisions, would they involve new residential services as a subset of that connection?


MR. BROWN:  In part.  Often what happens is the subdivision gets installed, and then not until the house is built is the service connected.  Often what happens is the subdivision will get electrically serviced, and then it will be some time until a house is built and actually connected.


So the 1,400 services that you see quoted in here for 2008, for example, may service those subdivisions that were put in in 2007 and perhaps in 2006.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  I thought that might be your answer.  So looking at the next page over in the package, at page 6, which is an excerpt from Exhibit C, tab 2, schedule 1, which shows your customer data, the first line has your forecast number of residential consumer -- residential customers.  


We were looking at the 2007 figure for about 210,652 versus the forecast in 2008 of 211,942.

It only shows, I think it is 1,290 new customers for the year.  And then trying to reconcile that back with the customer connections of about 1,400 new residential customers, now, our first thought was what about the subdivision customers, but I think you answered that.  Is there another further answer about the difference between  -- why the 1,400 isn't tacked on to the 210,652 from 2007?

MR. McKENZIE:  Yes.  They were forecasted by different departments.  This forecast is based on a long-term projection of customer counts based on years and averages, as identified in the application.

The number of subdivisions with the estimated 1,400 customers was done through our metering customer connection department.  The 1,400 does make up the 20 subdivisions plus individual connections after.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  One last question on this particular table I have to ask.

You have columns for "historical, actual" and then "historical, actual normalized" but they're always the same, I think.  Why is that?

MR. McKENZIE:  That's correct, because the normalized is for weather and customer counts don't change because it gets colder or warmer.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So it is not really necessary for that table?

MR. McKENZIE:  It is necessary for the kilowatt-hours, and kilowatts --

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.

MR. McKENZIE:  But not for customer counts.  They don't change.  Just the energy that is weather-normalized.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That was for me.

Now, again, if you could turn the page over, page 7 in the book of materials K1.1, this is Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, and I have included page 20 and 21.

This talks about the meter -- I am interested in the whole submeter verification program, which starts near the bottom of the page, of page 7.

It talks about the fact that you had a number of projects originally scheduled for 2007, but that they were deferred to 2008 due to Hydro One commitments, and that is because, as I understand from the evidence, Hydro One's the one that actually does the work.  Is that right?

MR. McKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  As a result of that deferral, the table 8 that appears on that exhibit shows that 2007 figure was only 643,141 versus a 2008 test figure of 1,436,768.

Do you see that?

MR. McKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, we asked about this in interrogatories.  And if you turn the page over, again, Page 9 of K1.1, this is VECC interrogatory question 11.  In particular, I am interested in the answer at part E.  You said here that:
"Hydro One committed to the completion of the 2008 test year wholesale meter points."

And I am assuming that is what represents the $1.4 million, right?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  For 2008?

MR. McKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, the interrogatory response was in, I think it was filed in January or February of this year.  Are you able to provide an update on the Hydro One commitment to provide that level of meter verification?

MR. McKENZIE:  The meters that are in the 2008 test year will be completed in 2008, and in addition, Hydro One has advised us they will be able to complete some additional wholesale meters that are not provided for in the application or the forward test year.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, this sounds a bit like a pass-through, in the sense that Hydro One dictates how much work is being done based on their availability?

MR. McKENZIE:  Yes.  Through arrangements with Hydro One, they require scheduling to get into their TSs to do the wholesale meters.  With their strike they had, and I believe it was 2007 when they were on strike, that put them, put Hydro One behind.

So they committed to doing these four wholesale meters at Carlton and Lake.  The other meters on the, in Exhibit D -– and I am not sure if you have that page.  Yes.  They're meters that are due for reverification, and at this point, we have not had confirmation now.  At the time of filing, we did not have confirmation they would be done.  We do now, that some of these will be done in 2008.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  How far forward do you forecast, or arrange with Hydro One to do these verifications?

MR. McKENZIE:  We're about eight to 10 months, is when we make application to Hydro One.

We have to show due diligence through to the IESO that we have contacted Hydro One in order to have our meters reverified or replaced, in compliance with the expiration date.

So we are about a year ahead.  Probably ten months to a year, we will make application to Hydro One for the meters, to be reverified in the year they're supposed to be.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I had some questions on bad debt expense, but Mr. Shepherd covered most of it.

I did include a page -- at page 13 of K1.1, which is a response to a VECC interrogatory, and VECC interrogatory number 25 and page -- I am looking at 25 D.  This is where we found out that the bad debt expense for 2008 is estimated approximately 0.2 percent for the 2008 test year.

Is that the actual methodology?  You figure out what your gross billings are going to be for the year, and then you peg 0.2 percent as debt expense?

MR. McKENZIE:  The 0.2 percent being our average for bad debts.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So that is the methodology?

MR. McKENZIE:  Based on the entire billing to the customer because, as you know, we pass-through the majority of the bills.

MS. HUGHES:  We do, in fact, look at historical bad debt experience as well.

We do a very detailed analysis on our bad debts, in terms of commercial and residential customers, as well.  And, you know, we do look at trending, as well.  So it's a combination of --

MR. BUONAGURO:  And because, I guess the reason this came up is because a 47 percent increase over 2006 -- and I think Mr. Shepherd touched on this -- would presume there is something in the order of a 47, 46 percent -- I think 47 percent increase in gross total billings from 2006 to 2008.

You told him, I think, that you don't have that number available.  He didn't ask for it.  I was wondering if you could provide that?

MR. McKENZIE:  Is that the gross billings for -- remembering that bad debts do fluctuate from year to year, and you can have one commercial go under, which will influence the bad debt significantly.

Trending-wise, from 2002, Hamilton alone had bad debts in 2002 of 1.1 million, 2.8 being a large customer with which we had a million dollar recovery.  So that was 1.8 million.

Then we go into 2005, 2006 and 2007 were lower and 2008, they have been steady declining.  So we have been trending Hamilton alone around a million dollars.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand.  I just wanted to get the data that relates to the methodology that you are telling me you are using for 2008.

I understand the additional explanation.  But you are telling me that generally speaking, 0.2 percent of your -- the gross billings for the year is a good indicator, forecast purposes.  I wanted to see how they related to the previous years.  Could you provide those numbers?

MR. McKENZIE:  Gross billings for 2006, and 2007?  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, please.

MR. KAISER:  You want to compare the 0.2 percent gross billings in those years to the actual?  That's the object?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I want to -- I need to know what the total gross billings were for those years, so I can compare them to the bad debt expense that was experienced in those years, to see how close they are to 0.2 percent.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  I think they're going to provide that.  We will make that J1.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.12: To provide gross billing information for 2006 and 2007.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  

My last -- 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Mr. Buonaguro.  I may be the only one who missed this but which years were those?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I believe they said they would do 2006 and 2007.

MR. McKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I invite you to go back further, if you think it would be helpful.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I think 2006 and 2007 will probably be fine, sir.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  This is my last area on this -- for this panel, and it is back to vegetation.


Looking at page 16 of my book of materials, K1.1, this is an excerpt from Exhibit D, tab 2, schedule 3, and it is just a reference to the increase in the costs for plant and forestry maintenance for Hamilton from 1.15 million to 2.061 million.


We asked a question about the figures, and this is over the page, page 17, question number 27 from a VECC interrogatory.  Looking at response B, we asked you in part B about the increase in costs.


Part of the explanation we got was that the -- there was a deferral of work from 2007 to 2008?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes.









MR. BUONAGURO:  And we would like to know if you can identify how much of the $2.1 million that was actually spent in 2007 -- sorry.  How much of the -- how much amount is pegged to the deferral of work?


MS. LERETTE:  I would refer you to the School's IR Question 13H.  There is a chart that shows the three years of trimming and the carryover from 2007, which is 1.1 million from 2007.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So $1.1 million of the 2008 budget is just deferral?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes.  We've deferred 1.1 million from 2007 and looked at the next three years for tree-trimming, and taken the $1.1 million plus the cost we expect in the next three years and have averaged them out over a three-year period.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So I am trying to -- I am just trying to understand that.


The 2 million is composed of the new three-year cycle.  It is also composed partly of deferral?


MS. LERETTE:  Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I am trying to figure out how much the program costs without the deferral.  I think your answer was it is sort of blended in there?


MS. LERETTE:  The 1.1 is blended.


MR. BUONAGURO:  How much of the 1.1 is strictly as a result of deferral?  I am trying to figure out what the program costs once you catch up.


MS. LERETTE:  Well, it would be the total of the three years minus 1.1, is what we're expecting over three years.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I don't have that exhibit in front of me, so perhaps you can do the math for me.


MS. LERETTE:  I can't add in my head.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I have enough to figure it 

out --


MS. LERETTE:  Okay.


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- for the purposes of argument.


Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. MacIntosh, do you have anything?  Board counsel have anything?

Cross-examination by Ms. Cochrane:


MS. COCHRANE:  I have a few questions.


First of all, with respect to your tree-trimming costs, or vegetation management, if you would prefer the more technical term, we see from your filing that there is a 5 percent decrease between 2006 and 2007 than between 2007/2008, and there is an 85 percent increase.


My question is -- and I think that was, in part, explained by your evidence that you have switched to a three-year trimming cycle in Hamilton.


What was the reason for switching to the three-year cycle?  Was there some finding that that's the optimal cycle as opposed to four or five years?


MS. LERETTE:  Well, the three-year cycle is an accepted industry practice.  Other than Horizon, there is many utilities that use a three-year trim cycle, utilities like Canadian Niagara Power, Hydro Ottawa, Burlington Hydro, Guelph Hydro, Oakville Hydro, Niagara-on-the-Lake.  I can go on, but those are to name a few.


We also consult with our professional arborists who do the work for Horizon, and, you know, it is a real balancing act to try to look at different species that grow at different times, maintain electrical clearances and keep customers satisfied, because we have found that when we go beyond the three-year trim cycle, as we have in some areas of Hamilton, you begin to trim very, very large limbs of trees and it is very difficult to maintain your electrical clearances without devastating the tree.


So, you know, we need to maintain the electrical clearances for public safety, but when you let the cycles go beyond three years, the trimming becomes very excessive.


MS. COCHRANE:  Other than looking at what other utilities are doing, do you have any reports or studies that you had to inform your decision?


MS. LERETTE:  No.  We're going on good utility practice.  It has been our experience.  I know that from my time previous to Horizon, I came from a utility that used a three-year trim cycle.  All of the suburbs of Hamilton have always been on a three-year cycle, and we have had very good experience with reliability with using a three-year cycle.


MS. COCHRANE:  The 85 percent increase is some approximately $950,000, in dollar terms.


Can you give us a breakdown of those costs?  I don't know if I saw any in your material.


MS. LERETTE:  Is this from 2006 to 2007?


MS. COCHRANE:  This would be, no, from 2007 to 2008, that we see the 85 percent increase.


MS. LERETTE:  Well, I can comment that in 2006 and, in particular, in 2007, we were unable to complete our planned program due to the increase in costs that we received from contractors.  And a lot of that is to do with rising fuel prices, but also has to do with the increased trimming they have, because they're in an area where they're trimming sections of the city that have not been trimmed in up to seven years.


So we found that when we finished the tendering process for 2007, our budget would not accommodate these increasing costs, and that's how we came to the carryover.


MS. COCHRANE:  A couple of questions about your regulatory costs.  Would you just confirm, for starters, that the costs have increased, since 2006, by approximately $610,000?


I have -- you may want to refer to School's IR response number 13I.


MR. McKENZIE:  That's correct, but a clarification.  That table is not just regulatory.  It now includes all other outside services employed as opposed to comparing that to the OEB account that we filed.


MS. COCHRANE:  So what is the regulatory portion of the costs?


MR. McKENZIE:  One-million-one of the one-million-four is regulatory.  The other are outside services employed.


MS. COCHRANE:  What are the budgeted costs for this proceeding?


MR. McKENZIE:  I believe -- I think it was $625,000 that was included in our 2007 trial balance.


MS. HUGHES:  That's right.


MS. COCHRANE:  Sorry, is that in the -- in your filing?


MR. McKENZIE:  That is in 2007.  Did not budget any outside services or any legal costs in 2008 for this application.  Optimistically, I thought it would be done by Christmas.  So there are no 2008 outside service employed or legal costs for this application.


MR. BASILIO:  Clearly those are going to be significant.


MS. COCHRANE:  What costs have you incurred to date in this proceeding?  If you don't have it --


MR. McKENZIE:  I don't have it.


MS. COCHRANE:  -- on hand, can I get an undertaking you will provide that information to us?


MR. KAISER:  Are you claiming those costs in this application?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, they're not being claimed. 

MR. McKENZIE:  They're not being claimed in this application.

MR. KAISER:  Do you still need it?

MR. McKENZIE:  They're in 2007.

MR. KAISER:  Or you are just interested what his hourly rate is?

[Laughter.] 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Not that I am jumping to the microphone or anything, sir, but --

MS. COCHRANE:  I'm --

MR. McKENZIE:  They're not included in regulatory costs for 2008.  This application was budgeted for in 2007.  It's not being included for recovery in 2008 rates.

MS. COCHRANE:  I am advised Staff is interested in the variance between budgeted and actual amounts, so we would still like that.

MR. KAISER:  Why are they interested?  They're not in rates.

Are we doing a studies or something of legal costs in regulatory proceedings?

MS. COCHRANE:  Mr. Chair, if you don't see the 
point --

MR. KAISER:  They have a stack of undertakings to fill before five o'clock.

MS. COCHRANE:  All right.  You have indicated that you have added three new executive positions, including a VP of business development.  In response to Board Staff IR 23 C, you indicated that this VP is going to be in charge of overseeing the integration of Horizon's management billing and record system.

My question is:  Who was performing this function in the past?

MR. BASILIO:  The business development position or function, is that --

MS. COCHRANE:  Yes.  

MR. BASILIO:  Nobody, really.  You know, the investigation of merger opportunities has not been undertaken well.  That's the reason for adding a focussed competency in the organization.

You know, beyond what goes on in the normal course and discussion, this is really a very focussed and strategic position, looking at the landscape, you know, visiting, getting intelligence and municipalities, building relationships and whatnot.  There has been no single resource or even, you know, between the executive team, to the extent of this position, really, that competency did not exist in the organization, other than at a very superficial level.

MS. COCHRANE:  What I was asking about was the function of overseeing and integrating the management billing and record system.  That is obviously something you had somebody doing before, right?

MR. BASILIO:  That's right.  I think we should clarify, we should clarify the vice president of business development position relative to I think what has been offered here.

That position, again, just to reiterate discussion earlier this morning, is focussed on taking a strategic look at the LDC landscape, evaluating targets, building relationships with such, and trying to bring targets to the point of working together with us in a transaction.  

At that point it is a hand-off.  This position is not involved in the integration activities, nor is it involved in actually developing the transaction forward from there.

It is bringing a relationship that's interested in a transaction.  From there, it is a hand-off to the management steering committee.

MS. COCHRANE:  So the response to that interrogatory you're retracting as incorrect?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.  It is not involved in the integration activities.

MS. COCHRANE:  Thank you.  

Some questions with respect to your employee benefits:  It appears from 2006 to 2008 there is a 27 percent increase for executive benefits, 21 percent for management and 22 percent for non-union employees.

What are the major cost components of this increase?

MS. HUGHES:  In terms of the benefit program, clearly health and dental care benefits, as well as an incentive-based benefits, OMERS, and a pension, retirement pension program.  In terms of looking at increases year-over-year, I think what we have to remember is that many of those benefits are based on base salaries.  So in terms of OMERS, in terms of other benefits, incentive as well, they're driven by changes in salary base as well.

So when you look at the rates, the percentage increase year-over-year you're talking about in addition to, you know, increases in the salary base.

But if you look at benefits and I would refer back to the schedule that I wasn't supposed to earlier, where we outline the salaries and the benefit expenses in the confidential response to the OEB Staff, you can actually see benefits as a percentage of wages.  That percentage has not changed year-over-year significantly.

So on the, sort of on the base --

MR. BASILIO:  Sorry.  We have added positions, which drive the increase.  I mean that would be --

MS. HUGHES:  We've added positions, which is driving the base, which is also driving the increase in benefits as well, correct.

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MS. COCHRANE:  Now, I have some questions about the expenditures that are to be made on the ERP program.

We have heard that the cost is split between that which is capitalized and that which is OM&A.  And the O&M portion, at least, is to be spread out over a time period.  Is that the same for the capitalized as well, I take it?  The 4.7 million, the capitalized portion of the ERP cost?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MS. COCHRANE:  That's to be spread out over a period of time, okay.

Well, I have -- if you could look at in your filing Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1, page 3, line item 19 -- sorry 1925, "computer software".  The second column, "additions".  Sorry.  You don't have that in front of you yet?

MR. McKENZIE:  Sorry, is that Exhibit D?

MS. COCHRANE:  Sorry, it's Exhibit B as in Bob.

MS. HUGHES:  Exhibit B, okay.

MS. COCHRANE:  Tab 2, schedule 1.

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.  Line?

MS. COCHRANE:  Line 1925, "computer software".  There is an additional cost of computer software, 4.1 million, which seems to coincide with the, at least the four million and four million split and the ERP expense.

MR. BASILIO:  Right, so --

MS. COCHRANE:  It would appear that the entire amount is being claimed or added into this 2008 period.  Is there an explanation for this?

MR. BASILIO:  It's going into our fixed asset continuity schedule.  But it is being adjusted through –- Cameron, perhaps you could describe the mechanism to adjust the revenue requirement for our approach to the ERP.

MR. McKENZIE:  It is in the continuity schedule for capitalized, because it's capitalized software, and what we did when we calculated our revenue requirements for the ERP is we calculated revenue requirements before the ERP program was brought into place, so there is no capitalization and no expense.

We then added the capital and the OM&A costs for 2008 into our model, recalculated what the revenue requirement would be, including ERP, and then in the process where we were spreading the costs evenly, we went back and said:  This is, on an average, all we need is one million 351.  Revenue requirement for ERP came out close to one-million-four, one-million-five.

So we made an adjustment to our revenue requirement for 131,000, almost $132,000, to lower it in order that the ratepayers would not --  we would not over-recover the $131, $132,000 over the next five years.

And that's where in the evidence-in-chief, it was identified there was a $657,000 savings to our customers by taking this approach.

MR. BASILIO:  Essentially, we've adjusted the revenue sufficiency downwards. 

MS. COCHRANE:  Now, this method for treating this particular projects cost is, I understand, different from the methodology used for your other projects; do I have that right?


MR. McKENZIE:  That's correct.  It is different from the traditional method of handling capital projects.


MS. COCHRANE:  We've heard a bit about, you know, some costs had to be -- couldn't be capitalized, but had to be treated as OM&A.  Is that the only reason, or are there other reasons for taking this different approach?


MR. BASILIO:  The reason for taking the different approach is that it is a very large, discrete project.  It's adding a significant amount to rate base, and there are some -- we will be taking costs out of our cost structure as a result of ERP costs that we incur today.  


And I think what we're prepared to do is to deliver those savings to our customers over the life of the project through making a rate adjustment now.


That's all -- that is all that this is about.  That's it.


MS. COCHRANE:  Did you consider other approaches or alternatives, and, if so, what were they?  


MR. BASILIO:  The only other approach we considered was the typical approach, and that is what precipitated this, when we looked at it and we saw that, you know, under the typical approach, it's this amount of revenue sufficiency to support ERP, and that doesn't reflect any of the savings that we feel strongly we'll get out of it.


This is really about trying to balance customer and shareholder interests.  That's -- the other approach is the typical approach.  That is the only other approach we looked at.


MS. COCHRANE:  Have you used this particular method for any projects in the past?


MR. BASILIO:  No.  Brand new.


MS. COCHRANE:  As I understand, it's based on a static rate of debts, ROE and tax for the entire period from 2008 to 2013?


MR. BASILIO:  Well, no.  The rate -- I mean, when you take the averaging, it is basically looking at how the rate base would amortize off over the life of the project.  You would apply your cost of capital to that, PILs and whatnot, and then you average it throughout the period.  


So you compute the revenue requirement in each year as if you had rebased each year, and then average it over that period of time.


MS. COCHRANE:  That doesn't take into account changing tax rates or, for example, as you mentioned earlier, cost overruns.  How do you factor in those dynamic aspects?


MR. BASILIO:  We did factor in the tax rates, I thought, through those years.  I thought we readjusted in Exhibit -- it's one of the OEB questions.


We will confirm that in a minute.  Well, cost overruns are not factored -- the shareholder is taking a bit of risk here, there is no doubt.  This was about recognizing we're making a very significant investment, but we anticipate some savings, and wanting to balance -- you know, balance this out with customers, but we are taking some risks.  


We are running into some cost pressures in this project, and, to the extent we don't achieve -- we don't deliver the project on budget, that's for the account of the shareholder, I suppose, if the Board accepts this approach as filed.


MR. McKENZIE:  And tax rates are adjusted in the schedules that accompany the Board IR tab.


MR. KAISER:  Is that 24F?


MR. McKENZIE:  That's correct, tab I.


MS. COCHRANE:  Just a couple of questions about your  -- okay, those are all of my questions.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  We have to finish at five o'clock, Mr. Sidlofsky.  Do you think we can finish?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I don't know how long my friend Mr. Shepherd is going to be.


I think I would be another ten minutes, I expect, with Mr. Basilio in evidence-in-chief, but does the Panel have any questions for this witness panel?


MR. KAISER:  No.  We have no questions.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I just had one question on redirect for Mr. McKenzie, if I might.


MR. KAISER:  Oh, sure.

Re-examination by Mr. Sidlofsky:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. McKenzie, you had a brief exchange with my friend, Ms. Cochrane, about the regulatory costs for 2008.  And you suggested to her that you hadn't budgeted for an oral hearing for this process, for the 2008 process, in 2008; is that correct?


MR. McKENZIE:  That's correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And just to link that to some earlier comments that you made, is that why you have suggested that your regulatory costs would not decrease significantly beyond 2008?


MR. McKENZIE:  That's correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And could you -- is there any way you could just give the Board some sense of the initiatives that you are involved in this year or that your regulatory group is involved in this year and that you expect to be involved in?


MR. McKENZIE:  This year, we were involved in the time of use pricing, third generation IRM, rate design, distributor cost comparisons.  Those are the four key ones that I can think of so far.  Those are the last four papers we have submitted in the last month.


There were some earlier papers that we did submit, but there is about eight, in total.


MR. BASILIO:  Basically, if we take all of the proceedings with the exception of farm stray voltage, I think we have been involved --


MR. McKENZIE:  And Aboriginal rights.


MR. BASILIO:  And Aboriginal rights.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Do you anticipate a similar work load over the next couple of years?


MR. McKENZIE:  Yes, we do, based on the board's business plan.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, sir.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  As I said, I don't know how long my friends are going to be in cross-examination, but I have a brief direct examination for Mr. Basilio.


MR. KAISER:  All right, go ahead.

HORIZON UTILITIES CORPORATION - PANEL 3


Sarah Hughes, sworn


Cameron McKenzie, sworn


John Basilio, sworn

Examination-in-Chief by Mr. Sidlofsky:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Basilio, Horizon has a promissory note payable to its shareholder, as you are aware, Hamilton Utilities Corporation, in the amount of $116 million at an interest rate of 7 percent.


If I could just cut to the chase with you, why is Horizon asking the Board to approve 7 percent on its long-term debt when Hamilton Utilities Corporation is paying 6-1/2 percent interest on a debenture?


MR. BASILIO:  There are two issues here.  First, Horizon is following the OEB's rules in maintaining the same 7 percent debt rate that it has had since 2000 in this application.


Second, Hamilton Utilities Corporation's decisions with respect to its borrowing are made independently of Horizon.  I will speak to the first issue first.


The OEB has had two rate handbooks for electricity distributors.  The 2000 rate handbook had a deemed debt rate of 7 percent for distributors with Horizon's rate base.  When it came to affiliate debt, the debt rate for rate-making purposes was the lower of the deemed debt rate and the actual debt rate.


The 2006 rate handbook had a similar rule.  The debt rate to be used for affiliate debt was to be the lower of the actual rate and the deemed rate at the time of issuance.  For debt issued between March of 2000 and May 2005, the deemed debt rate was to be -- the deemed rate was to be the deemed debt rate in the 2000 handbook, 7 percent


The most recent version of the Horizon note is from February 2005, and that reflects non-substantive amendments to the 2002 note.  In keeping with the 2006 rate handbook, the debt rate used for rate making in 2006 was the 7 percent rate in this most recent version.


Amendments to the original note did not result in dispositions and reissuances at law, for tax or for accounting purposes.  As such, the present note is a continuation in all substantive respects of the original note.


The Ontario Energy Board issued filing requirements for transmission and distribution applications in November of 2006.  These included the filing requirements for forward test year rebasing applications.  


At chapter 2.7, section 3 of the filing requirements, the Board advised that the requirements for cost of capital will be developed and brought into effect through the Board-initiated cost of capital and 2nd generation incentive regulation mechanism.


In order to set the cost of capital rules for the 2008 to 2010 cycle of rebasing applications, the OEB held a lengthy stakeholder conference on cost of capital and 2nd generation incentive regulation, which we participated in.


After the -- this was after the 2006 rate-making process was complete.  In its December 2006 report, the Board was very clear on how it would deal with the cost of debt.


Section 2.2.1 of the Board report on cost of capital provides that the Board, and I quote:  

"The Board has determined that for embedded debt the rate approved in prior Board decisions shall be maintained for the life of each active instrument unless a new rate has been negotiated, in which case it will be treated as new debt.
"The present Horizon promissory note continues to have a rate of 7 percent.  Such rate has not changed since its inception.  Such rate in the most recent version of the note, was approved in a prior Board decision, most recently its decision on the 2006 electricity distribution rate application of Horizon.  Such note is a fixed-rate, fixed-term note.  Based on the Board's clear guidelines for filing 2008 electricity distribution rate applications, the rate of the Horizon promissory note should be accepted as filed at 7 percent."

And volume 2 of the prefiled evidence, at Exhibit F, tab 1, schedule 3, and appendix A to that schedule, includes the notes that I will be discussing.

Hamilton Hydro is the predecessor corporation to Horizon Utilities.  When Hamilton Hydro was established in 2000, it issued a long-term note to its parent, Hamilton Utilities Corporation, for $142 million.

That note was issued July 1st, 2000, had a rate of 7 percent.  The original note provided that interest would increase to the full 7 percent over two years, and that Hamilton utilities could not demand repayment for July 1st -- before July 1st, 2001, and only with 18 months' notice.

The purpose of the lengthy notice was to balance an intention for a long-term instrument with some uncertainty at the time created by evolving energy policy and regulation.

That note was revised on August 10th, 2001.  The 2001 note removed two provisions of the original note.  The restriction on demanding payment had expired and was deleted, and the new note removed the graduated increase in interest rates, so the full 7 percent came into force in 2001.

On July 18th, 2002, and in consideration for accepting certain non-substantive terms linked to a HUC, a Hamilton Utilities Corporation refinancing at that time, Hamilton Hydro was permitted to pay $26 million down on the promissory note.

The principal value of the promissory note was restated in the outstanding amount of $116 million, and such repayment allowed Hamilton Hydro to achieve a more efficient balance sheet by eliminating the negative interest expense on the difference between its cash balances and the amount of promissory note repayment.

It also gave it broader access to debt liquidity for future incremental financing needs.

On February 28th, 2005, Hamilton Hydro and its parent amended the 2002 note to reflect the terms generally accepted in July 2002, which fixed the repayment date of July 30th, 2012 and removed the 18-month call option of Hamilton Utilities Corporation.

Now the February 2005 amendment was a matter of some late housekeeping, and had just preceded a merger with St. Catharines Hydro Inc.

Now, it is noteworthy that the present form of note was approved by St. Catharines Hydro Inc, which merged with Hamilton Hydro on March 1st of 2008, and this is noteworthy since it reflects the acceptance of the form and substance of a very material note by an arms-length party in an arms-length negotiation.

Horizon's debt is existing, and has existed since 2000.  The most recent amendment of its promissory note in February 2005.  In the terms of the Board's report on cost of capital, it clearly meets the definition of embedded debt.

The rate on Hamilton Hydro's debt, and now Horizon's debt, has been 7 percent for the past eight years.  It has effectively been a fixed-term, non-callable note since 2002, subject to some housekeeping.

Horizon's most recent rebasing application was its 2006 rate application, and the Ontario Energy Board approved its 7 percent debt rate in the underlying note.  The OEB also approved Horizon's 2007 adjustment application and the 7 percent rate remained intact in rates.

The report was issued after the 2006 rate applications were disposed of.  Even if the Board had concerns about the treatment of affiliate debt in any of those applications, the Board still concluded that the previously approved debt rate would govern for affiliate debt.

Horizon has used the OEB-approved rate of 7 percent for long-term debt in its 2008 application and that approach fully complies with the Board's report on cost of capital and the Board's filing requirements for 2008 forward test year applications.

I should also point out that the 7 percent rate is applied to all of Hamilton Hydro's, and now Horizon Utilities' deemed debt since the initial unbundled rate order in 2001.

I will speak to the second issue, Hamilton Utilities' decisions with respect to its borrowings.

Hamilton Utilities Corporation issued a debenture to a non-affiliated third party -- or non-affiliated third parties in July of 2002.  That debenture bears an interest rate of six and a quarter percent, but with issuance costs typical in any transaction of this nature, the effective cost to Hamilton utilities is equivalent to an interest rate of 6.62 percent, not six and a quarter percent.

The proceeds of the debenture and cash were used at that time to retire all debt obligations of Hamilton Utilities Corporation to the city of Hamilton.

Hamilton Utilities undertook a refinancing of its debt obligations outside of Horizon considerations.  Its purpose was to create corporate liquidity with third parties, to permit it to engage in other strategic investment opportunities at that time, such as water and waste water.  It had ambition for large co-gen projects and other similar energy related projects, was looking to create a name in the market, and this is what precipitated this initial and small issuance.

Hamilton Utilities Corporation operates completely independently of Horizon, and Horizon complies with the Affiliate Relationships Code, including with respect to the requirement for independent directors.

I am not aware of any restriction on the ability of Hamilton Utilities as an OBCA company to monetize the debt owed to it by Horizon, and there has never been such an option to Horizon to do that since the note was originally issued in July of 2000.

Horizon is only one of many distributors that have issued promissory notes to their corporate payments, and any of those parents would be permitted to borrow money in their own rights.

As a final comment, I wish to refer to the most recent rate decision of the Board with respect to Oshawa PUC Inc., where as suggested by School Energy Coalition, the Board was guided by its cost of capital report in rendering its decision on the appropriate cost of capital for Oshawa.

Clearly, the Board has applied its filing requirements and underlying policies in determining an appropriate cost of capital, which is the basis upon which Horizon has filed for such in its own rate application.  As such, and on the clear basis that its present note represents embedded debt, Horizon expects the 7 percent rate to be approved.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Mr. Basilio.

Mr. Chair, the panel is available for cross-examination.  Perhaps I could have Ms. Lerette and Mr. Brown dismissed, though.

MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chair, I have about 45 minutes.  How would you like me to proceed here?  I didn't expect to have 15 minutes of argument on why the Board's policy should apply.

MR. KAISER:  Well, why don't you start?  I guess we will have to come back in the morning.
Cross-examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  The promissory note you are referring to is the February 2005 one that is the current one in place, right?

MR. BASILIO:  That's the note that reflects the most recent amendments, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, your business plan says -- where is the business plan?  This is the one that we have been talking about at length earlier.  At Exhibit 4.3, 4-3, it says that in 2005 you paid down long-term borrowings to the tune of $29 million.

So --

MR. BASILIO:  2007?

MR. SHEPHERD:  2005.

MR. McKENZIE:  Which page, sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exhibit 4-3 of the business plan, which is A-1 to CCC.  You will see there:  "net change in long-term borrowings, $29 million."  It's negative.

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.  That refers to the repayment of the promissory note that St. Catharines Hydro Utility Services Inc. owed to its holding company, St. Catharines Hydro Inc., so it was the monetization of a promissory note paid down largely through cash balances.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so at that time, St. Catharines was allowed at the time of the merger or in the context of the merger, was allowed to pay down a debt.  Right?

MR. BASILIO:  That instrument at that time had a feature that allowed its parent to call the debt.  But in any event, there was -- it was a -- it was also a smart business move, because, you know, again, these balance sheets, from a corporate perspective, continue to be somewhat over-capitalized with cash.


So it just makes sense, to the extent you can, to pay down debt with cash.  So this was a good opportunity for St. Catharines to do that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And was that interest rate higher than 7 percent?


MR. BASILIO:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why didn't you pay down the 7 percent debt instead?


MR. BASILIO:  This was a condition of the merger, that St. Catharines had requested to be able to monetize its promissory note.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And why didn't you have a similar condition so that you could monetize some of your promissory note, which is you're paying 7 percent and market was 5.1 or 5.2?


MR. BASILIO:  Those provisions weren't available in the note owing from Horizon Utilities -- or from Hamilton Hydro Inc. to Hamilton Utilities Corporation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, let's just talk about, then.  You referred to the promissory note, and the promissory note is in --


MR. BASILIO:  Sorry.  St. Catharines Hydro Utilities Services' note, the interest rate on that note was 7-1/4 percent, which is higher.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  


All the various promissory notes are in Exhibit F; right?  You've got -- Exhibit F, tab 1, schedule 3, appendix A is the 2005 one; right?


MR. BASILIO:  So we're looking at the 2005 note?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.


MR. BASILIO:  Do you have that?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's F1-3-A.


MR. BASILIO:  So, looking at the -- let's see.  Yes, February 28th, 2005.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I just have one question about that.  This is the actual note.  This is a copy of the actual note; right?


MR. BASILIO:  This is the most recent note, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a copy of the actual note?


MR. BASILIO:  Copy of the actual note.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is the initial interest payment date January 30th, 2003?


MR. BASILIO:  Well, it is to reflect the fact that these terms were generally accepted at the time of HUC's debenture refinancing.  So that would have been the first interest payment date following that refinancing, which was in July of 2002.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How could you have an interest payment date that is prior to the date of the note?


MR. BASILIO:  It's to reflect the fact that these terms were in existence.  I mean, effectively, these things -- these terms had been applied.


As I mentioned in my evidence-in-chief, there was some housekeeping to bring the notes up to date with how they were being applied.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, if you move a little farther along in this document, you will see that schedule D to the promissory -- to that promissory note is in fact the promissory note dated July 18th, 2002.  It's page 14 of that document.


Do you see that?


MR. BASILIO:  The 18th day of July 2002?  Oh, sorry.  This one here?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's the promissory note that is being replaced; right?


MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if you just go to schedule A of that note.


MR. BASILIO:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There's a clause that says "permitted rate".


MR. BASILIO:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It says the rate in fact is not 7 percent.  When you said the rate was 7 percent, that was not actually correct.  The rate was a formula based on what the Board permitted.  So if the OEB said the permitted rate was 5 percent, then that's what Hamilton Utilities Corporation could charge; correct?


MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


So I wonder if you could show me where that is in the 2005 note?


MR. BASILIO:  The 7 percent rate?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, the interest rate adjustment clause, sir.


MR. BASILIO:  There is no interest rate adjustment clause.  It is fixed at 7 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you said there were non-substantive amendments, that wasn't true, was it?


MR. BASILIO:  It is true.  The rate has been 7 percent throughout that period.  We're simply bringing the note up to date with, in fact, what the rate has been since 2000.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't think that having an interest rate adjustment clause removed is substantive?


MR. BASILIO:  I think it is important to understand the purpose of the interest rate adjustment clause, and that is reflect the fact, as it did in many notes, that there was a fair bit of uncertainty in terms of energy policy at the time, cost of capital at the time, and certainly utilities' ability to recover sufficient return to pay the deemed rate of interest.


So this provided a little bit of flexibility through a period of which I think we -- you know, in light of Bill 210, and similar uncertainty throughout market opening.  Setting these instruments up is very complex, and when you have hard instruments, I guess the last thing we don't want to do is for utilities to find themselves unable to pay interest, you know, and unable to pay on debt obligations.


So for us, this was about recognizing some uncertainty and accommodating it.  But the intention in these instruments -- and the market rate at the time in 2000, the Energy Board set the rate at 7 percent because that was an appropriate rate for a long-term debt instrument.  


The intention of these notes from inception has been to deal with them as long-term notes, but I think we have to be mindful of the reality and to provide some accommodation in the notes.  There's a period of -- there was a fair bit of uncertainty at the time.


Now, in all practical terms, we erased that uncertainty in 2002 when Hamilton Utilities Corporation refinanced its debt.  We hard coated the 7 percent in all practical terms.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But the 2002 note doesn't have a fixed 7 percent rate, does it? 


MR. BASILIO:  No.  Well, it has -- for all practical purposes, we were applying this note at 7 percent.


The intention with respect -- again, the intention with respect to these notes has been to deal with them as long-term debt.  Certainly we completed our housekeeping in February of 2005.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I'm having a hard time understanding that.  You signed a document that said the note rate was variable.


So how can you now say under oath that it was fixed at 7 percent.  That is just not true, is it?


MR. BASILIO:  Well, I think you have to look beyond -- I think you have to look beyond the mere words and notes, and whatnot, and try to deal with some of the realities and the intentions underlying the note, because this has a significant impact on Horizon Utilities Corporation and Hamilton Utilities Corporation.  I mean --


MR. SHEPHERD:  And your ratepayers.


MR. BASILIO:  And our ratepayers.  I mean, this speaks to what is an appropriate cost of capital for the organization.  It has always been the intention to deal with these instruments as long-term instruments.


This is the appropriate way to finance the utility.  We can look on any balance sheet of a utility across Canada and we will see that they finance themselves with long-term instruments.  Why?  The nature of their cash flows and investments are long term.


To finance a utility on a short-term basis is irresponsible, because it doesn't reflect the nature of the cash flows and the duration of the investments.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I agree with you 100 percent.


MR. BASILIO:  So that has been -- so I think -- I think the important thing here and the important thing for the utility, and specially over the longer term, is to reflect the fact, what is an appropriate investment strategy, financing strategy, to draft notes to the extent possible that reflect a prudent approach to financing the utility, and proceed on that basis.


Now, beyond that -- and, again, in my evidence-in-chief, I think the Ontario Energy Board has adopted policy now in its cost of capital policy that recognizes all of that, and, again, we believe we're complying with the rules.  We believe we're complying with the spirit of what the Energy Board was trying to set up, and, at the end of the day, we think we're doing what is prudent for the utility.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The actual market rate as of February 28th, 2005 at which you could have borrowed this $116 million was 5.25 percent; correct?


MR. BASILIO:  We couldn't borrow the $116 million in 2005, because Horizon Utilities didn't have an option to pay down its note on February 5th, 2005.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's hypothesize that you had to go out and borrow on the market, because HUC said, You know what, we want our money back, thank you very much.  And you said, Okay, we will give you your money back, and we will go out and borrow in the market; rate, 5.25 percent.  Correct?


MR. BASILIO:  It's irrelevant, though.  If I was --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Answer the question, please.


MR. BASILIO:  For incremental borrowing requirements, it would have been -- it depends on how we borrowed, as well.  If we were putting in a ten-year fixed-term instrument on February 28th, 2005, an incremental instrument -- well, again, I mean, Horizon Utilities would have had to have undertaken a trust indenture.  I mean, it is a long process.


But, you know, generally speaking, assuming all else was in place, whatever the market rate is plus the appropriate premium, certainly at that time it would have been less than 7 percent.


Five-and-a-half percent, I think we provided that in response to one of the interrogatories.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What you said is that including issue costs, it would have been 5.26 percent if you had an A rating, which is what you expected you would have had at that time; right?


MR. BASILIO:  If I was issuing at the time or in a position to issue, and had requirement for incremental debt, yes.  I think the context is important.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  So the context is.  Toronto Hydro was in the same position, and they also decided that their shareholder was more important than the ratepayers.


MR. BASILIO:  Several differences between the Toronto Hydro -- 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excuse me.  


MR. BASILIO:  Yes.  Pardon me.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the Board decided that because they didn't take the opportunity to get a better rate, when they had the chance, they should be allowed to recover from the ratepayers what the market value was.


Now, you had the chance in 2005, did you not --


MR. BASILIO:  We did not have that chance, and I am happy to speak to the differences between the Toronto Hydro Energy circumstances and Horizon's.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me ask you this question.  

When Hamilton Utilities said to you:  We would like this interest rate adjustment clause removed, you could have said:  Well, no.  Right?

MR. BASILIO:  But what Hamilton Utilities Corporation was offering was an opportunity -- and again, with the intention that these were to be long-term notes, Hamilton Utilities Corporation presented an opportunity to Horizon to pay down $26 million on the debt, and also gave it access to liquidity that it didn't otherwise have at the time.

Horizon Utilities received value for that, was paying that rate at the time, and, again, that clause was inserted solely for the reason that the Board had not -- that it was felt, by us, that that 7 percent rate had some uncertainty to it with respect to instruments issued at the time.

That is the only reason that clause was placed in there.  If people thought that 7 percent would be hard-coded on 10-year instruments at that time, there would have been no adjustment clause in that promissory note.

MR. KAISER:  What do you say is the difference between your case and the Toronto case?

MR. BASILIO:  I think there is some context around Toronto as well, but I think there are several differences.

Firstly, Toronto Hydro Energy Electricity -- THESL,  had a direct obligation to the city, that had a call on it.

It reissued to Toronto Hydro Corporation in 2003.  At that time, there was a disposition and a reissuance.

Frankly, in 2003 if there was a disposition and reissuance, that's an opportunity to reprice a note.  So in 2003 that opportunity was available to Toronto Hydro Energy.

I mean I have read the case and I have read the Board's ruling on it.  There was a feeling that the city is dictating the terms of this note.  I also note there is some context around the Toronto case, and you know we watched it closely and were somewhat concerned.  They paid an unusual dividend.  There was a feeling about unjust enrichment of a shareholder.  I mean those obligations continue to point straight to the city.

And in addition, they almost suffered a liquidity event shortly after market opening.

Those are contexts that don't exist for Horizon Utilities.  It has never had a direct obligation to the city.  City doesn't dictate terms for Horizon Utilities Corporation, didn't dispose of and reissue a note, no disposition at law for tax or otherwise.  The intentions have always been a fixed-term note.

In fact, I mean subject to some housekeeping, again, but that was finally crystallized in February of 2005.  It was accepted by an arms-length party.

Now, you know in terms of procedure, I would like to deal with the substance of the transaction in addition to policy, because I would hate to hang my hat simply on procedure and rules.  But you know, getting to the rules for a minute, in that decision, Toronto Hydro could not rely on the 2006 rate handbook.  As I recall, from the decision -- and somebody please correct me if I am wrong –Toronto Hydro was a forward year test filer in 2006.  Horizon Utilities was not.

Its rate was approved in 2006 as a historical year test filer.  

We filed our application according to rules issued in November of 2006 that provided that, you know, the Board would be guided by its cost of capital report, which essentially provides that, you know, defines embedded -- I am sure all are familiar with this, but just to state it -- defines embedded debt as fixed-term debt, essentially.

It has been approved in prior rate applications.  This has been approved in two applications, you know, prior to this one.  So, you know, with respect to rules and guidelines and those sort of things, we believe we have followed the rules, but we believe the substance -- and Toronto's note that continues, this is a fixed-term note.  No option for principal repayment.

Toronto's note is an amortizing note.  It's to be paid off in equal instalments through to 2013, I believe, each -- somebody correct me if they have better information.  It is an amortizing note.  It is a note of shorter duration.  This note has duration that essentially, from the date it was issued is about ten to 12 years.  I mean that matches up with the 7 percent rate that was the market rate at the time for what I would say are notes with a duration between ten and 15 years issued around the 2000-2001 time period.

Even when Toronto Hydro settled the terms of its note in what I think was the fall of 2006; it did so with an amortizing note.  I mean that's not -- you know, it's not a five-year note.  Essentially it is a two and a half-year note, and that is how it would be priced in the market.

So I think, you know, from a corporate finance perspective, there are a lot of differences.  I think from a contextual perspective, there are a lot of differences here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This continues to be a back-to-back arrangement in which the -- through restrictive covenants, basically the downstream security is available to the upstream debenture holders?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, it's an unsecured note, so there is no security.  I can tell you the covenants are extremely light.  I mean 75 percent debt to cap test is about the only -- is about the only restriction.  There is no restriction that Horizon can't issue its own incremental debt.  You could go and do that tomorrow.

No restrictions on, you know, on structural subordination.  Horizon continues to have whatever flex -- financial flexibility it wishes to avail itself of.

The Hamilton Utilities Corporation does not dictate those terms, nor does the city of Hamilton.  It has two shareholders now.  It has had two shareholders since February of 2005, one shareholder that accepted the note in accepting a transaction.

And I can tell you, we had to demonstrate to St. Catharines Hydro Inc., irrespective of what is appropriate in rates, that in fact, that is an appropriate instrument for the new entity to assume.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I will come back to St. Catharines Hydro, but you said there is no negative pledge.  I am looking at the promissory note, and there, it says:  You can't issue secured debt unless you give them the security first.

MR. BASILIO:  And issue secured debt, but why would we issue secured debt?  Why would an entity like that ever issue -- but there are sufficient, there are sufficient permitted encumbrances within there that, frankly, allows it to issue a fair bit of secured debt.

And these terms would be identical to those that Horizon would attract on its own with a new indenture.  It would have negative pledge as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, it would be a secured debt.

MR. BASILIO:  No, it would not.  It would be unsecured debt.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you went out to the marketplace?

MR. BASILIO:  I would get unsecured debt, guarantee it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Not at 5.26 percent, you wouldn't.

MR. BASILIO:  Sure, I would, and we will do it.  In two years' time, we will have demonstrated we have done it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have referred several times to St. Catharines accepting this as fair market value, in effect. You're saying they thought it was fair market value.

MR. BASILIO:  It was an appropriate note, that's right, to assume.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That wasn't, then, factored into the price, was it?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, this wasn't an acquisition, this was a merger.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In the merger, you valued the two organizations and that's the terms on which you do the merger, right?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, that's right but that valuation was based on a 7 percent cost of capital, which was the cost of long-term capital as well.  So essentially, I mean, you know, it doesn't really have any -- it would not have had any effect on price.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, you reduced the value of Hamilton Hydro to reflect the fact that you had higher rate debt than the market, right?

MR. BASILIO:  No.  Again, values are relative.  When we would have valued those -- I think it is important to understand the process.  We would have valued those utilities based on, essentially -– and I think this just makes intuitive sense -- the ability to generate cash flow out of a utility is based on its rate base, and all of the underlying cost of capital and other assumptions.  Those assumptions are the exact same thing for the two utilities on a go-forward basis.

So it would have been indifferent, really.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you did a valuation memorandum when you did the transaction?

MR. BASILIO:  We did a full valuation, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you will file that?  So we can see whether 7 percent is factored into the valuation?

MR. BASILIO:  Again, I am just trying to understand the relevance of filing these documents.

MR. KAISER:  Help me, Mr. Shepherd, because I may 
not -– 

MR. SHEPHERD:  But --

MR. KAISER:  Let me just put my question to you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.

MR. KAISER:  If they file this valuation memorandum, how do you think that would help you determine whether there was some discount on the value because of this note?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The normal practice in transactions like this, as you know, Mr. Chairman, is that you look at the various attributes of the two merging parties and determine a fair way of comparing them.

If they have different levels -- different percentage rates on their fixed-term debt, that will affect their values.

So my friend has said a number of times:  Well, St. Catharines accepted this as being okay, but they accepted it because they got a better deal.

MR. KAISER:  I understand.  So you're looking for some kind of comment in this report that may reflect how they valued this note?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Can you produce that, Mr. Sidlofsky?


MR. BASILIO:  I would just like to add that the party we extracted this valuation from, CIBC World Markets, I mean, there are some pretty strong confidentiality provisions.


I don't think this is going to provide anything in addition.  I mean, if I am asked to produce it, obviously I have to produce it, but, I mean, how much is enough?


This...


MR. KAISER:  Well, I think we will accept it in confidence.  I don't think there is any question about that.


But Mr. Shepherd is trying to pursue a particular point and he thinks that -- I guess he has the right to be suspicious that this report may, in fact, demonstrate that the note had the effect of devaluing the valuation.  It will either be the case or won't be the case, but I guess we will find out.


MR. BASILIO:  Okay.  I need a number.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will --


MR. KAISER:  Yes, that is J1.13, I think -- no, 12.  Am I right?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thirteen.


MR. KAISER:  I this it is 13.

UNDERTAKING NO. JX1.13:  TO PROVIDE A COPY OF VALUATION MEMORANDUM FOR HAMILTON HYDRO/ST. CATHARINES HYDRO MERGER


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, that will have an X number, as well.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, this $116 million is only part of your debt; right?  Your actual deemed debt is about 240; is that right?


MR. BASILIO:  I think it was 208.  Do we have the rate base?  Do we have that schedule?


MR. McKENZIE:  Yes.


MR. BASILIO:  It is it 217.2, I think, or we filed -- 217.8.  The short-term component is 14-1/2; the deemed long-term component, 203.2 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that other $87 million, what rate are you borrowing that at right now?


MR. BASILIO:  Well, it is not being borrowed, of course.  We only have an instrument for $116 million.  The remainder is supported by shareholder investment.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you got authorization from your board last December to go do a -- get a new bank line at $50- to $75 million.  What's the rate on that?


MR. BASILIO:  We don't have that new line at this time.  We are going to undertake those refinancings at the time of the merger.  It is just better to go to market when you have -- you know, at a point of reasonable stability.  So we're in the middle of the transaction.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you haven't yet got a quote from your bank on that?


MR. BASILIO:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You haven't even talked to them about an interest rate?


MR. BASILIO:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How can you do the merger if you don't know what the interest rate is you are going to pay?


MR. BASILIO:  On a line, the interest rate will be prime plus the interest rate, plus or minus some amount that, you know, I think I have some idea of.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What do you think it is going to be?


MR. BASILIO:  That is obviously commercial information, what I negotiate with the bank.  I don't 

think --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you give us a range?


MR. BASILIO:  No, I would rather not at this time.  I mean, it is commercial information.


I think how I would like to respond is I think, I mean, where you're leading is, obviously:  What's an appropriate rate to charge on that debt?


I suppose we're talking about -- are we talking about the fixed-term component or the variable?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. BASILIO:  Fixed?


Well, it is interesting.  I mean, there really isn't any regulation or policy at this time that deals with phantom debt.  There is regulation that deals with embedded debt or policy, I suppose, or perhaps rules, but certainly a paper deals with embedded debt.  It deals with new debt.  So we have phantom -- this is phantom debt, I think.  You know, let's just coin it as that.  What is an appropriate rate?  Well --


MR. KAISER:  I don't understand why you call it phantom debt.


MR. BASILIO:  Well, it's not debt that exists at this point in time.  It is being supported by a shareholder, because the utility is under-capitalized with debt.  I mean, Horizon Utilities at this time doesn't have a deemed -- its actual capital structure isn't the same as its deemed structure, and there are a couple of reasons for that.


One is there not a lot of equity flexibility in the market, and therefore -- and, you know, I think rating agencies and creditors would agree it's probably prudent to maintain some flexibility there to deal with things like smart meters when they come along, because we can't procure equity easily if we've maxed out on our leverage.


So shareholders are supporting the difference.  It is not debt.  It is -- shareholders are supporting what phantom debt.  I mean, what we have issued is $116 million in debt.  But certainly there is some financing in place and shareholder financing.


So what's the appropriate amount?  What's the appropriate rate to charge on that?  Well, one view might be shareholders have left this in place for a couple of reasons.  One, it recognizes the equity and flexibility in the marketplace.  Two, it recognizes continuing uncertainty with respect to energy policy, and I think the most recent example of that is this massive investment we all have to make in smart meters.  It's huge.


So it makes sense to keep some aside.  Shareholders could have -- I mean, if shareholders had monetized that debt or had -- not monetized the debt, but if they had issued instruments so that their balance sheets mimic the deemed structure at the point they were incorporated, then they would have issued instruments that bear 7 percent, and, you know, rather than $116 million, it would be $207 million now.  They would be getting -- it would be an instrument now.  It would be 217 million or $203 million at 7 percent if they had issued long-term instruments, at the time, at the deemed rate of interest.


Shareholders have left that debt -- have left that amount of financing in place since inception to deal with these things.  There are still a lot of contingent risks, I think, in the sector, not a lot of equity flexibility and, from time to time, new investments.  We don't know what is coming next.


So, you know, we've filed based on 7 percent.  We think that is, you know, one approach.  I think there's some reasonable basis for that.


The other end of the continuum, if we could issue today, if we had to issue today, what would the rate be?


I think the Board's dealt with that, as far as new debt.  We haven't issued new debt.  I think the approach the Board has taken in other decisions - and, please, somebody correct me if I am wrong - is that to the extent that the deemed debt component exceeds the amount of actual issuance, they have applied the most recent rate approved by the Board on deemed debt, which I believe is 6.1 percent.


So I don't know.  Like, personally, as a CFO responsible for treasury, I have had a lot of experience in this field in prior lifetimes.  I will probably be recommending to my board to stay capitalized at a level that is underneath 60 percent for some period of time, because I am concerned about contingent risk and ongoing evolution energy policy.  I think there is still a long way to go.  


So it's somewhere in there, but I think -- you know, I think I have seen -- I think I saw a Board order in Oshawa, as well, 6.1.  I am not sure where Toronto is at.  I haven't gone fully through that decision.  


But it is sort of an unexplored area, I think, in regulation and policy at this point.  But, you know, 7, 6.1.


MR. KAISER:  How much more do you have, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I have about 20 minutes, and I know you are past five o'clock.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I could probably -- because it is follow-up, a couple of minutes.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. MacIntosh?  Board counsel have anything on this?


MS. COCHRANE:  Maybe a couple of minutes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I wonder if, before we break -- I would like to put two questions, because then they can think about them overnight, because there will be a wrangle about --


MR. KAISER:  I was about to say if there is anything you need some undertakings or you need some documents produced, let's do it before we break.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the two things I am going to ask for, and I think we may end up having a wrangle tomorrow morning, which is why I want to ask for them now, is if Mr. Basilio will file, in confidence, the number or the range of numbers that he thinks his bank will give to them for this new financing.


MR. KAISER:  This was on the line of credit he was referring to?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The line of credit.


MR. BASILIO:  That is just so speculative. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the second thing I am going to ask for is we had asked for an interrogatory for the HUC -- a copy of the HUC credit facility, so we can see what the terms of that are, because we know the HUC is basically just Horizon Utilities and a little bit of add-on.  


So we can -- we believe the Board can extrapolate from that whatever the HUC terms are will probably be comparable to what Horizon would get.  So we have asked for that and it has been refused in an interrogatory, and we are going to ask for it as an undertaking.


MR. BASILIO:  Could I ask just about relevance, because credit facilities are short-term financing facilities, and we are talking about long-term deemed debt.


So the appropriate facilities to be looking at, and, frankly, the most important one at this point if we were going to take a yardstick that seems to be evolving in decisions, is the, -- is what the Board has approved for long-term instruments now, 6.1 percent.  


So I can see how the credit facility might have relevance to, you know, determining the amount of -- as a benchmark against short-term unfunded debt, but for long-term debt I fail to see how a credit facility, the purpose of which is for short-term revolving debt, applies to a long-term deemed amount of debt.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I think we may have a debate about this tomorrow morning, so I don't care 
whether –-


MR. KAISER:  I think a lot of these things that are argument.  I am not suggesting you're right or wrong here in this, but I am just trying to move on.

You have this transaction off in the wings.  You will have a financing requirement.  If you have obtained a quote, with respect to a line of credit, let us have it.  If you haven't obtained a quote, well, then you don't have it and that is the end of the story.

On this other document, the HUC document, can you produce that in confidence?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, sir, we have –-


MR. BASILIO:  We were not asked for it in the interrogatories.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  No, sorry.  So there was a request for that intervention --

MR. BASILIO:  The HUC credit facility?  Okay.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  That will be in confidence, of course.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Could I deal with the short-term -- or the credit facility issue first, before the question about the HUC debenture?

MR. KAISER:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I make a suggestion, Mr. Chairman?  We may argue about this for 20 minutes.  Does it make sense to ask the company to bring these documents tomorrow?  We can wrangle about whether they should be put in place, and then, if they should be, we'll have them.

MR. KAISER:  Well, I haven't heard there is any objection to producing the HUC document in confidence.  Is there?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, sir, again, if I could just touch on the speculation about the range that the bank would allow, I think Mr. Basilio's answer is he hasn't gone to the bank.

MR. KAISER:  Well, is that the case?

MR. BASILIO:  I have not gone to the bank.  I don't have any quote.

MR. KAISER:  You don't have a quote?

MR. BASILIO:  No.

MR. KAISER:  All right, so that's the end of that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, Mr. Chairman, That's not what I asked for, though.

MR. KAISER:  What did you ask for?  He's not going to go out overnight and get a quote.

MR. SHEPHERD:  He thinks he knows what the number is, because he's in the process of planning a transaction, so on the record, he has already said he thinks he know what the number is.  All I am asking him to do is tell us what that --

MR. KAISER:  Why don't we do this?  You can tell him in the morning or now what you think the number is, but it's not a quote.  It is just what you think it might be, and we'll attach whatever weight we want to that.  I am not sure how helpful it is, but can we get back to the HUC document?  Can you produce that in confidence?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, if you just give me a second.

We did respond to that request in the -- Horizon responded to that request in the context of Schools, and I believe I our response, and I just want to make sure I am consistent with what I'm saying --

MR. KAISER:  Was "no".

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, the response was "no" so I know I can be consistent with that.  The reason was this was an independent -- it was an independent instrument, an independent transaction between HUC and a third party.

This doesn't involve the city of Hamilton.  This is third party borrowing from an outside institution.

As Mr. Basilio testified, HUC operates independently of Horizon.  Horizon has no control over that instrument.  It is not a situation like in other utilities where money is being paid, ultimately up to the municipal shareholder in a back-to-back relationship.

So Horizon has refused to provide that.  The reasons are clear in the responses to the Schools interrogatories.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reasons claimed, Mr. Chairman, are that it is competitive confidential.  And the company has admitted, in the same interrogatory response, that HUC and Horizon have a similar credit rating, and in fact, that Horizon's borrowing is all through HUC.

MR. KAISER:  I think in this circumstances, we would appreciate if you produce it in confidence.  You can make these arguments as to the weight and relevance of it later.  But we need to move on with this, and anything else you need for tomorrow, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, thank you.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  9:30.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Just for the sake of planning, could I assume that we would be finished by 10:15 or so tomorrow?  Is that the Board's sense?

MR. KAISER:  Well, I heard Mr. Shepherd say he had about another 20 minutes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro said two minutes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am going to see if I can catch Mr. Shepherd before he leaves and discuss with him what he might ask.

MR. KAISER:  Board Counsel, how long will you be?

MS. COCHRANE:  Two minutes.

MR. KAISER:  So I think your estimate is a good one.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, sir.

MR. KAISER:  It may take us an hour.  I'm sorry we can't finish it tonight, but --

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So are the Horizon people, I think.  I'm sorry.  

MR. BASILIO:  I just wanted to ask are all undertakings required for tomorrow morning?  Because it may take longer than that to produce --

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  No.  I think the Board and intervenors appreciate that it may take some time to --

MR. KAISER:  I think the only ones we would urge you to produce for tomorrow is any that relate to this current topic, so we can finish the examination on it, if Mr. Shepherd has questions.  I think some of the other things, we can presume you'll be content to get them later?  

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

MS. COCHRANE:  Mr. Chair, just a matter of procedure.  I don't know if we got an undertaking on the record for the last document, the HUC credit.

MR. KAISER:  You are quite right.  We did not.

MS. COCHRANE:  I believe that will be J1.14.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's an X.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  J1.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. JX1.14:  TO PROVIDE HUC DOCUMENT


MR. SHEPHERD:  Weren't there actually two?  Wasn't there also the number that he is expecting from the bank?

MR. KAISER:  He said he has no quote from the bank, but I guess he can give you on the record what he thinks it might be, if he were to ask, if that helps you.

MR. BASILIO:  I think it prejudices -- I mean if it is confidential, but it prejudices a negotiating position with lenders for me to be offering a range.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's why I would like it.

MR. BASILIO:  So --

MR. KAISER:  It will be confidential.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that would be J1.15?  

MR. KAISER:  What's the number?

MS. COCHRANE:  J1.15 (sic).
UNDERTAKING NO. JX1.15:  TO PROVIDE HUC DOCUMENT 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Sidlofsky will give you a piece of paper, you can scribble the answer on a piece of paper and it will become a confidential exhibit.  9:30 tomorrow.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, sir.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:13 p.m. 
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